# A systematic dissection of the catalytic and non-catalytic functions of TET1 at the interface of epigenetic regulation

Dissertation an der Fakultät für Biologie der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

> Paul Stolz München, 2023

Diese Dissertation wurde angefertigt unter der Leitung von Prof. Dr. Heinrich Leonhardt im Bereich Humanbiologie und BioImaging an der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München.

> Erstgutachter: Prof. Dr. Heinrich Leonhardt Zweitgutachter: Prof. Dr. Wolfgang Enard

Tag der Abgabe: 17.08.2022 Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 06.02.2023

#### Erklärung

Ich versichere hiermit an Eides statt, dass die vorgelegte Dissertation von mir selbstständig und ohne unerlaubte Hilfe angefertigt wurde.

Hiermit erkläre ich, dass die Dissertation nicht ganz oder in wesentlichen Teilen einer anderen Prüfungskommission vorgelegt worden ist und dass ich mich nicht anderweitig ohne Erfolg einer Doktorprüfung unterzogen habe.

München, den 17.08.2022

Paul Stolz

# **Table of Contents**

1. List of Publications	5
2. Summary	6
3. Introduction	8
3.1 Introduction into epigenetics	8
3.2 Epigenetics and chromatin	9
3.2.1. Organization of DNA	9
3.2.2. Histone variants and modifications	9
3.2.3. DNA modifications	10
3.2.4. RNA modifications	11
3.3. DNA methylation	12
3.3.1. DNA methyltransferases	12
3.3.2. UHRF1	14
3.3.3. DNA methylation during development	15
3.4. DNA demethylation	17
3.4.1. TET enzymes	17
3.4.2. TET enzymes during development	20
3.4.3. TET non-catalytic functions	22
3.5. Heterochromatin & retroviruses	23
3.5.1. Retroviruses and their classification	23
3.5.2. Silencing mechanisms of viruses	25
3.5.2.1. RNA based silencing	25
3.5.2.2. Epigenetic ERV silencing	27
3.6. RNA modifications in development and disease	28
3.6.1 METTL enzymes and other RNA modifiers	28
3.6.2. METTL enzymes in development and disease	29
3.7. Technological milestones	30
3.7.1. Next generation sequencing	30
3.7.2. CRISPR/Cas9	32
3.7.2.1. Brief history and basic principle	32
3.7.2.2. Epigenetic toolbox	33
3.7.2.3. Applications in development and disease	36
4. Results	38
4.1. Publication I: TET1 regulates gene expression and repression of endogen retroviruses independent of DNA demethylation	<b>ous</b> 38
4.2. Publication II: Critical Role of the UBL Domain in Stimulating the E3 Ubiqu Ligase Activity of UHRF1 toward Chromatin	<b>iitin</b> 38
4.3. Publication III: Recent evolution of a TET-controlled and DPPA3/STELLA- driven pathway of passive DNA demethylation in mammals	38
4.4. Publication IV: Distinct and stage-specific contributions of TET1 and TET2 stepwise cytosine oxidation in the transition from naive to primed pluripotenc	<b>2 to</b> ; <b>y</b> 39
4.5. Publication V: The rRNA m 6 A methyltransferase METTL5 is involved in pluripotency and developmental programs	39

4.6. Publication VI: METTL6 is a tRNA m3C methyltransferase that regulates pluripotency and tumor cell growth	39
5. Discussion	40
5.1. DNA methylation	40
5.1.1. UHRF1 and DNA methylation	40
5.2. DNA demethylation	43
5.2.1. TET enzymes - catalytic function	46
5.2.2. TET enzymes - non-catalytic function	49
5.2.3. TET1 and retroviral silencing	53
5.3. RNA methylation	57
5.3.1. METTL enzymes in development and disease	57
5.4. Crosstalk - Histones, DNA methylation and RNA modifications	59
6. Declaration of contributions as a co-author	62
7. Abbreviations	64
8. References	68

# **1. List of Publications**

**Stolz P**, Salazar Mantero A, Tvardovskiy A, Ugur E, Wange LE, Mulholland CB, Cheng Y, Wierer M, Enard W, Schneider R, Bartke T, Leonhardt H, Elsässer SJ, Bultmann S (**2022**). TET1 regulates gene expression and repression of endogenous retroviruses independent of DNA demethylation, **Nucleic Acids Research**, gkac642.

Foster BM, **Stolz P**, Mulholland CB, Montoya A, Kramer H, Bultmann S and Bartke T (**2018**). Critical Role of the UBL Domain in Stimulating the E3 Ubiquitin Ligase Activity of UHRF1 toward Chromatin. **Mol Cell**, 72, 739-752.e9.

Mulholland CB, Nishiyama A, Ryan J, Nakamura R, Yiğit M, Glück IM, Trummer C, Qin W, Bartoschek MD, Traube FR, Parsa E, Ugur E, Modic M, Acharya A, **Stolz P**, Ziegenhain C, Wierer M, Enard W, Carell T, Lamb DC, Takeda H, Nakanishi M, Bultmann S and Leonhardt H (**2020**). Recent evolution of a TET-controlled and DPPA3/STELLA-driven pathway of passive DNA demethylation in mammals. **Nat Commun.**, 11, 5972.

Mulholland CB, Traube FR, Ugur E, Parsa E, Eckl EM, Schönung M, Modic M, Bartoschek MD, **Stolz P**, Ryan J, Carell T, Leonhardt H and Bultmann S (**2020**). Distinct and stage-specific contributions of TET1 and TET2 to stepwise cytosine oxidation in the transition from naive to primed pluripotency. **Sci. Rep.**, 10, 12066.

Ignatova VV, **Stolz P**, Kaiser S, Gustafsson TH, Lastres PR, Sanz-Moreno A, Cho YL, Amarie OV, Aguilar-Pimentel A, Klein-Rodewald T, Calzada-Wack J, Becker L, Marschall S, Kraiger M, Garrett L, Seisenberger C, Hölter SM, Borland K, Van De Logt E, Jansen PWTC, Baltissen MP, Valenta M, Vermeulen M, Wurst W, Gailus-Durner V, Fuchs H, de Angelis MH, Rando OJ, Kellner SM, Bultmann S and Schneider R (**2020**). The rRNA m6A methyltransferase METTL5 is involved in pluripotency and developmental programs. **Genes Dev.**, 34, 715-729.

Ignatova VV, Kaiser S, Ho JSY, Bing X, **Stolz P**, Tan XY, Lee CL, Gay FPH, Lastres PR, Gerlini R, Rathkolb B, Aguilar-Pimentel A, Sanz-Moreno A, Klein-Rodewald T, Calzada-Wack J, Ibragimov E, Valenta M, Lukauskas S, Pavesi A, Marschall S, Leuchtenberger S, Fuchs H, Gailus-Durner V, de Angelis MH, Bultmann S, Rando OJ, Guccione E, Kellner SM and Schneider R (**2020**). METTL6 is a tRNA m3C methyltransferase that regulates pluripotency and tumor cell growth. **Sci Adv.**, 6, eaaz4551.

# 2. Summary

Mammalian DNA consists of millions of base pairs. To fit the DNA into the nucleus of a cell the DNA is condensed into chromosomes. The DNA is wrapped around an histone octamer forming nucleosomes which are the basis of chromatin. Chromatin is the physiological form of DNA and altered by various epigenetic mechanisms, such as DNA methylation, histone modifications and RNA modifications. During development epigenetic mechanisms drive lineage choices and cell identity. In this doctoral work we used next generation sequencing and CRISPR/Cas9 genome engineering to study different epigenetic mechanisms in mESCs. The main focus was to study the noncatalytic functions of the DNA demethylase TET1. I have found that TET1 is involved in heterochromatin formation and retroviral silencing independent of DNA demethylation (Publication I). In the scope of this doctoral work I contributed to other projects with the focus on epigenetic proteins in mESCs. First, description of the role of the UBL domain of UHRF1 in the interplay with DNMT1 and DNA maintenance methylation (Publication II). Second, identification of DPPA3 as a regulator of UHRF1 and critical for global DNA demethylation (Publication III). Third, discovery of TET1 and TET2 stage-specific roles in DNA demethylation during early embryonic development (Publication IV). Last, in the scope of this doctoral work I contributed to study the role and function of the novel RNA methyltransferases METTL5 and METTL6 in the field of epitranscriptomics. METTL5 was found to be a specific ribosomal RNA methyltransferase critical for pluripotency and differentiation (Publication V). METTL6 was discovered as a transfer RNA methyltransferase involved in cancer (Publication VI). In summary, this doctoral work investigated and described novel non-catalytic mechanisms of TET1 and studied various epigenetic modifiers and mechanisms at different epigenetic levels.



**Figure 1. Graphical Summary.** In eukaryotic cells, the DNA is wrapped around histones to form nucleosomes, which are the basis of chromatin and build the framework of transcriptional control. Chromatin can be regulated by various epigenetic mechanisms, like DNA and RNA methylation. Both are key epigenetic mechanisms and regulate multiple processes in a cell. In the scope of this doctoral work, functions and mechanisms of DNA and RNA methylation were investigated at different levels of chromatin regulation. TET1 mediates heterochromatin silencing independent of DNA demethylation (Publication I). UBL and RING domain of UHRF1 regulate the ubiquitination activity and therefore DNMT1 activity (Publication II). DPPA3 controls a pathway of passive global DNA demethylation (Publication III). TET1 and TET2 act distinctly and stage specific during stepwise DNA oxidation (Publication IV). The rRNA m<sup>6</sup>A methyltransferase METTL5 regulates pluripotency and differentiation (Publication V). METTL6 is a m3C tRNA methyltransferase regulating pluripotency and tumor formation (Publication VI).

# 3. Introduction

## 3.1 Introduction into epigenetics

Already in the late 19th century, nuclear structures were described by Walther Flemming using microscopy. Thereby he coined the terms chromatin and chromosome, setting the foundation of the epigenetic field (Flemming, 1882). Remarkably, around the same time also histone proteins were discovered and described to associate with deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) (Kossel, 1884). Following studies demonstrated that chromosomes are the carrier of genetic material (Morgan, 1911; Sturtevant, 1913) and work in maize and fruit flies provided the first important hints on non-mendelian inheritance (McCLINTOCK, 1951; Muller and Altenburg, 1930). Yet, it remained unclear how the information is transferred during cell division and how the developmental program is defined. While knowing very little about the mechanism, Conrad Hal Waddington in 1942 coined the term "epigenetics" and later also the term "epigenetic landscape" to describe phenotypic changes that are independent of genetic inheritance (Waddington, 1957, 2012). In sum, leading to the key question of the epigenetic field: How can a single fertilized egg give rise to a complex multicellular organism?

Today, epigenetic mechanisms are defined to influence gene function in a hertible fashion without altering the DNA sequence. Different epigenetic mechanisms can form chromatin, the physiological form of genetic information, to assist the DNA template and maintain or alter gene expression profiles. This way epigenetic mechanisms shape the identity of a cell. The building blocks of epigenetic mechanisms are histone variants, posttranslational modifications of amino acids (aa) of histone tails and covalent DNA modifications. Recently, also post-transcriptional modifications of ribonucleic acids (RNAs) are considered as "RNA epigenetics" or "epitranscriptomics" (He, 2010; Meyer and Jaffrey, 2014; Wiener and Schwartz, 2021).

Since Waddington introduced the term epigenetics 70 years ago, the field developed tremendously. Technology advances as next-generation sequencing (NGS) and genome engineering approaches like Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats (CRISPR)-Cas allowed to profile the epigenome and to identify epigenetic reader, writer and eraser proteins. These proteins and epigenetic mechanisms have multiple critical roles in genome stability, cellular identity and in

development and disease throughout the animal kingdom. Only a detailed understanding of these epigenetic mechanisms will allow the development of new drugs and medicine to treat diseases.

## 3.2 Epigenetics and chromatin

## 3.2.1. Organization of DNA

In eukaryotes the DNA is compacted into chromatin. More precisely, the DNA of a single human cell entails around 3 billion base pairs (bp) and is organized in 23 pairs of chromosomes. To fit into the nucleus the approximately 2 m of double stranded DNA are tightly packed and organized in nucleosomes. The nucleosome core consists of 147 bp DNA wrapped around a histone octamer (Kornberg and Lorch, 1999; Luger et al., 1997; Richmond and Davey, 2003). Nucleosomes can be tightly placed together or arranged with greater distance to each other, which determines the accessibility of DNA. This organization of nucleosomes, also referred to as "arrays of nucleosomes" are the basic element of a chromatin structure and can form a chromatin fiber, which can condense to multiple higher order chromatin structures up to chromosomes (Luger and Hansen, 2005; Olins and Olins, 1974; Oudet et al., 1975; Woodcock et al., 1976). The most frequent state of chromatin is heterochromatin which is a condensed form of chromatin that is associated with transcriptionally inactive DNA. Heterochromatin marks repetitive regions and is known to be important for viral silencing. Accessible and transcriptionally active DNA regions on the contrary are called euchromatin and are mostly found at gene rich regions. All chromatin structures are shaped and maintained by different chromatin remodelers, transcription factors and epigenetic modifiers, like histone, DNA and RNA modifying enzymes.

#### 3.2.2. Histone variants and modifications

Histones are fundamental proteins to build and alter chromatin structures. The four core histones are H3, H4, H2A and H2B and are highly conserved among eukaryotes. Two dimers of H2A-H2B and an H3-H4 tetramer represent the center of a nucleosome. In addition, in many eukaryotes linker Histone H1 is critical to form higher order chromatin structures (Allan et al., 1981; Fan et al., 2005; Geeven et al., 2015). Histone H1 binds and protects free linker DNA in between individual nucleosomes (Brockers

and Schneider, 2019). Histone proteins diversify into different variants, sometimes with only a few bp altered, but harboring individual functions. For example, H2A.X is involved in double-strand break (DSB) repair (Morrison and Shen, 2005), whereas H2A.Z seems to counteract heterochromatin silencing (Draker and Cheung, 2009). Another example is the H3 variant Centromere Protein A (CENP-A), which replaces canonical H3 specifically at centromeric chromatin (Palmer et al., 1991). Chromatin is not only altered by introducing different variants of histones, but histones are also decorated with post-translational modifications (PTMs) at their N-terminal tails or global core domains. The most common histone PTMs are methylation, acetylation, phosphorylation and ubiquitylation and can occur at different aa residues. Yet, even today new histone PTMs are constantly discovered, e.g. serotonylation and dopaminylation (Farrelly et al., 2019; Lepack et al., 2020). Every histone PTM is suggested to have an individual function (Jenuwein and Allis, 2001; Strahl and Allis, 2000). The interplay of histone writer, reader and eraser proteins, can shape the structure of chromatin and hence modify the activity of the underlying gene sequence. Of note, while the activity of a DNA sequence can be influenced by histones and their modifications, DNA modifications can in turn also influence the histones landscape.

#### 3.2.3. DNA modifications

In 1948, the first chemically modified DNA base was detected in higher organisms using paper chromatography (Hotchkiss, 1948). Today, around 40 verified DNA modifications have been detected throughout the animal kingdom (Sood et al., 2019). The majority is associated with DNA damage and DNA repair pathways, but harbor the potential for additional biological functions and implications (Ito and Kuraoka, 2015; Zhu et al., 2018b). Especially, 5-methylcytosine (5mC), 5-hydroxymethylcytosine (5hmC), 5-formylcytosine (5fC), 5-carboxylcytosine (5caC), 5-hydroxymethyluracil (5hmU) and N6-methyladenine (6mA) are known for their biological significance (Zhu et al., 2018b). The most prominent DNA modification is 5mC, which was already connected to gene regulation and development in the 1970's (Holliday and Pugh, 1975). DNA modifications are known to interact with histone modifications and vice versa. In addition, DNA modifications influence genome stability, facilitate protein-DNA interactions, regulate DNA accessibility and gene expression. Similar to histone modifications, DNA modifications are installed by an interplay of writer, reader and

eraser proteins. In mammalian development DNA modifications undergo waves of remodeling and can shape chromatin structures. The predominant covalent DNA modification in mammals is 5mC, which is heavily remodeled during embryonic development and 5mC deficiencies are a hallmark of many diseases (Robertson, 2005).

#### 3.2.4. RNA modifications

Not only DNA and histones are known to carry various modifications, but also modified RNA molecules were discovered in 1960 (Cohn, 1960). Until today more than 150 RNA modifications were identified in bacteria, eukaryotes and archaea (Boccaletto et al., 2022). Various modifications are decorating coding messenger RNA (mRNA) as well as non-coding RNAs, like transfer RNA (tRNA) and ribosomal RNA (rRNA) (Cantara et al., 2011; Höfer and Jäschke, 2018; Machnicka et al., 2013). This creates a great level of complexity in untangling the role and function of individual RNA modifications. However, in the last decade the field of "RNA epigenetics" or "epitranscriptomics" increased our understanding of individual RNA modifications and their cellular function rapidly (Schwartz, 2016). The most abundant mRNA modification is N6-methyladenosine (m<sup>6</sup>A), which was detected in yeast, *Drosophila*, plants and mammals to affect folding, stability and degradation (Clancy, 2002; Frye et al., 2018; Levis and Penman, 1978; Nichols, 1979; Wei et al., 1975). tRNAs display the greatest diversity (>100) and amount of modified nucleotides among the different RNA classes. In humans single tRNAs can carry in between 11-13 different RNA modifications which can all affect translation (Jackman and Alfonzo, 2013). In comparison, rRNA only harbors a limited set of RNA modifications, but with relatively high abundance and important function for the ribosome (Sloan et al., 2017). rRNA modifications stabilize functional rRNA structures of the ribosome and are critical for high fidelity protein synthesis (Anderson et al., 2011; Polikanov et al., 2015). In summary, the various RNA modifications can impact multiple cellular functions on different levels, for example protein stability and folding, gene expression, splicing, localization and translation initiation (Decatur and Fournier, 2002; Pan, 2018; Roundtree et al., 2017).

## 3.3. DNA methylation

#### 3.3.1. DNA methyltransferases

In mammals DNA methylation occurs predominantly at the 5th carbon of cytosine (5mC) and at much lower frequency also at adenine and guanine (Alderman and Xiao, 2019; Greenberg and Bourc'his, 2019) (Figure 2a). The first DNA methyltransferase to be purified and cloned was DNA methyltransferase 1 (DNMT1), which associates with the replication fork and maintains the methylation pattern during replication (Goll and Bestor, 2005a; Leonhardt et al., 1992a). Therefore, DNMT1 is historically perceived as the maintenance methyltransferase (Goll and Bestor, 2005a) (Figure 2a). Only recently, DNMT1 was shown to also have de novo methylation activity at intracisternal A particles (IAP) retrotransposons (Haggerty et al., 2021). The major de novo methyltransferases however are DNMT3A and DNMT3B (Figure 2a), which are crucial for DNA methylation remodeling during early mammalian development (Okano et al., 1998, 1999). Both *de novo* methyltransferases have an autoinhibitory domain and upon binding of unmethylated H3K4 become activated for de novo DNA methylation (Guo et al., 2015; Ooi et al., 2007; Otani et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2010). In addition to the three major DNMTs, mammals express one catalytically dead DNA methyltransferase (DNMT3L), which facilitates *de novo* methylation in the germline, mouse embryonic stem cells (mESCs) and the early embryo (Bourc'his et al., 2001a; Hata et al., 2002; Ooi et al., 2007). Of note, in rodents DNMT3C evolved from a duplication of DNMT3B and methylates retrotransposons in the male germ line (Barau et al., 2016).

While in vertebrates 5mC is present in the whole genome, non-vertebrates exhibit 5mC only at certain genomic elements (Suzuki and Bird, 2008). Most eukaryotes carry methylated cytosine, some prominent exceptions are model organisms like *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, *Drosophila melanogaster* and *Caenorhabditis elegans*, who lack DNA methylation (Goll and Bestor, 2005b; Rae and Steele, 1979; Simpson et al., 1986a). This genome-wide absence of 5mC highlights that DNA methylation is not essential to every organism. In mammals, however DNA methylation is crucial for imprinting, X inactivation and silencing of repeat elements (Greenberg and Bourc'his, 2019; Schübeler, 2015) and the loss of DNMTs causes developmental defects or embryonic lethality (Bourc'his et al., 2001b; Damelin and Bestor, 2007; Li et al., 1992; Okano et al., 1999; Takebayashi et al., 2007).



Figure 2. DNA methylation and UHRF1. a) In mammals, methylation occurs only at the 5th carbon of cytosine, converting unmodified cytosine to 5-methylcytosine. DNMT3A and DNMT3B are responsible for de novo methylation and DNMT1 for maintenance methylation. b) Functional description of the mouse UHRF1 domains. Ubiquitin-Like domain (UBL); Tandem Tudor Domain (TTD); Plant Homeodomain (PHD); SET and Ring-Associated domain (SRA); Really Interesting New Gene domain (RING) with E3 ligase activity.

a)

#### 3.3.2. UHRF1

The process of DNA methylation maintenance during replication is very complex and is enabled through an interplay of different factors. For example, various posttranslational modifications of DNMT1 can regulate its enzymatic activity and protein stability (Du et al., 2010; Estève et al., 2009, 2011; Leng et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2019). In addition, a critical regulator of DNMT1 activity at the replication fork is the multidomain protein Ubiquitin Like With PHD And Ring Finger Domains 1 (UHRF1). UHRF1 can recruit DNMT1 to ubiquitinated H3 tails and induce the methylation of the daughter DNA strand during replication (Petryk et al., 2021). In detail, the E3 ubiquitin ligase UHRF1 consists of its Ubiguitin-like (UBL) domain, the Tandem Tudor Domain (TTD), the Plant Homeo Domain (PHD) and the SET and RING finger-associated (SRA) domain (Figure 2b). The different domains of UHRF1 harbor individual and collaborative functions in mediating DNA and protein binding. The SRA domain predominantly binds hemimethylated DNA, but also methylated or unmethylated DNA, albeit with lower affinity (Bostick et al., 2007; Schneider et al., 2020; Sharif et al., 2007). The TTD and PHD cooperate to bind H3K9me2/me3 (Arita et al., 2012a; Rothbart et al., 2013). Of note, the cooperative binding of hemimethylated DNA and methylated H3K9 is required for DNA methylation maintenance (Liu et al., 2013). Furthermore, the PHD and TTD also harbor individual functions. The PHD can bind a specific peptide sequence at the amino-terminus (N-terminus) of H3 and also a very similar peptide sequence of the PCNA-associated factor 15 (PAF15). During replication UHRF1 ubiquitinates both H3 and PAF15, which is essential for DNMT1 recruitment (Nishiyama et al., 2020). However, it remains unknown how UHRF1 ubiquitinates H3 and as part of this doctoral work we addressed this question (Publication II). The TTD can bind two linker regions within UHRF1 or the methylated histone mimic DNA Ligase 1 (LIG1) (Figure 2b). While the intramolecular interaction inhibits UHRF1 recruitment, the methylation of LIG1 promotes the recruitment of UHRF1 to the replication fork (Ferry et al., 2017). Importantly, the multilayered function and regulation of UHRF1 must be tightly controlled to ensure DNA methylation maintenance. In this context, UHRF1 stability and/or activity is additionally regulated by post-translational modifications (Kori et al., 2020; Ma et al., 2012; Yang et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2016a, 2019). An intriguing but not fully understood question is how the DNMT1-UHRF1 machinery contributes to changes in DNA methylation levels at different stages during development. In primordial germ cells (PGCs), UHRF1 is not expressed and DNMT1 is not recruited to the replication fork, suggesting that the lack of maintenance methylation also contributes to DNA demethylation (Ohno et al., 2013). In oocytes, DNMT1 and UHRF1 are expressed and even have *de novo* methylation activity (Li et al., 2018; Maenohara et al., 2017). Intriguingly, the activity of DNMT1-UHRF1 in oocytes is controlled by Developmental pluripotency-associated protein 3 (DPPA3) via disrupting UHRF1 accumulation in the nucleus and facilitating nuclear export (Li et al., 2018). This brings up the question whether DPPA3 controls UHRF1 mediated hypomethylation also at other stages during development, like in naive mESCs (Graf et al., 2017; von Meyenn et al., 2016). As part of this doctoral work, I contributed to investigate the role of the UBL domain of UHRF1 during replication (Publication II) and the mechanisms of DPPA3 in regulating UHRF1 in naive mESCs and in ESCs of different species (Publication III).

#### 3.3.3. DNA methylation during development

How a complex organism arises from a single fertilized cell, is one of the most fascinating questions in biology. To answer this question, it is critical to understand the basic mechanisms and processes occurring during embryonic development. In mammalian development epigenetic modifiers play a crucial role, documented by the mouse embryonic lethal phenotypes of DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs) (Li et al., 1992; Okano et al., 1999), ten-eleven translocation (TET) enzymes (Dawlaty et al., 2014; Khoueiry et al., 2017), polycomb repressive complex 2 (PRC2) (O'Carroll et al., 2001; Pasini et al., 2004; Shen et al., 2008) and histone methyltransferases (HMTs) (Bilodeau et al., 2009; Dodge et al., 2004; Tachibana, 2002; Tachibana et al., 2005). During the early development of mammals, pluripotent stem cells transition into the progenitor of a whole organism and it is critical to understand how the different epigenetic mechanisms are driving lineage choices in development. Importantly, DNA methylation dynamics are a hallmark of embryonic development and are represented by two epigenetic remodeling events and a *de novo* methylation wave in mammals.

The two remodeling events are characterized by an erasure of DNA methylation and occur at fertilization and upon PGC arrival in the gonads (Eckersley-Maslin et al., 2018) (Figure 3). In mice, X inactivation becomes initiated and completed during the transition to the zygote. From the zygote stage on, the mouse embryo undergoes

genome-wide DNA demethylation until reaching the morula stage to restore totipotency and perhaps to erase epimutations (Skvortsova et al., 2018). The second epigenetic remodeling event occurs between embryonic day 10.5 (E10.5) and E13.5 when PGCs colonize the gonads (Seisenberger et al., 2012) (Figure 3). The wave of DNA demethylation in PGCs is important to erase and restore imprints, so that later they can be established according to the sex of the germline (Smallwood et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2014a). Notably, the genome-wide DNA demethylation in PGCs seems to be absent in non-mammalian species (Macleod et al., 1999). Yet, a recent study suggests that in zebrafish embryos DNA methylation is maintained at CpG rich adult enhancers to avoid premature activation of lineage choices (Wu et al.).



**Figure 3. DNA methylation dynamics during mouse embryonic development.** The fertilized zygote undergoes active and passive DNA demethylation until reaching the lowest point of DNA methylation levels at the morula stage. After blastocyst implantation the embryo gains DNA methylation until reaching a plateau in differentiated somatic cells. In contrast, primordial germ cells (PGCs) undergo a wave of DNA demethylation from E10.5 until E13.5.

Upon implantation the inner cell mass (ICM) of the blastocyst starts to undergo a wave of *de novo* DNA methylation (Borgel et al., 2010; Kafri et al., 1992; Smith et al., 2012)

(Figure 3). This marks the first differentiation event in the early embryo and is crucial for maintaining lineage stability and identity of embryonic and extraembryonic tissues. As an exception, the progenitors of the placenta, the trophoblast stem cells remain hypomethylated (Santos et al., 2002). Interestingly, in plants the endosperm also remains hypomethylated in contrast to the plant embryo (Hsieh et al., 2009), pointing towards a distinct and conserved mechanism across plants and animals. A popular system to study DNA methylation and other epigenetic mechanisms are mESCs, which cultured *in vitro* reassemble the ICM of the blastocyst and can be differentiated into various developmental stages of embryonic development. In addition, mESCs are convenient to manipulate using CRISPR-Cas and represent a well established system to study the function of the different epigenetic modifiers, as utilized in this doctoral work (Publication I - VI).

# 3.4. DNA demethylation

### 3.4.1. TET enzymes

While the role and function of DNA methylation has been intensively studied, the knowledge about DNA demethylation remained rudimentary for a long time. In 2009, TET proteins were identified as 2-oxoglutarate (2OG)- and Fe(II)-dependent enzymes, catalyzing the conversion of 5mC to 5hmC (Ito et al., 2010; Tahiliani et al., 2009). Originally, TET1 was discovered as a fusion partner of the mixed lineage leukemia (MLL) gene in acute myeloid leukemia associated with a specific translocation between chromosome 10 and 11 (Lorsbach et al., 2003; Ono et al., 2002). Subsequent studies found that TET enzymes can successively catalyze the oxidation of 5mC to 5hmC, 5fC and 5caC (He et al., 2011; Ito et al., 2011; Pfaffeneder et al., 2011). Those new cytosine derivatives have individual biological functions (Hashimoto et al., 2014; Mellén et al., 2012; Pastor et al., 2011; Raiber et al., 2015; Spruijt et al., 2013) and on the other hand can serve as an intermediate for active DNA demethylation via Thymine DNA glycosylase (TDG) and the base excision repair (BER) pathway (He et al., 2011; Maiti and Drohat, 2011) (Figure 4a). The finding of active DNA demethylation via TET enzymes revolutionized the view on DNA methylation, which was long perceived as a stable repressive mark.

In plants active DNA demethylation is mediated by repressor of silencing 1 (ROS1) and ROS1-like 5mC DNA glycosylases (DME2 and 3) (Zhu, 2009). In mammals, DNA

demethylation can be achieved actively via TET enzymes and passively by diluting 5mC during replication. Mammals harbor three TET proteins, TET1, TET2 and TET3 (Figure 4b). Their orthologues can be found throughout metazoans and homologous domains also exist in fungi and algae (Tahiliani et al., 2009). The three TET proteins are iron(II)/ $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate (Fe(II)/ $\alpha$ -KG)-dependent dioxygenases. They harbor a conserved catalytic domain at the carboxyl terminus which is composed of a double-stranded  $\beta$ -helix (DSBH) domain and a cysteine-rich domain. The DSBH contains the metal-binding residues typical for the family of Fe(II)/ $\alpha$ -KG- dependent oxygenases, which are crucial for the hydroxylation process (Loenarz and Schofield, 2011). In contrast to the catalytic domain, the N-terminus is not conserved among the three TET proteins (Figure 4b). In vertebrates, the N-terminus of TET1 and TET3 possess a CXXC domain, whereas TET2 is lacking this part. During evolution a chromosomal inversion split the *Tet2* gene into two parts, the CXXC and the catalytic domain. The part of the *Tet2* gene encoding the CXXC domain encodes for the gene *IDAX4*, which interacts with and mediates the activity of TET2 (Ko et al., 2013).



**Figure 4. The TET family and TET1 catalytic and non-catalytic functions.** a) DNA methyltransferase enzymes (DNMTs) install 5-methylcytosine (5mC). The family of TET enzymes promotes active DNA demethylation by successive oxidation of 5mC to 5-hydroxymethylcytosine (5hmC), 5-formylcytosine (5fC) and 5-carboxylcytosine (5caC). The latter two can be excised and replaced with unmodified Cytosine (C) by

TET1

TET1

TDG and the base excision repair (BER) pathway. b) Schematic representation of the three mouse TET enzymes. The catalytic domain comprises a cysteine (Cys)-rich region and a double-stranded beta helix (DSBH) domain. The N-terminus of TET1 and TET3 harbors a CXXC zinc finger domain. Numbers indicate amino acids (aa). c) Representation of catalytic and potential non-catalytic functions of TET1 in mESCs. TET1 oxidizes 5mC to 5hmC, 5fC and 5caC mainly at promoters and enhancers. Besides its catalytic functions TET1 associates with multiple chromatin modifiers, like PRC2, MOF, OGT, MBD1 and SIN3A/HDAC. These complexes establish different chromatin marks like histone methylation, acetylation and glycosylation. TET1 might interact at different levels with the chromatin modifying proteins, e.g. recruitment to certain loci, mediating complex formation or inhibition.

#### 3.4.2. TET enzymes during development

In vertebrates, DNA demethylation activity of TET enzymes at thousands of enhancers is crucial for body plan formation and organ development (Bogdanović et al., 2016). The three TET proteins are expressed during different stages of the embryonic development. TET1 is most abundant in primordial germ cells and the ICM of the blastocyst. Interestingly, TET proteins exist in different isoforms in mammalian development. In mESCs and PGCs, TET1 is expressed in its full form whereas in somatic cells TET1 is expressed lacking the N-terminus (Zhang et al., 2016b). TET3 is the only TET enzyme highly expressed in the zygote. In general, TET3 exists in three different isoforms, from which two variants, short TET3 (TET3s) and oocyte TET3 (TET30), are lacking the CXXC domain. The full-length form of TET3 and TET3s, are expressed during neuronal differentiation, whereas TET30 is specifically expressed in oocytes (Jin et al., 2016). In the paternal pronucleus TET3 is crucial for the oxidation of 5mC (Gu et al., 2011; Wossidlo et al., 2011), while the maternal pronucleus exhibits much less oxidation derivatives of 5mC (Inoue et al., 2011; Igbal et al., 2011; Wossidlo et al., 2011). In the maternal pronucleus, two DPPA3 mediated mechanisms can protect 5mC from oxidation. First, DPPA3 was shown to inhibit TET3 binding to H3K9me2 (Nakamura et al., 2012) and second, DPPA3 was suggested to inhibit the catalytic activity of TET3 (Bian and Yu, 2014). The loss of TET3 leads to embryonic defects (Gu et al., 2011) or neonatal sub-lethality (Inoue et al., 2015; Tsukada et al., 2015). However, it remains unclear if these defects are caused by reduced TET3 levels due to haploinsufficiency or the lack of TET3 mediated 5mC

oxidation (Inoue et al., 2015). In summary, the question about the important function of TET3 in preimplantation development remains elusive.

TET3 and TET1 were both reported to have important neural functions (Rudenko et al., 2013; Yu et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2013; Zhu et al., 2016). In the brain, 5hmC, 5fC and 5caC were all found at relatively high levels (Ito et al., 2011; Kriaucionis and Heintz, 2009; Münzel et al., 2010) suggesting that the activity of TET enzymes could have critical implications for the adult brain. However, it is difficult to assign the neural defects caused by the loss of TET1 or TET3 to catalytic or non-catalytic activities (Kaas et al., 2013; Wu and Zhang, 2017). Future studies will be necessary to dissect the catalytic and non-catalytic role of TET1 and TET3 in neural function.

TET2 is expressed at the blastocyst stage and during PGC development. At both developmental stages TET1 is also expressed, yet TET2 and TET1 seem to have distinct functions (Huang et al., 2014) (Publication IV). While TET1 preferentially binds promoters in mESCs, TET2 targets gene bodies and enhancers (Hon et al., 2014; Huang et al., 2014). Here, TET2 maintains low methylation levels to keep enhancers and genes active for differentiation (Hon et al., 2014).

Whether TET enzymes are essential for mammalian development in the end is subject of controversial discussions. Different studies suggest that the loss of TET1 or TET2 does not trigger abnormalities in growth or lethality (Dawlaty et al., 2011; Li et al., 2011; Moran-Crusio et al., 2011). In contrast, TET triple knockout (TKO) mice are impared in embryonic development (Dawlaty et al., 2014). E7.5 TET TKO embryos show gastrulation defects caused by abnormal DNA methylation, directly deregulating Lefty-Nodal signaling (Dai et al., 2016).

These findings imply that TET1 and TET2 are non-essential for embryonic development, whereas the loss of TET3 causes severe embryonic defects (Gu et al., 2011). However, in 2017 the Koh lab reported post-implantation lethality of non-inbred homozygous TET1 KO mice (Khoueiry et al., 2017). Khoueiry et al. claimed that other studies worked with a mouse model expressing a hypomorphic deletion of TET1, which lacks the catalytic domain, but still expresses part of the TET1 N-terminus (Khoueiry et al., 2017). Taken together, the latest findings of Khoueiry et al. suggest that TET1, independent of its catalytic activity, is substantial for embryonic development.

#### 3.4.3. TET non-catalytic functions

TET enzymes and their catalytic role were of great interest and have been intensively studied (Wu and Zhang, 2014). Alongside, independent studies reported non-catalytic functions of the different TET proteins in various systems (Deplus et al., 2013; Gao et al., 2016; Kaas et al., 2013; Khoueiry et al., 2017; Tsai et al., 2014; Villivalam et al., 2020; Xu et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2015). TET1 was reported to regulate expression of the central nervous system (CNS) dependent genes and memory formation independent of DNA demethylation (Kaas et al., 2013). In adipose tissue, TET1 noncatalytically cooperates with histone deacetylase 1 (HDAC1) to regulate transcription (Kaas et al., 2013; Villivalam et al., 2020). And also during primed pluripotency, TET1 was shown to regulate transcription mostly independent of DNA demethylation (Khoueiry et al., 2017). Similarly, increased proliferation rates in *Tet2* KO immune cells can be rescued by a catalytically dead version of TET2 (Montagner et al., 2017). TET3 was reported to repress the Snrpn gene in neural stem cells (NSCs) in a catalytically independent way (Montalbán-Loro et al., 2019). While evidence is accumulating that non-catalytic functions of the TET enzymes might play an important role in various systems, the knowledge about the underlying mechanism remains rudimentary. Until today, TET1 was described to interact with SIN3A/HDAC, OGT, MOF, MBD1 and PRC2 (Vella et al., 2013; Williams et al., 2011; Wu et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2017; Zhong et al., 2017), which suggests that TET1 could recruit these factors or be involved in complex formation (Figure 4c). TET2 and TET3 seem to have fewer far interactors and SO were reported to interact with O-linked Nacetylglucosaminyltransferase (OGT) and SET1/COMPASS complexes (Chen et al., 2013; Deplus et al., 2013; Vella et al., 2013). TET2 was also shown to interact with HDAC1 and HDAC2 to regulate inflammatory responses (Zhang et al., 2015). The crosstalk between TET1 and most chromatin modifiers however remains elusive. Most intensive research is done on the interaction between PRC2 and TET1, which together regulate epigenetic plasticity at developmental genes in mESCs and during differentiation (Gu et al., 2018b; Neri et al., 2013; Pastor et al., 2011; Williams et al., 2011; Wu et al., 2011). However, the literature is contradictory regarding the mechanism, TET1 might facilitate the recruitment of PRC2 or the other way around (Neri et al., 2013; Wu et al., 2011)..

Besides PRC2, the SIN3A/HDAC complex is a prominent interactor of TET1 (Chandru et al., 2018; Williams et al., 2011; Zhu et al., 2018a). Interestingly, knockdown experiments of SIN3 Transcription Regulator Family Member A (SIN3A) caused an upregulation of long interspersed nuclear elements 1 (LINE1) in a TET1 dependent manner (de la Rica et al., 2016). However, the loss of TET1 alone does not lead to an upregulation of LINE1 elements (de la Rica et al., 2016), whereas the loss of all three TET proteins triggers a wide range of transposable element (TE) activation. TET TKO mESCs exhibit an upregulation of LINEs, short interspersed nuclear elements (SINEs) and in particular ERVs (Lu et al., 2014). The most significant upregulation was observed at ERVL and correlated with Tripartite Motif Containing 28 (TRIM28/KAP1) binding and activity (Lu et al., 2014).

While two studies so far described a connection between TET enzymes and TE regulation (Lu et al., 2014; de la Rica et al., 2016), the underlying mechanism remains widely unclear. The catalytic and non-catalytic role of the single TET enzymes, as well as the interplay with SIN3A and TRIM28/KAP1 in TE regulation is not understood. In addition, it is unclear if the catalytic activity of the TET enzymes is important for the functional interaction with different chromatin modifying complexes or if TET1 recruits/interacts with those complexes independent of DNA demethylation. In this doctoral work we addressed the non-catalytic role of TET1 in gene and TE regulation in mESCs (Publication I). In the future, it will be an intriguing task to investigate the non-catalytic roles of TET enzymes in development and diseases.

# 3.5. Heterochromatin & retroviruses

#### 3.5.1. Retroviruses and their classification

Heterochromatin is a condensed and inactive form of chromatin and can be subdivided into constitutive and facultative types (Grewal and Jia, 2007). Facultative heterochromatin is marked by H3K27me3, can change upon external stimuli and acts dynamically in a developmental context. Constitutive heterochromatin marks regions with a high density of repetitive DNA elements such as TEs and is maintained throughout the cell cycle. It is believed that silencing of parasitic mobile TEs is the main reason why heterochromatin was established during evolution. TEs are subdivided into two groups of DNA transposons and retrotransposons (Figure 5a). In mammals, retrotransposons are characterized by the presence or absence of long terminal repeats (LTRs) flanking the coding region and can thereby be divided into non-LTR and LTR containing retrotransposons. The most well known non-LTR retrotransposons are SINEs and LINEs. The LTR-retrotransposons have a high similarity to proviral elements and are also called endogenous retroviruses (ERVs) (Groh and Schotta, 2017). There are three sub-classes of ERVs (I-III), based on the sequence homology of the reverse transcriptase (RT) of exogenous and endogenous retroviruses (Gifford and Tristem, 2003; Johnson, 2015). Class I (ERV1) includes gammaretroviruses and epsilonretroviruses, class II (ERVK) alpharetroviruses, betaretroviruses, and lentiviruses and class III (ERVL) spumaretroviruses (Figure 5a). Around 10% of the mouse genome and 8% of the human genome originates from ERV insertions (Consortium and Mouse Genome Sequencing Consortium, 2002; Lander et al., 2001). ERVs are the most active TEs and account for 10% of germline mutations in laboratory mouse strains (Nellåker et al., 2012). To ensure genome stability ERVs need to be tightly controlled. Over time, the ongoing battle between viruses and the defense mechanisms of the host also served as a driver of genetic variation and genome evolution. For example, the syncytin gene derived from an retroviral envelope protein, got integrated into the human genome and is involved in the development of the placenta (Dupressoir et al., 2012; Mi et al., 2000). TEs can serve as promoters or enhancers to regulate gene expression in mice and humans (Faulkner et al., 2009; Gifford et al., 2013). Today, it is accepted that ERVs are a driver of mammalian evolution (Bourgue et al., 2008; Chuong et al., 2013; Cordaux and Batzer, 2009; Lynch et al., 2011). In mice some ERVs are still functional, like IAPs and therefore need to be tightly controlled (Dewannieux et al., 2004). Deficient ERV silencing may cause infertility (Bourc'his and Bestor, 2004), embryonic lethality (Walsh et al., 1998), autoimmune responses (Chiappinelli et al., 2017; Roulois et al., 2015) or apoptosis (Pasquarella et al., 2016). At the same time the activation of ERVs is crucial at defined developmental stages in humans and mice. ERVL are expressed in the early embryo to regulate genome plasticity (Göke et al., 2015; Macfarlan et al., 2012; Peaston et al., 2004). At the zygote stage, MERVL retrotransposons are de-repressed before any other gene is transcribed and account for ~3% of the produced mRNA (Kigami et al., 2003; Peaston et al., 2004). After the 2C stage MERVL expression is silenced again (Svoboda et al., 2004). During this defined time frame, MERVL virus-derived promoters serve as transcriptional initiators of 2C stage specific gene expression (Macfarlan et al., 2012). In addition, ERV1 and ERVK are expressed in mouse and human ESCs and suggested to be under the control of core pluripotency factors (Fort et al., 2014). However, in most cell types ERVs remain silenced which is controlled by various mechanisms.

#### 3.5.2. Silencing mechanisms of viruses

#### 3.5.2.1. RNA based silencing

Retrotransposons can be silenced by various RNA-mediated mechanisms. Three well studied RNA silencing mechanisms are the generation of small interfering RNAs (siRNAs), production of antisense RNA and piwi-interacting RNA (piRNA) mediated silencing (Groh and Schotta, 2017). siRNA are known to silence human LINE1 elements (Watanabe et al., 2008; Yang and Kazazian, 2006) and upon DNA hypomethylation endogenous siRNAs were shown to restrict TE activation in mESCs (Berrens et al., 2017). In general antisense transcripts seem to have multiple roles in regulating viral expression (Werner, 2013). LINE1 and IAP retrotransposons were shown to be silenced or inhibited by their corresponding antisense transcript (Bierhoff et al., 2014; Li et al., 2014b). In addition, in preimplantation stem cells tRNA-derived fragments (tRFs) silence ERVs, most likely during phases of epigenetic remodeling (Schorn et al., 2017). However, the predominant RNA-based silencing mechanisms in heterochromatin formation seems to be mediated by piRNA (Aravin et al., 2007; Groh and Schotta, 2017). Mechanistically, piRNAs can induce degradation of retroviruses and also influence the chromatin structure. In drosophila, piRNAs were discovered to regulate H3K9me3 mediated ERV silencing (Pal-Bhadra et al., 2004). and in mice to induce targeted DNA methylation (Aravin et al., 2008; Kuramochi-Miyagawa et al., 2008).



**Figure 5. Transposable Elements and ERV silencing.** a) Classification of Transposable Elements (TEs). TEs can be divided into DNA transposons and retrotransposons. Retrotransposons are either classified as long terminal repeats (LTR) or as non-LTRs. LTRs are endogenous retroviruses (ERVs) and can be separated into ERV1, ERVK and ERVL. Non-LTRs can be divided into viral elements, like long interspersed elements (LINE) or short interspersed elements (SINE). Figure adapted from (Geis and Goff 2020). b) Model figure illustrating the epigenetic silencing mechanism of ERVs in mESCs. KRAB-Znf recruits TRIM28/KAP1 and subsequently the H3K9me3 methyltransferase SETDB1 to ERV1, ERVK and ERVL elements. HP1 proteins bind H3K9me3, recruit the histone methyltransferases SUV39H and SUV4-20H for the establishment of H3K9me3 and H4K20me3 domains, causing heterochromatin (HC) spreading.

#### 3.5.2.2. Epigenetic ERV silencing

The establishment and maintenance of ERV silencing is an interplay of different factors and closely linked to specific epigenetic marks. The crucial epigenetic hallmarks of constitutive heterochromatin are DNA methylation and histone based post translational modifications, such as H3K9me3 and H4K20me3 (Groh and Schotta, 2017). In mESCs, the establishment of H3K9me3 is crucial for repressing ERVs (Matsui et al., 2010; Mikkelsen et al., 2007) (Figure 5b). The current model suggests that Krüppel-associated box domain zinc finger (KRAB-Znf) proteins recruit TRIM28/KAP1 to specific loci (Friedman et al., 1996; Jacobs et al., 2014; Tan et al., 2013; Wolf and Goff, 2009; Wolf et al., 2015, 2020). TRIM28/KAP1 is one of the master regulators of ERV silencing (Rowe et al., 2010) and interacts with SET Domain Bifurcated Histone Lysine Methyltransferase 1 (SETDB1) (Schultz et al., 2002), the H3K9 methyltransferase for H3K9me3 installation (Matsui et al., 2010). Next, heterochromatin proteins (HP1a, HP1ß and HP1y, also called CBX1, CBX3 and CBX5) bind H3K9me3 (Jacobs and Khorasanizadeh, 2002; Jacobs et al., 2001; Lachner et al., 2001) and recruit suppressor of variegation 3-9 homolog (SUV39H) and suppressor of variegation 4-20 (SUV4-20) for subsequent spreading of heterochromatin (Bulut-Karslioglu et al., 2014). SUV39H is the methyltransferase for H3K9 methylation and SUV4-20 methylates H4K20 (Schotta et al., 2004). While the establishment of H3K9me3 is crucial for silencing of ERVs in mESCs, it seems that the interplay of both H3K9me3 and DNA methylation has the greatest impact on ERV silencing (Sharif et al., 2016). DNA methylation alone is not sufficient to silence ERVs (Karimi et al., 2011) and seems to be more important for ERV repression during differentiation and in somatic cells (Sharif et al., 2016). While the role for DNA methylation in ERV silencing is well studied, the role of DNA demethylation and TET enzymes remains unclear. For example, LINE1 elements are decorated with 5hmC and not deregulated in TET TKO mESCs, whereas ERVs are activated (Lu et al., 2014; de la Rica et al., 2016). In summary leading to the question of the underlying mechanism in TE regulation and the individual contributions of the three TET enzymes. In this doctoral work we investigated the role of TET1 in ERV silencing and found that TET1 is crucial for H3K9me3 establishment at specific ERVs independent of DNA demethylation (Publication I).

# 3.6. RNA modifications in development and disease 3.6.1 METTL enzymes and other RNA modifiers

In eukaryotes m<sup>6</sup>A is the most abundant messenger RNA modification and is involved in various cellular, developmental, and disease processes (Roundtree et al., 2017). The last decade was marked with the discoveries of m<sup>6</sup>A writers (e.g. METTL14, WTAP, and KIAA1429) (Liu et al., 2014a; Ping et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2014c), m<sup>6</sup>A readers (YTHDF1, YTHDF2, and YTHDF3) (Li et al., 2014a; Wang et al., 2014b, 2015; Zhu et al., 2014) and m<sup>6</sup>A erasers (FTO and ALKBH5) (Jia et al., 2011; Zheng et al., 2013) (Figure 6). Among human and mouse m<sup>6</sup>A is strongly conserved (Dominissini et al., 2012) and the loss of critical m<sup>6</sup>A enzymes causes severe defects in human, mouse, drosophila, yeast and plant (Batista et al., 2014; Clancy, 2002; Hongay and Orr-Weaver, 2011; Zhong et al., 2008).



**Figure 6. m6A writers, readers and erasers.** *N*6-methyladenosine (m<sup>6</sup>A) is primarily installed by the METTL3/METTL14 writer complex but also by other enzymes like METTL5. The main m<sup>6</sup>A readers are YTHDF1, YTHDF2 and YTHDF3. The two major m<sup>6</sup>A erasers are FTO and ALKBH5. The figure is adapted from (Shi et al. 2019).

In mammals, Methyltransferase-like 3 (METTL3) and METTL14 are the core of a multiunit m<sup>6</sup>A RNA methyltransferase complex and crucial for placing m<sup>6</sup>A on mRNA. During mouse embryonic development, the loss of either METTL3 or METTL14 reduces m<sup>6</sup>A and promotes transcript stability of pluripotency genes (Wang et al., 2014c). In addition, Mett/3 knock-out mice are not viable and Mett/3 knock-out mESCs are unable to exit naive pluripotency (Geula et al., 2015). Besides METTL3 and METTL14, the family of METTL proteins includes a variety of enzymes targeting different kinds of RNA and even protein, thereby regulating various cellular processes (Wong and Eirin-Lopez, 2021). In general, the METTL enzymes are present in most metazoan phyla and represent a group of seven-beta-strand methyltransferases with S-adenosyl methionine-binding domains that can potentially modify DNA, RNA, and proteins (Wong and Eirin-Lopez, 2021). For example, METTL21D catalvzes the methylation of the chaperon VCP at lysine312 and can promote tumor formation (Kernstock et al., 2012; Thiele et al., 2011). Interestingly, in C.elegans DAMT-1, a protein similar to METTL4 in humans acts as a m<sup>6</sup>A DNA methyltransferase (Greer et al., 2015). In total, 33 METTL proteins were identified that are either DNA/RNA or protein methyltransferases or still of unknown function (Wong and Eirin-Lopez, 2021). However, compared to DNMT enzymes, the family of METTL enzymes remains understudied. Besides mRNA methylation, METTL proteins are also involved in the methylation of rRNA, tRNA and small nuclear RNA (snRNA) and therefore influencing cellular processes on multiple levels.

#### 3.6.2. METTL enzymes in development and disease

Human rRNA contains multiple modifications, including 2'-O-methyls, pseudouridines, and base methylations. However, only two m<sup>6</sup>A sites exist on rRNA, one at position A1832 of 18S rRNA and one at position A4220a on 28S rRNA (Maden, 1986, 1988; Natchiar et al., 2017). Both m<sup>6</sup>A rRNA sites are located at functionally important sites and have potential implications for human health (Natchiar et al., 2017). Only in recent years, METTL5 and ZCCHC4 were discovered as the responsible m<sup>6</sup>A rRNA methyltransferases of A1832 and A4220 (Ma et al., 2019; van Tran et al., 2019). However, the role and function of METTL5 and ZCCHC4 in development and disease remains elusive.

tRNA are subject to a wide range of modifications, which can impact tRNA stability, folding and translation efficiency of mRNA (Delaunay and Frye, 2019). Today, more than 610 tRNAs are identified and most are individually modified and expressed in a tissue specific manner. This versatility is required for effective interaction between the

ribosome and the translation factors (Kuhn, 2016). Loss of tRNA modifications is tightly connected to cancer progression and disease. In humans for instance, tRNA enzymes that catalyze the modification of wobble uridine 34 (U34) are essential for the survival of melanoma cells via regulating translation efficiency of HIF1A mRNA (Rapino et al., 2021). Deleterious mutations in the tRNA methyltransferase NOP2/Sun RNA methyltransferase 2 (NSUN2) cause growth retardation and neurodevelopmental deficits in humans and mice (Abbasi-Moheb et al., 2012; Khan et al., 2012; Sun et al., 2020). Re-expression of the tRNA methyltransferase 9-like (hTRM9L/KIAA1456) suppresses tumor growth in vivo (Begley et al., 2013). Further, the establishment of the tRNA N<sup>7</sup>-methylguanosine (m<sup>7</sup>G) methylome by the METTL1/WDR4 complex is essential for mRNA translation in mammals and the loss of METTL1 causes defects during embryonic development (Lin et al., 2018). Importantly, tRNA modifications and their multiple functions in various cellular and developmental processes are potential drug targets. This creates the need to better understand tRNA modifying enzymes and their mechanism for effective drug development in the future. As part of this doctoral work, I investigated novel functions of the RNA methyltransferases METTL5 and METTL6 in development and disease (Publication V and VI).

# 3.7. Technological milestones

#### 3.7.1. Next generation sequencing

The decision to sequence the entire human genome marked a milestone in the development of NGS techniques. Since the human genome project in 2003 was completed, the costs for sequencing the human genome dropped from 150 mio to below 1000 dollars (Goodwin et al., 2016; Roberts et al.). This advancement was triggered by great innovations in the field of sequencing and data analysis and made NGS more accessible for basic research and medicine. NGS can be divided into shortand long-read sequencing. Many short-read sequencing platforms are based on sequencing by synthesis. Primer-directed polymerase extension uses deoxynucleotide triphosphate (dNTPs) coupled to fluorescent markers allowing base calling while DNA synthesis (Ronaghi et al., 1998). Today, short-read sequencing has the greatest market share and Illumina is the dominating provider of a short-read sequencing platform (Goodwin et al., 2016). For the Illumina workflow, the DNA is

fragmented into small pieces and ligated with an adaptor sequence. The adaptors are used for clonal PCR amplification in which the signal during the sequencing process is enriched. The DNA library is then applied to a flow cell which is covered with adaptors that match the adaptors of the DNA library. The mobile DNA fragments attach to the flow cell and are amplified by bridge PCR using dNTPs with base-specific fluorophores. The fluorescent signal is excited by a laser and converted into sequencing reads for computational analysis. The development of NGS allowed the concurrent development of a wide-range of applications like chromatin immunoprecipitation sequencing (ChIP-seq), RNA-seq and whole genome bisulfite sequencing (WGBS). This allowed for genome-wide chromatin profiling during development and disease. While the mapping of epigenetic marks was a major breakthrough, the technological advancements are ongoing. Single-cell sequencing of the transcriptome and epigenome provides crucial information to understand the complex cellular interplay in organs, tissues and embryonic development (Buenrostro et al., 2015; Nagano et al., 2013; Patel et al., 2014; Rotem et al., 2015; Smallwood et al., 2014; Tirosh et al., 2016; Venteicher et al., 2017; Zheng et al., 2017). Despite the rapid development and great benefits, short-read sequencing harbors some limitations. The mapping of short reads to the genome can be computationally challenging, the PCR amplification can introduce sequencing errors and some repetitive regions remain inaccessible due to the PCR amplification step (Chaisson et al., 2019). To avoid these difficulties, the development of long-read sequencing approaches offers an attractive solution. The two upfront long-read sequencing platforms are Oxford Nanopore Technologies and PacBio (Logsdon et al., 2020). Both platforms create thousands of kilobases (kb) in read length directly from native DNA. PacBio uses hairpin adapters on both sides of an up to 100 kb big DNA insert to create circular DNA. This allows the amplification of long reads by DNA Polymerase. To discriminate between individual DNA bases, fluorescently labeled dNTPs are used to detect and record fluorescent emission (Logsdon et al., 2020). Oxford Nanopore Technologies uses linear, up to several mega bases long DNA fragments attached to an adapter sequence and a motor protein. This DNA fragment is loaded onto a flow cell covered with nanopores and the negatively charged DNA is moved through the nanopore by the motor protein and an electric current. While the DNA is passing through the pore the current changes characteristically for each DNA base and is measured in real-time (Logsdon et al., 2020). Long-read sequencing offers chromatin

profiling methods without chemical treatments during library preparation and can be used to detect epigenetic marks on DNA like 5mC (Feng et al., 2013; Flusberg et al., 2010; Rand et al., 2017), 5hmC (Laszlo et al., 2013; Wescoe et al., 2014), 6mA (McIntyre et al., 2019) and 8-oxoguanine (An et al., 2015), but also modifications on RNA (Leger et al., 2021; Liu et al., 2019). Today, short-read sequencing is still the gold standard, but long-read sequencing is developing and improving rapidly. Taken together NGS approaches have revolutionized basic research, clinical diagnostics and medicine.

#### 3.7.2. CRISPR/Cas9

#### 3.7.2.1. Brief history and basic principle

The utilization of homology directed repair (HDR) to modify the genome allowed the shutdown, mutation or tagging of genes of interest and was a great improvement for many biological fields (Capecchi, 1989). Subsequently, several nuclease based genome editing technologies have been developed. The first two were meganucleases derived from microbial mobile genetic elements and zinc-finger nucleases (ZFNs) based on eukaryotic transcription factors (TFs) (Miller et al., 2007; Smith et al., 2006; Urnov et al., 2005). Shortly after, transcription activator-like effectors (TALENS) from *Xanthomonas* bacteria were developed for targeted genome engineering (Boch et al., 2009; Christian et al., 2010). Nevertheless, precise and efficient modulation of the large and complex eukaryotic genome remained very challenging. TALENS and ZFNs are difficult to design and clone and new TALENS and ZNF proteins need to be validated for new target sites (2017). The discovery of CRISPR-Cas9 however marks a turning point in genome engineering and shaped the last decade in fundamental research, biotechnology and medicine.

Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR) together with the associated *Cas* gene was first described in 2007 as a defense mechanism of prokaryotes against viruses (Barrangou et al., 2007). The CRISPR system was known as a defense mechanism of bacteria and archaea (Bhaya et al., 2011; Terns and Terns, 2011; Wiedenheft et al., 2012). In 2012 the labs of Charpentier and Doudna discovered that double stranded RNA can target Cas9 to specific DNA sites to create double strand breaks (Jinek et al., 2012). This finding simplified the gene editing process significantly. Before, genome editing systems relied on expertise in

engineering customized DNA-binding proteins, whereas CRISPR-Cas9 genome engineering relies on base pairing of nucleic acids (Pickar-Oliver and Gersbach, 2019).

In more detail, Cas9 endonuclease directed genome engineering depends on the protospacer adjacent motifs (PAM) and a short RNA which guides the Cas9 endonuclease. In nature, the guide RNA of Cas9 consists of CRISPR-RNA (crRNA) and a complementary *trans*-activating crRNA, which can when merged guide Cas9 to the PAM (Deltcheva et al., 2011). For genome engineering approaches, single-guide RNAs have been developed which can be easily synthesized. The guide RNA and the Cas9 nuclease associate with the DNA by base pairing of the guide RNA and the recognition of the PAM. Upon successful alignment, Cas9 creates a blunt-ended double strand break (DSB) 3 bp upstream of the PAM (Garneau et al., 2010). The DSB can be repaired by two different DNA repair mechanisms, either non homologous end joining (NHEJ) or HDR. NHEJ creates random insertions or deletions useful for gene disruptions. HDR uses a DNA template for repair of the DSB, which entails a homologous sequence of the target site and can be utilized to incorporate a tag, fluorophore or mutation (Figure 7a).

#### **3.7.2.2. Epigenetic toolbox**

Shortly after its discovery, the CRISPR-Cas9 system was successfully utilized for genome engineering in mammalian cells (Cong et al., 2013; Mali et al., 2013). The engineering strategies can be planned using different softwares and algorithms (e.g. <u>www.benchling.com</u>). Cas9 created double strand breaks can be used to either screen for gene deletions or knockouts or used to insert a desired protein tag for subsequent experiments. Meanwhile, there are countless examples where CRISPR-Cas9 created double strand breaks were successfully used for genome engineering in different biological systems (Cho et al., 2013; Dever et al., 2016; Jinek et al., 2012; Min et al., 2019; Shan et al., 2014; Shimatani et al., 2017). The great success is based on easy design and cloning, high targeting efficiency and the great diversity to utilize the CRISPR-Cas system. For example, mutating the RuvC (D10A) and HNH (H840A) nuclease domains of Cas9 disrupts its catalytic activity, but conserves the ability to bind DNA in an RNA-guided manner (Jinek et al., 2012; Qi et al., 2013). This catalytically dead version of Cas9 (dCas9) can be fused to a diverse range of effectors

like fluorophores, activators, repressors and epigenetic modifiers (Figure 7b) (Anton et al., 2018). In eukaryotic cells, the fusion of Krüppell-associated box (KRAB) to dCas9 can effectively repress transcription of targeted regions (Gilbert et al., 2013; Thakore et al., 2015). On the other side, genes can be activated by fusing transcription activation domains to dCas9, like four repeats of the herpes simplex VP16 activation domain (VP64) (Maeder et al., 2013; Perez-Pinera et al., 2013). The dCas9 driven transcriptional activation was already successfully used for reprogramming cell fate or pluripotency (Black et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2018). Further, dCas9 can be also used for site-directed acetylation or methylation of histones and methylation or demethylation of DNA (Choudhury et al., 2016; Hilton et al., 2015). Hence, the recruitment of epigenetic modifiers by Cas9 can induce activation, repression or remodeling of DNA, offering the intriguing possibility to thoroughly dissect epigenetic mechanisms in development and disease.



Figure 7. CRISPR/Cas gene and epigenome editing toolbox. a) Cas9 nuclease is directed to a specific loci by the gRNA and PAM and creates double strand breaks (DSB). The repair pathways of the cell are either non homologous end joining (NHEJ) or homology directed repair (HDR), which can be utilized to create random mutations respectively for precise editing using DNA templates with homology arms. b) The catalytic dead version of Cas9 (dCas9) can be directly fused to different epigenetic effectors for the recruitment to a specific site in the genome. The Krüppel-associated box domain (KRAB) induces transcriptional repression, VP64 acts as a transcriptional activator and the catalytic domain of TET enzymes catalyzes DNA demethylation.

#### 3.7.2.3. Applications in development and disease

The field of applications for CRISPR-Cas seems infinite and multiple strategies have been applied to study biological processes and disease. Besides binding and cleaving DNA, CRISPR-Cas was also utilized to target RNA in living cells (O'Connell et al., 2014). This strategy was already successfully used for live tracking of mRNAs (Nelles et al., 2016) and to specifically eliminate toxic RNAs in patient derived cells (Batra et al., 2017). These studies highlight the potential of Cas9 for fundamental research and future human therapeutics.

Recently, Cas13a was discovered to be a naturally occurring RNA-targeting endonuclease (Abudayyeh et al., 2016). The Zhang lab developed a Cas13-based molecular detection platform, called Specific High Sensitivity Enzymatic Reporter UnLOCKing (SHERLOCK), which utilizes the Cas13 RNA sensitivity (Gootenberg et al., 2017). More precisely, Cas13 is coupled to disease specific gRNA and quenched fluorescent RNA for fluorescent readout and can be used for detecting Zika, Dengue virus and Covid-19 (Kellner et al., 2019). Until today, new CRISPR-Cas family variants are being discovered in many different organisms (Edraki et al., 2019; Esvelt et al., 2013; Hou et al., 2013; Müller et al., 2016). The different variants can bring distinct advantages, like smaller protein size (Ran et al., 2015) or different PAM sequences (Miller et al., 2020), holding great potential for new applications in research and medicine.

Diseases caused by gene mutations generally harbor great potential for CRISPR-Cas based therapies, like retinitis pigmentosa (RP), which can result in blindness (Daiger et al., 2013). First experiments in animal models suggest that CRISPR-Cas based *in vivo* knockdown of the RP critical *Nrl* gene leads to preserved cone function and improved survival in three independent mouse models (Yu et al., 2017). Another example for a disease caused by a gene defect is Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD). Here, a mutation in the *DMD* gene leads to the absence of dystrophin causing a neuromuscular disorder (Hoffman et al., 1987). Different studies already showed that CRISPR-Cas gene editing enables the restoration of dystrophin expression and normal muscle formation in different animal models (Amoasii et al., 2018; Hakim et al., 2018; Long et al., 2016; Nelson et al., 2016; Tabebordbar et al., 2016; Young et al., 2016).
This shows that CRISPR-Cas based therapies harbor great potential for clinical applications, even though some bottlenecks still have to be overcome. New vectors have to be found as an expression system to solve limited DNA capacities, control the expression of Cas9 and reduce the risk of integration into DSB (Nelson et al., 2019). First achievements in clinical trials could be already celebrated in 2021 (Gillmore et al., 2021). Using a lipid nanoparticle carrier system to transport mRNA of Cas9 and gRNA to knock-out transthyretin (TTR) and to cure the life-threatening disease Transthyretin amyloidosis (ATTR amyloidosis) offered promising results. After 28 days TTR protein concentration was reduced up to 87% (Gillmore et al., 2021). Although, lipid nanoparticles as a carrier system for CRISPR-Cas might offer a solution to treat so far incurable diseases, long-term studies and increased patient numbers are needed to confirm the first positive results

While CRISPR-Cas has already revolutionized basic research, some hurdles still need to be passed before it becomes a standardized medical application. Fortunately however, several trials are already ongoing using CRISPR-Cas to repair gene defects in blood disorders, cancers, eye disease, chronic infections and protein-folding disorders. In summary, it might still take years until first CRISPR-Cas therapies are approved by the FDA. However, with the potential for engineering DNA, RNA and the epigenome, CRISPR-Cas already today has an enormous benefit and impact on research, drug and therapy development and the work presented in this doctoral work (Publication I - VI).

#### 4. Results

#### 4.1. Publication I: TET1 regulates gene expression and repression of endogenous retroviruses independent of DNA demethylation

Paul Stolz, Angelo Salazar Mantero, Andrey Tvardovskiy, Enes Ugur, Lucas E Wange, Christopher B Mulholland, Yuying Cheng, Michael Wierer, Wolfgang Enard, Robert Schneider, Till Bartke, Heinrich Leonhardt, Simon J Elsässer, Sebastian Bultmann, Nucleic Acids Research, Volume 50, Issue 15, 26 August 2022, Pages 8491-8511

doi: org/10.1093/nar/gkac642

#### 4.2. Publication II: Critical Role of the UBL Domain in Stimulating the E3 Ubiquitin Ligase Activity of UHRF1 toward Chromatin

Foster BM, Stolz P, Mulholland CB, Montoya A, Kramer H, Bultmann S, Bartke T. Mol Cell. 2018 Nov 15;72(4):739-752.e9. Epub 2018 Nov 1 doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2018.09.028.

#### 4.3. Publication III: Recent evolution of a TET-controlled and DPPA3/STELLA-driven pathway of passive DNA demethylation in mammals

Mulholland CB, Nishiyama A, Ryan J, Nakamura R, Yiğit M, Glück IM, Trummer C, Qin W, Bartoschek MD, Traube FR, Parsa E, Ugur E, Modic M, Acharya A, Stolz P, Ziegenhain C, Wierer M, Enard W, Carell T, Lamb DC, Takeda H, Nakanishi M, Bultmann S, Leonhardt H. Nat Commun. 2020 Nov 24;11(1):5972. Erratum in: Nat Commun. 2020 Dec 17;11(1):6443.

doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-19603-1.

# 4.4. Publication IV: Distinct and stage-specific contributions of TET1 and TET2 to stepwise cytosine oxidation in the transition from naive to primed pluripotency

Mulholland CB, Traube FR, Ugur E, Parsa E, Eckl EM, Schönung M, Modic M, Bartoschek MD, Stolz P, Ryan J, Carell T, Leonhardt H, Bultmann S. *Sci Rep.* 2020 Jul 21;10(1):12066. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-68600-3.

#### 4.5. Publication V: The rRNA m 6 A methyltransferase METTL5 is involved in pluripotency and developmental programs

Ignatova VV, Stolz P, Kaiser S, Gustafsson TH, Lastres PR, Sanz-Moreno A, Cho YL, Amarie OV, Aguilar-Pimentel A, Klein-Rodewald T, Calzada-Wack J, Becker L, Marschall S, Kraiger M, Garrett L, Seisenberger C, Hölter SM, Borland K, Van De Logt E, Jansen PWTC, Baltissen MP, Valenta M, Vermeulen M, Wurst W, Gailus-Durner V, Fuchs H, Hrabe de Angelis M, Rando OJ, Kellner SM, Bultmann S, Schneider R. *Genes Dev.* 2020 May 1;34(9-10):715-729. Epub 2020 Mar 26. doi: <u>10.1101/gad.333369.119</u>.

## 4.6. Publication VI: METTL6 is a tRNA m3C methyltransferase that regulates pluripotency and tumor cell growth

Ignatova VV, Kaiser S, Ho JSY, Bing X, Stolz P, Tan YX, Lee CL, Gay FPH, Lastres PR, Gerlini R, Rathkolb B, Aguilar-Pimentel A, Sanz-Moreno A, Klein-Rodewald T, Calzada-Wack J, Ibragimov E, Valenta M, Lukauskas S, Pavesi A, Marschall S, Leuchtenberger S, Fuchs H, Gailus-Durner V, de Angelis MH, Bultmann S, Rando OJ, Guccione E, Kellner SM, Schneider R. *Sci Adv.* 2020 Aug 26;6(35):eaaz4551. doi: <u>10.1126/sciadv.aaz4551</u>.

#### 5. Discussion

#### 5.1. DNA methylation

#### 5.1.1. UHRF1 and DNA methylation

The DNA methyltransferase DNMT1 was described early on as a maintenance methyltransferase engaging with replicating protein proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) (Leonhardt et al., 1992b). Subsequent studies showed that the interaction of DNMT1 with PCNA is not crucial for maintenance methylation (Schermelleh et al., 2007; Spada et al., 2007), but that DNMT1 is regulated by intramolecular events (Jeltsch and Jurkowska, 2016), PTMs (Du et al., 2010; Estève et al., 2009, 2011; Zhang et al., 2019) and UHRF1 (Bostick et al., 2007; Sharif et al., 2007). Today, the multidomain protein UHRF1 is well characterized as a crucial player in regulating DNMT1 and passive DNA demethylation in mammalian development (von Meyenn et al., 2016). However, the mechanisms by which UHRF1 recruits DNMT1 to chromatin are numerous and complex and are still a subject of research. While, the E3 ubiquitination ligase activity of UHRF1 towards H3 is critical for recruiting DNMT1 to replicating chromatin (Ishiyama et al., 2017; Nishiyama et al., 2013; Qin et al., 2015), the mechanism regulating the ubiquitination activity of UHRF1 itself remained unknown. In the scope of this doctoral work I collaborated with the group of Till Bartke to identify a hydrophobic patch in the UBL domain which is critical for E2 ligase (UbcH5a) targeted ubiguitination of H3 and which stabilizes the complex formation with the RING-domain of UHRF1 for E3 ligase activity (Publication II) (DaRosa et al., 2018). Further, using CRISPR/Cas in mESCs, I contributed to the finding that a single F46A point mutation in the hydrophobic patch of the UBL domain disturbs the E3 ligase activity of UHRF1, which ultimately impedes DNA methylation maintenance (Figure 8, Publication II).

The necessity to understand the ubiquitination mechanism of UHRF1 was again highlighted by a recent study of Nishiyama and colleagues (Nishiyama et al., 2020). Besides its known ubiquitination sites at Lysine 14, 18 and 23 of H3, UHRF1 also ubiquitinates PAF15 at two lysine residues (Nishiyama et al., 2020). Both

ubiquitination events lead to the recruitment of DNMT1 to chromatin and are therefore critical for DNA methylation maintenance (Nishiyama et al., 2020). Intriguingly, these two ways of DNMT1 recruitment are most likely separated in time and space. PAF15 is suggested to compensate for the lack of H3 ubiquitination at early S-phase, whereas H3 ubiguitination could be the critical factor in late S-phase (Nishiyama et al., 2020). However, it remains unclear how this switch between PAF15 and H3 ubiguitination is regulated. One hypothesis is that PAF15 is degraded in late S-phase to ensure proper H3 ubiguitination. Paf15 knock-out mice are viable, whereas Dnmt1 and Uhrf1 knockouts are embryonic lethal. This suggests that either H3 ubiquitination compensates for PAF15 or another not identified protein can substitute PAF15. Considering the multiple intramolecular interactions among the different domains of UHRF1, another possibility would be a change in the intramolecular states or folding of UHRF1 to switch between different ubiquitination targets. Thus, future studies of a full length UHRF1 protein, in particular harboring the UBL and RING domain, are needed to completely understand the function and mechanism of the UHRF1 ubiguitination activity.



**Figure 8. The UBL domain of UHRF1 is essential for H3 ubiquitination and subsequent DNA methylation maintenance.** Schematic representation of UHRF1 impacting H3 ubiquitination and DNA methylation maintenance. The point mutation F46A in the UBL domain destabilizes the binding of the E2 ligase (UbcH5a) to UHRF1, which impairs H3 ubiquitination, inhibits the recruitment of DNMT1 and causes a reduction in DNA methylation levels.

Besides the ubiquitination activity of UHRF1, various other mechanisms are involved in regulating the UHRF1-DNMT1 interaction and activity. The PHD and TTD domain cooperate in regulating the binding of UHRF1 to H3K9me2/3 (Arita et al., 2012b; Qin et al., 2015; Rothbart et al., 2012). This is controlled by intramolecular contacts of the TTD domain and binding of histone mimic protein LIG1 (Ferry et al., 2017; Gao et al., 2018). Moreover, the binding of methylated, hemi-methylated and unmethylated DNA depends on the SRA domain of UHRF1, which is also critical for DNA methylation maintenance (Arita et al., 2008). In the scope of this doctoral work I contributed to identify DPPA3 as a direct binding partner of UHRF1 and a significant regulator of DNA methylation maintenance (Publication III). DPPA3 can bind and remove UHRF1 from chromatin, thereby inducing global hypomethylation by passive DNA demethylation (Publication III). Interestingly however, the expression of DPPA3 is regulated by active DNA demethylation of the *Dppa3* locus by TET1 and TET2 (Publication III).

In addition to intramolecular regulation and the interaction with different proteins, UHRF1 can be regulated by PTMs, highlighting the multilayered complexity of UHRF1-DNMT1 activity regulation. However, it remains unclear how the different modes of DNMT1 recruitment by UHRF1 are coordinated. In colorectal cancer for instance the PHD and SRA domain are crucial for cancer-specific DNA methylation patterns, but not the E3 ubiquitination activity of UHRF1 (Kong et al., 2019). This finding raises the question whether the E3 ubiquitination activity of UHRF1 is required for DNA methylation only in specific cell types or defined stages of embryonic development. One experimental approach to address this question, could be to induce degradation of UHRF1 and other proteins involved at different stages during development using the auxin-inducible degron (AID)-Auxin (Nishimura et al., 2009) or degron Tag (dTag) (Nabet et al., 2018) system. This would allow the measurement of epigenetic marks, like ubiquitination, upon UHRF1 loss at different timepoints during development. Another approach could be the mutation or deletion of the UBL domain in different cell types or using a Cre-lox system to delete the UBL domain at different timepoints during mouse development. This experimental setup could answer when and if the E3 ubiquitination activity of UHRF1 is required for DNA methylation.

This complex regulation of UHRF1-DNMT1 shows that the interplay needs to be tightly controlled to act at different genomic regions at different timepoints. In addition,

DNMT1 was suggested to associate with non-replicating chromatin (Easwaran et al., 2004), but it remained unclear whether the UHRF1-DNMT1 tandem is also involved in *de novo* DNA methylation activity. Recently however, Haggerty and colleagues showed DNMT1 *de novo* activity at specific TEs, namely IAP elements, in a UHRF1-dependent manner (Haggerty et al., 2021). This fascinating finding brings up the following question: Which regulatory mechanisms of UHRF1-DNMT1 control the switch between maintenance and *de novo* methylation? UHRF1 seems to be recruited to TEs in a TRIM28 and H3K9me3 dependent manner (Haggerty et al., 2021). However, H3K9me3 is a pervasive mark at TEs and it remains elusive how UHRF1 is specifically targeted to IAP elements. It is intriguing to speculate, that zinc finger proteins, UHRF1 folding, PTMs or another epigenetic mechanism might individually or in combination control *de novo* methylation by DNMT1-UHRF1, to in the end silence ERVs at certain time points during embryonic development.

#### 5.2. DNA demethylation

Originally, prokaryotes used DNA methylation as a defense mechanism against viruses (Blow et al., 2016). The host genome becomes targeted by DNMTs to protect it from restriction enzymes, whereas foreign viral DNA is cleaved and destroyed by restriction enzymes (Bickle and Krüger, 1993). During evolution viruses adapted methylation such as 5mC to hide their invasive DNA from restriction enzymes, which in turn triggered the emergence of 5mC sensitive restriction enzymes in bacteria. In this ongoing battle between hosts and viruses new strategies and DNA modifications evolved. Bacteriophages were first to decorate their DNA with 5hmC to protect it from enzymatic digestion by the host's defense system (Bickle and Krüger, 1993). Today, we know that in eukaryotes 5hmC, 5fC and 5caC are part of an active DNA demethylation pathway by TET enzymes, TDG and BER (He et al., 2011; Ito et al., 2011; Tahiliani et al., 2009). At the same time, it is intriguing to speculate that 5hmC, 5fC and 5caC also evolved as a part of viral defense mechanisms (Deniz et al., 2019), similarly to 5mC, which is clearly linked to silencing parasitic viral elements (Walsh et al., 1998; Yoder et al., 1997), However, it remains widely elusive how and if the different steps during DNA demethylation are involved in the regulation of viral elements. This idea brings up some important questions: Why do mammals have two waves of DNA demethylation during early embryonic development? Does DNA demethylation harbor a risk for deficient virus activation, while ensuring genome plasticity? How did active and passive DNA demethylation evolve in mammals? Can the highly mutagenic nature of 5mC and other DNA modifications (Kamiya et al., 2002; Mahfoudhi et al., 2016; Supek et al., 2014; Tomkova and Schuster-Böckler, 2018; Xing et al., 2013) be a risk for a developing organism and could this be the reason for DNA hypomethylation during early embryonic development?

While germline mutations caused by DNA methylation can serve as an important driver of evolution, the deposition of 5mC generally harbors also a high mutagenic risk for (Tomkova and Schuster-Böckler, 2018). For example, harmful mutations heterozygous Tet1 mutant mice, that are hampered in DNA demethylation, accumulate mutations and face genome instability (Zhong et al., 2017). To avoid such instabilities, it is beneficial for an organism to control 5mC and 5hmC (Lindahl, 1993). Some organisms like Drosophila melanogaster and Caenorhabditis elegans even lost the DNA methylation machinery during evolution, most likely because of its high mutagenic cost (Goll and Bestor, 2005a; Simpson et al., 1986b; Urieli-Shoval et al., 1982). In pluripotent stem cells, mutagenesis can have severe consequences for body plan formation and lead to disease. In cancer, formerly methylated cytosine residues are one of the most common mutated sites in the genome (Tubbs and Nussenzweig, 2017). This might offer an explanation why methylated plant and animal genomes tend to show a depletion of CG sites (Tran et al., 2005; Zemach et al., 2010). Altogether, this suggests that to avoid mutagenesis, the zygotic embryo reduces the amount of DNA methylation and maintains a hypomethylated state until implantation and lineage specification.

In support of this hypothesis, mESCs are viable despite losing all DNMTs and TETs (Dawlaty et al., 2014; Li et al., 1992). This suggests that in a pluripotent state mammals reduce the risk of mutagenesis and genome instability by relying on other mechanisms to silence viral elements (Matsui et al., 2010; Rowe et al., 2010). In mESCs and PGCs, repressive histone modifications, mainly H3K9me3, are essential for TE silencing and mESCs viability (Liu et al., 2014b; Matsui et al., 2010; Rowe et al., 2010), whereas DNA methylation is dispensable for TE suppression in mESCs (Hutnick et al., 2010; Karimi et al., 2011; Matsui et al., 2010). A silencing pathway based on modified proteins might be beneficial in mESCs, because the DNA is not exposed to the

mutagenic instability of 5mC. Interestingly, upon differentiation, the mechanism of regulation switches and silencing of TE is regulated by DNA methylation (Bulut-Karslioglu et al., 2014; Karimi et al., 2011). At the same time, DNMT TKO and TET TKO mESCs face severe embryonic defects at later stages during development, which correlates with TE activation (Dawlaty et al., 2013, 2014; Lei et al., 1996; Li et al., 1992; Sakaue et al., 2010; Walsh et al., 1998). In summary, it is plausible that DNA demethylation evolved to reduce the risk of mutagenesis during critical steps of embryonic development, such as pluripotency and PGC development and at the same time caused the development of other mechanisms to silence TEs ensuring genome stability.

However, it remains elusive why DNA methylation is dispensable during pluripotency, but essential during embryogenesis. Why can histone based silencing mechanisms compensate for DNA methylation during pluripotency, but not during differentiation and in somatic tissue? And how is this mechanistic switch regulated? The genome of a pluripotent cell requires both at the same time, high plasticity and strict control to regulate the activation of essential viral elements (Fadloun et al., 2013; Macfarlan et al., 2012). In pluripotent stem cells and during PGC development, histone based silencing mechanisms control virus activation and genome plasticity, while the genome remains globally hypomethylated (Karimi et al., 2011; Macfarlan et al., 2012). But again, we do not know why other mechanisms than DNA methylation are the main regulator of TEs during toti- and pluripotency. One reason for this could be that histone based silencing might allow a more flexible and beneficial regulation of the genome then DNA methylation. However, we are currently lacking a comprehensive and systematic comparison of DNA methylation and histone based silencing.

One possibility to answer some open questions would be a CRISPR screen in TET TKO or DNMT TKO for novel proteins that affect self-renewal or viability. The functional switch between DNA methylation and histone based silencing might be explained by 5mC, 5hmC, 5fC and 5caC-sensitive or -insensitive proteins. TFs for example could maintain the pluripotency network to great parts without TETs and DNMTs at the blastocyst stage. Collectively, epigenetic regulation during embryonic development is very complex and while it is intriguing to speculate that DNA demethylation evolved to reduce the risk of mutagenesis at critical developmental timepoints, DNA demethylation and TET enzymes also acquired other important

functions during evolution. Studies describing the catalytic and non-catalytic functions of TET enzymes are numerous and diverse and will be discussed in the next chapter.

#### 5.2.1. TET enzymes - catalytic function

The discovery of active DNA demethylation by TET enzymes in mammals triggered a multitude of studies focusing on the role of DNA demethylation in development and disease (Wu and Zhang, 2014). TET-driven oxidation of 5mC can either lead to replication-dependent passive DNA demethylation (Inoue and Zhang, 2011) or 5fC and 5caC can be excised via TDG and BER, known as active DNA demethylation (Wu and Zhang, 2014). While 5fC (0.06 - 0.6% of 5mC) and 5caC (0.01% of 5mC) represent only a small fraction of chromatin, 5hmC (~5% of 5mC) makes up a significant proportion of chromatin (Ito et al., 2011; Pfaffeneder et al., 2011). The highest levels of 5hmC were found in mESC and in the brain (Szwagierczak et al., 2010). Besides being intermediates of active DNA demethylation, 5hmC and 5fC are also stable epigenetic marks (Bachman et al., 2014, 2015) and have individual reader proteins (Spruijt et al., 2013). At E3.5 the ICM of the blastocyst undergoes massive remethylation, but only little was known about the 5mC oxidation dynamics in this developmental time frame (Smith et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2014a). I have contributed to a study of our lab that identified increasing levels of 5mC, 5hmC, 5fC and 5caC during the transition from naive mESCs to mouse epiblast-like cells (mEpiLC) (Figure 9, Publication IV). In addition, the study discovered stage-specific contributions of individual TET enzymes. Whereas TET2 is required for large parts of the 5hmC production in naive mESCs and accounts for the majority of 5fC in both stages of pluripotency, TET1 is mainly responsible for 5hmC in mEpiLCs (Figure 9, Publication IV). These findings bring up two main questions. First, why do the levels of 5hmC, 5fC and 5caC increase in the ESC to EpiLCs transition? Second, how is the distinct oxidation preference of TET1 and TET2 regulated?



Figure 9. Dynamics of DNA modifications and stage specific contributions of TET1 and TET2 in naive mESCs and primed mEpiLCs. Illustration of relative levels of 5mC, 5hmC and 5fC in the transition from naive mESCs to primed mEpiLCs and the stage specific contributions of TET1 and TET2 to the oxidation of the individual DNA modifications. In naive mESCs TET2 is responsible for the majority of the 5hmC and 5fC production, whereas in primed mEpiLCs TET1 is the main driver of 5hmC production and TET2 remains critical for 5fC levels.

While TET enzymes are not essential for naive mESCs (Dai et al., 2016; Dawlaty et al., 2014), DNA demethylation activity of TETs plays an essential role in controlling Nodal signaling pathways during gastrulation (Dai et al., 2016; Gu et al., 2018b). Further, the loss of TET enzymes causes severe defects and lethality of postimplantation embryos (Dai et al., 2016; Dawlaty et al., 2014; Khoueiry et al., 2017). Yet, it remains unknown to what extent individual 5hmC, 5fC and 5caC levels contribute to the developing embryo upon implantation. Until today, numerous methods were developed to map 5hmC, 5fC and 5caC, which help to understand their function and role (Hon et al., 2014; Schutsky et al., 2018; Song et al., 2011; Sun et al., 2015; Wu et al., 2014; Zeng et al., 2019; Zhu et al., 2017). 5hmC is mostly enriched at gene bodies and enhancers of active genes (Tsagaratou et al., 2014) and 5fC is enriched at promoters and exons (Raiber et al., 2012). Several studies suggest that 5hmC levels correlate with chromatin accessibility and gene activity (Ficz et al., 2011; Mellén et al., 2012; Wu et al., 2014). In contrast, the genomic

abundance of 5caC is very low and even though there are methods to map 5caC (Lu et al., 2015; Wu et al., 2016), mapping remains technically challenging and genomewide studies are rare. Like 5hmC, 5fC also correlates with promoters of transcribed genes and active histone marks (He et al., 2021; Raiber et al., 2012; Zhu et al., 2017). However, it is not fully understood how 5hmC and 5fC dynamis contribute to differentiation. The discovery of an intermediate rosette-like cell state with elevated 5hmC levels that is present before the primed mEpiLC state is reached, further increases the complexity (Neagu et al., 2020). A recent study suggests that the oxidation to 5hmC is not sufficient for the transition to another cell state and that TET enzymes mainly drive oxidation towards 5fC/5caC and promote rapid DNA demethylation (Caldwell et al., 2021). In addition, several studies reported that TET driven DNA demethylation is important to counteract DNMT3A/B de novo methylation (Dai et al., 2016; Ginno et al., 2020; Gu et al., 2018b; Manzo et al., 2017). These findings suggest that 5hmC, 5fC and 5caC are in the first place intermediates for active DNA demethylation. However, the question remains whether the DNA demethylation via TDB/BER is essential or whether 5hmC and 5fC execute an important function upon implantation and lineage specification. For example, 5hmC is found at high levels in the brain and imbalances of 5hmC are closely linked to brain disorders (Azizgolshani et al., 2021; Globisch et al., 2010; Mellén et al., 2012; Song et al., 2011; Szulwach et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2012). It will be an fascinating task to study whether 5hmC patterns set during implantation are defining neuronal cell identity. Here the recent development of in vitro cell culturing systems (Aguilera-Castrejon et al., 2021; Beccari et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2021b), together with imaging and single cell technology (Stuart and Satija, 2019) will allow the study of those DNA modifications and enables the tracking of respective cell identities in the early embryo.

The second question arising from our data is, why TET1 is critical for 5hmC production in primed mEpiLCs, whereas TET2 is responsible in naive mESCs and how this switch is regulated. The N-terminus of TET2 lacks the chromatin binding parts of TET1 and its chromatin affinity and oxidation activity seems to be regulated by IDAX4 (Ko et al., 2013). Interestingly, the catalytic activity of TET1 does not correlate with chromatin binding (Zhang et al., 2016b). This indicates that other factors regulate the stage specific contribution of TET1 and TET2 towards 5mC oxidation, like Spalt Like Transcription Factor 4 (SALL4) (Xiong et al., 2016) or 5hmC reader 5-Hydroxymethylcytosine Binding, ES Cell Specific (HMCES) for example (Spruijt et al., 2013). HMCES associates with TET1 (Publication I) and is proposed to be a regulator of different repair pathways (Halabelian et al., 2019). Besides the association with different proteins, the supposedly greater catalytic activity of TET2 might be explained by a higher mobility of TET2 compared to TET1 in mESCs (Ryan, 2020). However, detailed structural analysis and dissecting the interaction networks of TET1 and TET2 in the transition from naive mESCs to mEpiLC are needed in order to explain TET1 and TET2 and TET2 oxidation preferences.

#### 5.2.2. TET enzymes - non-catalytic function

Since their discovery the role and significance of TET enzymes for embryonic development remain contradictory. While Dawlaty et al. reported embryonic viability upon loss of TET1 or TET2 (Dawlaty et al., 2011, 2013), Khoueiry et al. described severe embryonic defects for Tet1 KO mice (Khoueiry et al., 2017). Interestingly, Khoueiry et al. explain the difference to previous mouse models with a hypomorphic deletion of the *Tet1* gene, which still allows the expression of the TET1 N-terminus. Further, they demonstrate that non-catalytic functions of TET1 are essential for embryonic development. However, in the last decade the majority of studies focused on describing the catalytic activity of TET enzymes and a detailed analysis of noncatalytic functions was lacking. This doctoral work describes novel non-catalytic functions and mechanisms of TET1 in mESCs (Publication I). I found that TET1 regulates gene and ERV expression independent of DNA demethylation. Further, I identified TET1 as a regulator of various histone modifications and as an interaction hub of multiple chromatin modifying complexes (Publication I). While the interaction with SIN3A and PRC2 accounts for most of the transcriptional changes observed in Tet1 KO mESCs (Publication I) (Chrysanthou et al., 2022a), it cannot explain all transcriptional and histone modification changes observed. We found that, besides SIN3A and PRC2, TET1 associates with multiple chromatin modifying complexes. Some were already described to interact with TET1, like Glutamine And Serine Rich 1 (QSER1) (Dixon et al., 2021) and Non-POU Domain Containing Octamer Binding (NONO) (Li et al., 2020), but others are unknown and interesting targets to further dissect non-catalytic mechanisms of TET1.



Figure 10. Potential non-catalytic mechanisms of TET1 with associated proteins from a TET1 chromatin IP (Publication I). a) Proposed model of TET1 regulating mitotic inheritance of repressive histone marks. At the DNA replication fork, TET1 might facilitate the inheritance of H3K27me3 by the histone chaperone NPM1 and thereby foster the propagation of H3K27me3 to naive nucleosomes. b) Proposed model of TET1 regulating the complex composition of SIN3A-RBBP4/7-HDAC1/2. TET1 might compete with HDAC1/2 for the binding of RBBP4/7 and controls acetylation of the H4 tail. c) Proposed model of TET1 regulating chromatin accessibility. The interaction of TET1 with the H4K16 acetyltransferase MOF might

directly or indirectly recruit BPTF to doubly-modified nucleosomes and might regulate chromatin accessibility.

TET1 associates with core proteins (EED, SUZ12, EZH2) of the PRC2 complex (Publication I). The interaction and interplay of TET1 with PRC2 regulates developmental genes in mESCs (Publication I) (Chrysanthou et al., 2022a; Gu et al., 2018b). Different studies suggest that TET1 counteracts the methylation activity of DNMT3A/B to regulate PRC2 at developmental genes (Ginno et al., 2020; Gu et al., 2018b; Manzo et al., 2017). In contrast, this doctoral work and the work of others now shows that PRC2 and the deposition of H3K27me3 is controlled by catalytically independent mechanisms of TET1 (Publication I) (Chrysanthou et al., 2022a; Wu et al., 2011). Through its interaction with the core components of the PRC2 complex (SUZ12/EZH2/EED), TET1 facilitates the recruitment of PRC2 directly to target genes (Publication I) (Chrysanthou et al., 2022a; Wu et al., 2011). However, TET1 binds multiple genomic sites (Williams et al., 2011) and it remains elusive how TET1 recruits PRC2 specifically only to developmental genes. The chromatin IP data of TET1 revealed that TET1 associates with the histone chaperone Nucleophosmin 1 (NPM1). which was recently shown to regulate H3K27me3 at PRC2 target genes across replication (Escobar et al., 2022). At the same time the chromatin IP data identified minichromosome maintenance complex component 3 (MCM3) and origin recognition complex subunit 2 (ORC2) to associate with TET1 (Publication I). Both are essential components of the DNA replication machinery (Bleichert et al., 2015, 2017; Madine et al., 1995) and this suggests that TET1 might localize to the replication fork. In addition, the loss of NPM1 and TET1 in mESCs triggers a delay in G1 phase (Chrysanthou et al., 2022b; Escobar et al., 2022). Every round of DNA replication also entails the maintenance of repressive chromatin marks and can have a huge impact on the transcriptional program and cell identity (Escobar et al., 2021). Together, these findings propose that TET1 cooperates with NPM1 in regulating the inheritance of H3K27me3 during S-phase at developmental genes (Figure 10a). To test this hypothesis, TET1 could be degraded using the AID-Auxin (Nishimura et al., 2009) or dTag (Nabet et al., 2018) system to compare the direct effects of TET1 on H3K27me3. Using the AID-Auxin system, NPM1 is completely degraded after 4-6h and H3K27me3 levels are significantly reduced (Escobar et al., 2022). Genome-wide H3K27me3 analysis and cell cycle measurements at different timepoints after degradation could

be used to explore the functional relationship between NPM1, TET1 and chromatin replication.

The association with the histone chaperone NPM1 during replication offers the possibility of a striking mechanism for the regulation of the repressive chromatin mark H3K27me3. However, the loss of TET1 also leads to a global reduction of pH4Kac, a chromatin mark associated with transcriptional activation. Currently, we assume that only repressive and not active histone marks can be maintained throughout mitosis (Escobar et al., 2019). This indicates that the global acetylation dynamics and pH4Kac loss in Tet1 KO mESCs are controlled by mechanisms independent of replication. In the TET1 chromatin IP data, TET1 also associates with the histone chaperones Retinoblastoma-Binding Protein 4 (RBBP4) and RBBP7. In mESCs RBBP4/7 form a repressive deacetylation complex together with SIN3A, HDAC1 and HDAC2 (Silverstein and Ekwall, 2005). Interestingly in iPSCs, TET1 and HDAC2 are competing for the binding of RBBP4 and the loss of TET1 triggers global H4 deacetylation (Wei et al., 2015). This proposes that upon loss of TET1, HDAC2 is enriched in RBBP4 containing complexes and induces global deacetylation of pH4Kac. In mESCs the competition between TET1 and HDAC1/2 might regulate the complex composition and therefore the deacetylation activity of the SIN3A/HDAC complex (Figure 10b). To test this hypothesis, RBBP4/7 could be tagged and immunoprecipitated in WT and Tet1 KO mESCs to study whether RBBP4/7 are enriched for HDAC1/2, explaining the global deacetylation phenotype.

Besides the association with different histone chaperones, TET1 also associates with the chromatin remodeler Bromodomain PHD-finger Transcription Factor (BPTF) (Publication I). BPTF is the largest subunit of the NURF chromatin remodeling complex (Barak et al., 2003) and *Bptf* KO mice die shortly after implantation (Landry et al., 2008). Similar to TET1, BPTF is required for the trophectoderm specification (Goller et al., 2008) and the loss causes the differentiation to mesoderm and endoderm lineages (Landry et al., 2008). BPTF can specifically bind double modified nucleosomes carrying H3K4me3 and H4K16ac (Ruthenburg et al., 2011). Strikingly, TET1 is described to regulate H4K16ac in mESCs by controlling the auto-acetylation activity of the acetyltransferase Males absent on the first (MOF) (Zhong et al., 2017). TET1 regulating H4K16ac is in accordance with the global loss of pH4Kac and offers a potential pathway for a functional interplay with BPTF (Publication 10c). However, Zhong et al. used solely *in vitro* studies to investigate the functional relationship

between MOF and TET1. Further, MOF was not identified to associate with TET1 in the chromatin IP data (Publication I). This could have several reasons, but suggests that the interaction between TET1 and MOF is more complex. To test whether TET1 regulates MOF, H4K16ac and thereby BPTF/NURF activity, quantitative ChIP-seq and mass spectrometry approaches could be used to study H4K16ac levels in Tet1 KO mESCs. To further dissect the potential crosstalk between BPTF, MOF and TET1, a detailed analysis of the H4K16ac and BPTF binding patterns in WT and Tet1 KO mESCs would give first correlative information. Next, fluorescent mESC lines of BPTF and TET1 in combination with high resolution live cell imaging could provide information about colocalization dynamics in mESCs and during differentiation. The tagged cell lines could be further used for mass spectrometry to study the NURF complex composition in a Tet1 KO background.

In summary, it became clear that TET1 has important non-catalytic functions in mESCs, yet the potential mechanisms seem to be numerous and diverse. Future systematic studies will be needed to dissect the non-catalytic mechanisms of TET1. In addition, the primary use of TET knock-outs and the lack of TET catalytic mutant studies bears the need to revisit the already described functions of TET enzymes in development and disease. It will be an intriguing task for the future to decipher the non-catalytic functions of TET enzymes at different stages during development and their implications for disease and medical applications.

#### 5.2.3. TET1 and retroviral silencing

DNA methylation evolved as a defense mechanism against viruses in bacteria (Blow et al., 2016). During embryonic development, DNMT1 KO mouse embryos are lethal after 8.5 days and the severe phenotype is coupled to the loss of DNA methylation and the activation of ERVK elements (Grosswendt et al., 2020; Li et al., 1992; Walsh et al., 1998). However, mESCs without DNMT1 are viable and the loss of DNA methylation only leads to a modest activation of retroviruses (Lei et al., 1996; Matsui et al., 2010). In addition, loss of DNMT1 in primordial germ cells does not lead to an upregulation of ERVs, suggesting alternative silencing mechanisms at certain time points of development (Liu et al., 2014b; Walsh et al., 1998). In mammalian germ cells and early embryonic development silencing of ERVs is mediated by mechanisms entailing the deposition of H3K9me3 by TRIM28-SETDB1 (Liu et al., 2014b; Matsui et al., 2014b; Matsui

al., 2010; Rowe et al., 2010). The deletion of DNMT1 or DNMT3A/B has no effect on H3K9me3 in mESCs, showing that TRIM28-SETDB1 are the predominant ERV silencing mechanism during pluripotency (Lehnertz et al., 2003). We found that TET1, independent of DNA demethylation activity, but together with SIN3A regulates ERV expression in mESCs (Figure 11a, Publication I). Altogether, this raises several questions: What is the precise role and mechanism of TET1 in ERV silencing? Why is TRIM28-SETDB1 the predominant silencing mechanism in mESCs and PGCs? Why is DNA methylation the main ERV silencing mechanism in differentiated cells?

The expression of specific retroviruses, like ERVL elements, is critical for embryonic development and regulates networks of embryonic marker genes (Macfarlan et al., 2012). TRIM28-SETDB1 silencing might allow greater genome plasticity to regulate ERV expression, whereas DNA methylation serves as a stable silencing mechanism in differentiated cells. This would require histone modifications to have a higher turnover rate than DNA methylation. Historically, histone acetylation is received as highly dynamic and today we know that all histone modifications are reversible to some extent (Millán-Zambrano et al., 2022). The turnover rate of histone acetylation ranges from 2 to 40 min (Waterborg, 2002), while H3K9me3 is completely demethylated in 2h (Liu et al., 2017). Global DNA demethylation with a certain significance in human cells occurs after 2h (Yamagata et al., 2012) and demethylation at single genes was observed even after 20 min (Lucarelli et al., 2001). Altogether, the reported turnover rates of histone modifications and DNA methylation are rather similar and can not explain why H3K9me3 is the dominant epigenetic silencing mechanism for ERVs in mESCs and PGCs. However, a systematic quantification of histone modification and DNA methylation turnover rates in a developmental context is missing.

While we cannot conclude that the histone modification turnover rates are important for genome plasticity, we know that histone methylation and acetylation are crucial marks of epigenetic regulation (Rice and Allis, 2001). This doctoral work proposes that TET1-SIN3A/HDAC deacetylation at ERV regions is necessary for TRIM28-SETDB1 to place H3K9me3 (Figure 11a, Publication I). The hypothesis is that the H3K9 deacetylation is crucial for H3K9me3 installation and subsequent silencing. To test the hypothesis, dCas9 fused to HDAC1/2 could be targeted to specific upregulated ERVs in Tet1 KO mESCs. The removal of H3K9ac at targeted ERVs should allow the installation of H3K9me3 and the subsequent ERV repression. While this doctoral work is lacking direct mechanistic proof, the loss of H3K9me3 might explain the dissociation

of HP1 proteins and the reduction of H4K20me3 in Tet1 KO mESCs (Publication I). However, the strong global effects on HP1 localization and H4K20me3 levels suggests that also other epigenetic mechanisms are involved. The chromatin IP of TET1 identified the kinase Aurora B, which phosphorylates H3S10 subsequently evicting HP1 proteins from chromatin (Fischle et al., 2005; Hirota et al., 2005). Interestingly, preliminary analysis suggests that H3S10P is enriched in Tet1 KO mESCs in our histone modifications LC-MS/MS dataset from Publication I (Figure 11b). Further, H3S10P is well established as a mitotic mark and TET1 is described to regulate mitotic gene expression (Yamaguchi et al., 2012). These findings suggest that TET1 could directly regulate the kinase activity of Aurora B (Figure 11b) or indirectly via controlling mitotic gene networks. Future studies need to verify a direct interaction of TET1 and Aurora B, for example by performing co-immunoprecipitation and a kinase activity assay. Although still elusive at the moment, a functional interplay of TET1 and Aurora B could be an interesting study subject and an explanation for the global HP1 delocalization and H4K20me3 loss in Tet1 KO mESCs. As discussed, the mechanism by which TET1 is involved in heterochromatin formation and specific ERV regulation remains to be further characterized and will be a fascinating topic for future research.



**Figure 11.** Potential non-catalytic mechanisms of TET1 in ERV regulation. a) Proposed model of TET1 regulating heterochromatin formation and ERV silencing independent of DNA demethylation. In wild-type mESCs, TET1 facilitates the deacetylation of H3K9ac by SIN3A-HDAC1/2. The deacetylated H3K9 is recognized by KRAB-Znf, which recruits TRIM28/KAP1 and the H3K9 methyltransferase SETDB1. HP1 proteins bind H3K9me3, recruit SUV39h and SUV4-20 for the installation of H3K9me3 and H4K20me3, leading to subsequent heterochromatin spreading and ERV silencing. In Tet1 KO mESCs SIN3A-HDAC1/2 cannot deacetylate H3K9ac at ERV elements, inhibiting heterochromatin formation and causing ERV activation. b) Relative levels of H3S10P measured by LC-MS/MS in WT, Tet1 KO and Tet1 CM mESCs (data from Publication I, plot created from Andrey Tvardovskiy) and proposed model of TET1 and AURORA B regulating HP1 recruitment.

#### 5.3. RNA methylation

#### 5.3.1. METTL enzymes in development and disease

m<sup>6</sup>A contributes to multiple cellular processes and is present on mRNA, spliceosomal RNA, non-coding RNA and 18S and 28S rRNA (He and He, 2021). In human rRNA only two m<sup>6</sup>A sites exist, in 18S rRNA at position A1832 and in 28S rRNA at position A4220. We and others identified METTL5 as the RNA methyltransferase required for m<sup>6</sup>A formation at position A1832 (Publication V) (van Tran et al., 2019; Xing et al., 2020). In a collaborative project I contributed to describe the importance of METTL5 for animal development, translation, pluripotency and differentiation (Publication V). However, the study lacks direct evidence that the observed phenotypes are the cause of impaired m<sup>6</sup>A formation in 18S rRNA. The multiple drastic phenotypes upon METTL5 loss rather suggest additional functions besides 18S rRNA methylation. In the fractionation assays, 18S rRNA was the predominant RNA species losing m<sup>6</sup>A in METTL5 KO cells, yet the experiment was performed on total RNA and it is possible that METTL5 also methylates other RNA species. To note, m<sup>6</sup>A is the most abundant modification on mRNA (Roundtree et al., 2017) and other METTL enzymes are involved in m<sup>6</sup>A formation on mRNA (Wong and Eirin-Lopez, 2021). A complex of METTL3/METTL14 for example regulates m<sup>6</sup>A formation on mRNA of the pluripotency genes Nanog, Klf2, Sox2 and Zfp42 (Batista et al., 2014; Geula et al., 2015). Generally, METTL enzymes have been shown to be involved in pluripotency and differentiation. METTL8 inhibits c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) pathway (Gu et al., 2018a) and METTL16 is involved in splicing (Mendel et al., 2018; Pendleton et al., 2017), both are important for differentiation. The loss of m<sup>6</sup>A in METTL3 KO mESCs increases mRNA stability and translation leading to "hyperpluripotency" of mESCs (Batista et al., 2014; Geula et al., 2015). Interestingly, upon loss of METTL5 we observed the opposing phenotype to METTL3 KO mESCs. The loss of METTL5 causes a downregulation of core pluripotency markers and a differentiated morphology of mESCs (Publication V). In a next step, it will be intriguing to study whether METTL5 also methylates transcripts of core pluripotency genes and whether methylation of rRNA affects pluripotency. To test this WT and METTL5 KO mESCs can be compared

using m<sup>6</sup>A sequencing (m<sup>6</sup>A-seq) (Dominissini et al., 2012). Moreover, depending on different reader proteins, m6A methylation can increase or decrease the transcript stability (Roundtree et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2014b). To study the effects of METTL5 on mRNA stability, mESCs can be treated with Actinomycin D to stop RNA synthesis and the amount of RNA can be measured by RT-qPCR. In METTL5 KO mESCs pluripotency genes are downregulated (Publication V), suggesting that m<sup>6</sup>A sites targeted by METTL5 promotes transcript stability. Interestingly, m<sup>6</sup>A formation by METTL3 has the opposite effect and causes mRNA instability (Batista et al., 2014; Geula et al., 2015). METTL3 and METTL5 might target different m<sup>6</sup>A sites and/or associate with different reader proteins promoting or decreasing RNA stability. It is tempting to speculate that METTL3 and METTL5 thereby coordinate the balance between pluripotency and differentiation.

In another collaborative study I contributed to identify METTL6 as a tRNA<sup>Ser</sup>-specific 3-methylcytidine (m3C) methyltransferase (Publication VI). The loss of METTL6 in mESCs causes impaired pluripotency and promotes the differentiation towards endodermal lineages (Publication VI). METTL6 KO mice have metabolic defects but develop normally (Publication VI), which suggests that other enzymes like METTL2 (Xu et al., 2017) compensate for the loss of METTL6 during embryonic development. However, the question remains how m3C methylation of tRNA<sup>Ser</sup> isoacceptors promotes specific lineages and expression of pluripotency factors. Interestingly, the loss of METTL6 leads to an increase in mRNA abundance and ribosome occupancy of lineage marker genes like Nodal, Fgf4 and Pdgfa, but also of epigenetic enzymes like *Dnmt3b*. The upregulation of the *de novo* methyltransferase DNMT3B is in fact a hallmark of lineage priming (Publication IV). It will be interesting to study whether METTL6 directly regulates DNMT3B in mESCs or whether this is a secondary effect upon METTL6 loss. Of note, increased ribosome occupancy correlates with higher mRNA abundance and is not necessarily directly caused by the loss of tRNAs (Publication VI) (Chou et al., 2017; Thompson et al., 2016). Therefore, future studies will have to show if biological secondary effects cause the differentiation phenotype in METTL6 KO mESCs and whether m3C methylation of tRNA<sup>Ser</sup> isoacceptors is directly involved in regulating the balance between pluripotency and differentiation.

While the catalytic activity of METTL enzymes is heavily studied, they also harbor the potential of catalytically independent functions. This accounts also for the group of METTL enzymes. METTL3 for instance was shown to also have non-catalytic

functions and can act as a scaffold for other proteins (Lin et al., 2016). Additionally, METTL3 can promote translation independent of its catalytic activity by recruiting translation initiation factors (Lin et al., 2016). This finding highlights the importance of including catalytic mutants into future studies to identify potential mechanisms beyond the enzymatic function of RNA modifiers. It is intriguing to speculate that METTL5 and METTL6 might also harbor functions independent of their RNA methyltransferase activity. In general, the detailed mechanisms of METTL5 and METTL6 in a developing embryo remain widely unclear. The impact of RNA modifications on pluripotency and differentiation is a fascinating study subject and future studies will shed light on the impact of METTL proteins and RNA modifications on development and disease.

## 5.4. Crosstalk - Histones, DNA methylation and RNA modifications

Until today, the majority of studies have described and reported about the catalytic functions of TET1 during development and disease. However, the main focus of this doctoral work was to dissect the non-catalytic functions of TET1 in mESCs. I have found that TET1 regulates chromatin, gene and ERV expression independent of DNA demethylation (Publication I). Further, I have identified TET1 as an epigenetic hub and regulator of the histone modification landscape, which correlates with the gene and ERV expression (Publication I). Despite the important non-catalytic functions of TET1 described in this doctoral work, TET1 also regulates the expression of important developmental genes, like Dppa3 and Lefty via active DNA demethylation (Publication III) (Dai et al., 2016). Astonishingly, the catalytic activity of TET enzymes is not limited to DNA, but TET-mediated 5hmC also occurs on mRNA, regulating RNA stability of developmental genes (Fu et al., 2014; Lan et al., 2020). Altogether, TET1 is an incredibly versatile epigenetic player which can regulate DNA modifications, RNA modifications, histone modifications and can serve as a scaffold protein for different epigenetic modifiers. The example of TET1 perfectly demonstrates that epigenetic processes are tightly connected and that the crosstalk of epigenetic marks can be highly complex. Today, the rise of genome-wide studies more and more reveals the complex crosstalk among those epigenetic marks (Janssen and Lorincz, 2022). In the

scope of this doctoral work I studied epigenetic processes at the level of DNA, RNA and histone modifications.

TET1 regulates H3K9me3 levels at ERVs and global H4K20me3 levels (Publication I) and interestingly, DNMT1 activity at TEs was recently shown to be regulated by binding of H3K9me3 and H4K20me3 (Ren et al., 2020, 2021). Together these findings suggest a mechanism how TET1 indirectly regulates DNA methylation, namely via histone modifications and without direct DNA demethylation activity. While DNA methylation and H3K9me3 are important regulators of TEs (Janssen and Lorincz, 2022), RNA modifications and RNA-mediated mechanisms also play an important role in TE silencing. In mammals, small RNAs programme P-Element induced wimpy testis (Piwi) proteins to control TE expression (Aravin et al., 2007) and are considered to induce de novo DNA methylation (Aravin et al., 2008). In mESCs and in the male germline, TE-specific antisense transcripts can counteract the expression of TEs (Berrens et al., 2017) and tRNA-derived fragments (tRFs) can regulate specific ERVs (Schorn et al., 2017). Even more severe seems to be the effect of RNA modifications on TE transcripts. Recent studies show that m<sup>6</sup>A levels control the stability and abundance of ERVs and LINE1 RNA in mESCs (Chelmicki et al., 2021; Liu et al., 2021a; Wei et al., 2022; Xu et al., 2021). The main function of m<sup>6</sup>A is to control the RNA halflife of viral transcripts (Chelmicki et al., 2021). However, the RNA methyltransferase METTL3 can also directly interact with SETDB1 and TRIM28 and recruits them to IAP elements (Xu et al., 2021). The latest findings suggest that RNA modifications and RNA modifiers can control TE activity on a transcript level, but also by directly inducing H3K9me3-mediated heterochromatin formation. In total, the silencing of TE is mediated by DNA, RNA and histone modifications. In mESCs, DNA methylation and H3K9me3 seem to control distinct sets of TEs (Karimi et al., 2011), yet it is unclear which TEs are silenced by the different RNA mechanisms and how they are coordinated with DNA and histone modifications. The crosstalk of epitranscriptomics and epigenetics is not restricted to TEs, but is part of many biological processes (Kan et al., 2022). Importantly, epigenetics events like global DNA hypomethylation, GpG island hypermethylation and loss of specific histone marks are hallmarks of cancer (Fahrner et al., 2002; Fraga et al., 2005; Nguyen et al., 2002; Nishiyama and Nakanishi, 2021). Different RNA modifications and modifiers are also deregulated and hijacked by cancer cells (Jonkhout et al., 2017; Li et al., 2017; Liu et al., 2021c; Su et al., 2018). This raises the question how and whether the interplay of epigenetic marks is linked to the development of various types of disease. Taking into account the close interplay among those epigenetic marks, it will be an important task to decipher the mechanistic interaction between enzymes, DNA, RNA and histone modifications to understand their implications for fundamental biological processes and future drug development.

#### 6. Declaration of contributions as a co-author

## Critical Role of the UBL Domain in Stimulating the E3 Ubiquitin Ligase Activity of UHRF1 toward Chromatin.

This study was designed and conceived by Ben Foster and Till Bartke. Paul Stolz created stable UHRF1 mutant cell lines using CRISPR/Cas, cultured embryonic stem cells, performed Immunofluorescence experiments, analyzed data and contributed to writing the manuscript.

## Recent evolution of a TET-controlled and DPPA3/STELLA-driven pathway of passive DNA demethylation in mammals.

This study was designed and conceived by Christopher B. Mulholland, Sebastian Bultmann and Heinrich Leonhardt. Paul Stolz helped with cell line validation and performed fluorescence microscopy analysis.

## Distinct and stage-specific contributions of TET1 and TET2 to stepwise cytosine oxidation in the transition from naive to primed pluripotency.

This study was designed and conceived by Christopher B. Mulholland, Sebastian Bultmann and Heinrich Leonhardt. Paul Stolz helped to culture embryonic stem cells and performed western blot experiments to validate the expression levels of the different TET proteins.

## The rRNA m6A methyltransferase METTL5 is involved in pluripotency and developmental programs.

This study was designed and conceived by Valentina Ignatova and Robert Schneider. Paul Stolz generated stable METTL5 knock-out embryonic stem cells using CRISPR/Cas, performed differentiation experiments, studied the pluripotency phenotype and analyzed data.

## METTL6 is a tRNA m3C methyltransferase that regulates pluripotency and tumor cell growth.

This study was designed and conceived by Valentina Ignatova and Robert Schneider. Paul Stolz generated stable METTL6 knock-out embryonic stem cells using CRISPR/Cas, performed embryoid body differentiation and studied the pluripotency phenotype.

Paul Stolz

Heinrich Leonhardt

#### 7. Abbreviations

20G	2-oxoglutarate
5caC	5-carboxylcytosine
5fC	5-formylcytosine
5hmC	5-hydroxmethylcytosine
5hmU	5-hydroxymethyluracil
5mC	5-methylcytosine
6mA	6-methyladenine
аа	Amino acid
AID	Auxin-inducible degron
BER	Base excision repair
bp	Base pair
BPTF	Bromodomain PHD-finger Transcription Factor
Cas	CRISPR associated
CENP-A	Centromere Protein A
ChIP	Chromatin Immunoprecipitation
СМ	Catalytic mutant
CNS	Central nervous system
CpG	Cytosine-phosphate bond-guanine
CRISPR	Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats
crRNA	CRISPR-RNA
dCas9	Dead Cas9
dTag	Degron tag
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DMD	Duchenne muscular dystrophy
DME	5mC DNA glycosylase
DNMT	DNA methyltransferase

dNTPs	Desoxy nucleosidtriphosphat
DPPA3	Developmental pluripotency-associated protein 3
DSB	Double-strand break
E	Embryonic day
ERV	Endogenous retrovirus
Fe(II)	Iron(II)
H1	Histone 1
H2A	Histone 2A
H2B	Histone 2B
H3	Histone 3
H4	Histone 4
HC	Heterochromatin
HDAC	Histone deacetylase
HDR	Homology directed repair
HMCES	5-Hydroxymethylcytosine Binding, ES Cell Specific
HP1	Heterochromatin Protein 1
hTRM9L	tRNA methyltransferase 9-like
IAP	Intracisternal A-particle
ICM	Inner cell mass
kb	kilobase
KRAB-Znf	Krüppel-associated box domain zinc finger
LC-MS	Liquid chromatography - mass spectrometry
LIG1	DNA Ligase 1
LINE	Long interspersed nuclear elements
m <sup>6</sup> A	N6-methyladenosine
m <sup>7</sup> G	N <sup>7</sup> -methylguanosine
МСМЗ	Minichromosome maintenance complex component 3
mEpiLC	Mouse epiblast-like cells
mESC	Mouse embryonic stem cell

METTL	Methyltransferase-like
MLL	Mixed lineage leukemia
MOF	Males absent on the first
mRNA	Messenger RNA
NGS	Next generation sequencing
NHEJ	Non-homologous end joining
NONO	Non-POU Domain Containing Octamer Binding
NPM1	Nucleophosmin 1
NSC	Neural stem cell
NSUN2	NOP2/Sun RNA methyltransferase 2
N-terminus	Amino-terminus
OGT	O-linked N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase
ORC2	Origin recognition complex subunit 2
PAM	Protospacer adjacent motifs
PAF15	PCNA-associated factor of 15 kDa
PCNA	Proliferating cell nuclear antigen
PRC2	Polycomb Repressive Complex 2
PGC	Primordial germ cell
PHD	Plant homeodomain
piRNA	PIWI-interacting RNA
PTM	Post-translational modification
QSER1	Glutamine and Serin Rich 1
RBBP	Retinoblastoma-Binding Protein
RING	Really interesting new gene
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
ROS1	Repressor of silencing 1
RP	Retinitis pigmentosa
rRNA	Ribosomal RNA
SALL4	Spalt Like Transcription Factor 4

SHERLOCK	Specific High Sensitivity Enzymatic Reporter Unlocking
SIN3A	SIN3 Transcription Regulator Family Member A
snRNA	Small nuclear RNA
SRA	SET- and RING-associated
SUV39h	Suppressor of variegation 3-9 homolog
SUV4-20	Suppressor of variegation 4-20
TALENS	Transcription activator-like effectors
TDG	Thymine DNA glycosylase
TE	Transposable element
TET	Ten-eleven-translocation
TET3o	TET3 oocyte
TET3s	Short TET3
TF	Transcription factor
ТКО	Triple knockout
TRIM28/KAP1	Tripartite Motif Containing 28/KRAB-associated protein-1
tRNA	Transfer RNA
TTD	Tandem tudor
TTR	Transthyretin
UBL	Ubiquitin-like
UHRF1	Ubiquitin-like containing PHD and RING finger domains 1
VP64	VP16 activation domain
WGBS	Whole genome bisulfite sequencing
WT	Wild-type
ZFNs	Zinc-finger nucleases

#### 8. References

Abbasi-Moheb, L., Mertel, S., Gonsior, M., Nouri-Vahid, L., Kahrizi, K., Cirak, S., Wieczorek, D., Motazacker, M.M., Esmaeeli-Nieh, S., Cremer, K., et al. (2012). Mutations in NSUN2 cause autosomal-recessive intellectual disability. Am. J. Hum. Genet. *90*, 847–855.

Abudayyeh, O.O., Gootenberg, J.S., Konermann, S., Joung, J., Slaymaker, I.M., Cox, D.B.T., Shmakov, S., Makarova, K.S., Semenova, E., Minakhin, L., et al. (2016). C2c2 is a single-component programmable RNA-guided RNA-targeting CRISPR effector. Science *353*, aaf5573.

Aguilera-Castrejon, A., Oldak, B., Shani, T., Ghanem, N., Itzkovich, C., Slomovich, S., Tarazi, S., Bayerl, J., Chugaeva, V., Ayyash, M., et al. (2021). Ex utero mouse embryogenesis from pregastrulation to late organogenesis. Nature *593*, 119–124.

Alderman, M.H., and Xiao, A.Z. (2019). N(6)-Methyladenine in eukaryotes. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences *76*, 2957–2966. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-019-03146-w.

Allan, J., Cowling, G.J., Harborne, N., Cattini, P., Craigie, R., and Gould, H. (1981). Regulation of the higher-order structure of chromatin by histones H1 and H5. J. Cell Biol. *90*, 279–288.

Amoasii, L., Hildyard, J.C.W., Li, H., Sanchez-Ortiz, E., Mireault, A., Caballero, D., Harron, R., Stathopoulou, T.-R., Massey, C., Shelton, J.M., et al. (2018). Gene editing restores dystrophin expression in a canine model of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Science *362*, 86–91. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aau1549.

An, N., Fleming, A.M., White, H.S., and Burrows, C.J. (2015). Nanopore detection of 8-oxoguanine in the human telomere repeat sequence. ACS Nano 9, 4296–4307.

Anderson, B.R., Muramatsu, H., Jha, B.K., Silverman, R.H., Weissman, D., and Karikó, K. (2011). Nucleoside modifications in RNA limit activation of 2'-5'-oligoadenylate synthetase and increase resistance to cleavage by RNase L. Nucleic Acids Res. *39*, 9329–9338.

Anton, T., Karg, E., and Bultmann, S. (2018). Applications of the CRISPR/Cas system beyond gene editing. Biol Methods Protoc *3*, bpy002.

Aravin, A.A., Sachidanandam, R., Girard, A., Fejes-Toth, K., and Hannon, G.J. (2007). Developmentally Regulated piRNA Clusters Implicate MILI in Transposon Control. Science *316*, 744–747. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1142612.

Aravin, A.A., Sachidanandam, R., Bourc'his, D., Schaefer, C., Pezic, D., Toth, K.F., Bestor, T., and Hannon, G.J. (2008). A piRNA Pathway Primed by Individual Transposons Is Linked to De Novo DNA Methylation in Mice. Molecular Cell *31*, 785–799. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2008.09.003.

Arita, K., Ariyoshi, M., Tochio, H., Nakamura, Y., and Shirakawa, M. (2008). Recognition of hemimethylated DNA by the SRA protein UHRF1 by a base-flipping mechanism. Nature *455*, 818–821. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07249.

Arita, K., Isogai, S., Oda, T., Unoki, M., Sugita, K., Sekiyama, N., Kuwata, K., Hamamoto, R., Tochio, H., Sato, M., et al. (2012a). Recognition of modification status on a histone H3 tail by linked histone reader modules of the epigenetic regulator UHRF1. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences *109*, 12950–12955. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1203701109.

Arita, K., Isogai, S., Oda, T., Unoki, M., Sugita, K., Sekiyama, N., Kuwata, K., Hamamoto, R., Tochio, H., Sato, M., et al. (2012b). Recognition of modification status on a histone H3 tail by linked histone reader modules of the epigenetic regulator UHRF1. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *109*, 12950–12955.

Azizgolshani, N., Petersen, C.L., Chen, Y., Levy, J.J., Salas, L.A., Perreard, L., Nguyen, L.N., and Christensen, B.C. (2021). DNA 5-hydroxymethylcytosine in pediatric central nervous system tumors may impact tumor classification and is a positive prognostic marker. Clin. Epigenetics *13*, 176.

.

Bachman, M., Uribe-Lewis, S., Yang, X., Williams, M., Murrell, A., and Balasubramanian, S. (2014). 5-Hydroxymethylcytosine is a predominantly stable DNA modification. Nat. Chem. *6*, 1049–1055.

Bachman, M., Uribe-Lewis, S., Yang, X., Burgess, H.E., Iurlaro, M., Reik, W., Murrell, A., and Balasubramanian, S. (2015). 5-Formylcytosine can be a stable DNA modification in mammals. Nat. Chem. Biol. *11*, 555–557.

Barak, O., Lazzaro, M.A., Lane, W.S., Speicher, D.W., Picketts, D.J., and Shiekhattar, R. (2003). Isolation of human NURF: a regulator of Engrailed gene expression. EMBO J. *22*, 6089–6100.

Barau, J., Teissandier, A., Zamudio, N., Roy, S., Nalesso, V., Hérault, Y., Guillou, F., and Bourc'his, D. (2016). The DNA methyltransferase DNMT3C protects male germ cells from transposon activity. Science *354*, 909–912.

Barrangou, R., Fremaux, C., Deveau, H., Richards, M., Boyaval, P., Moineau, S., Romero, D.A., and Horvath, P. (2007). CRISPR provides acquired resistance against viruses in prokaryotes. Science *315*, 1709–1712.

Batista, P.J., Molinie, B., Wang, J., Qu, K., Zhang, J., Li, L., Bouley, D.M., Lujan, E., Haddad, B., Daneshvar, K., et al. (2014). m6A RNA Modification Controls Cell Fate Transition in Mammalian Embryonic Stem Cells. Cell Stem Cell *15*, 707–719. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2014.09.019.

Batra, R., Nelles, D.A., Pirie, E., Blue, S.M., Marina, R.J., Wang, H., Chaim, I.A., Thomas, J.D., Zhang, N., Nguyen, V., et al. (2017). Elimination of Toxic Microsatellite Repeat Expansion RNA by RNA-Targeting Cas9. Cell *170*, 899–912.e10. .

Beccari, L., Moris, N., Girgin, M., Turner, D.A., Baillie-Johnson, P., Cossy, A.-C., Lutolf, M.P., Duboule, D., and Arias, A.M. (2018). Multi-axial self-organization properties of mouse embryonic stem cells into gastruloids. Nature *562*, 272–276.

Begley, U., Sosa, M.S., Avivar-Valderas, A., Patil, A., Endres, L., Estrada, Y., Chan, C.T.Y., Su, D., Dedon, P.C., Aguirre-Ghiso, J.A., et al. (2013). A human tRNA methyltransferase 9-like protein prevents tumour growth by regulating LIN9 and HIF1-α. EMBO Mol. Med. *5*, 366–383.

Berrens, R.V., Andrews, S., Spensberger, D., Santos, F., Dean, W., Gould, P., Sharif, J., Olova, N., Chandra, T., Koseki, H., et al. (2017). An endosiRNA-Based Repression Mechanism Counteracts Transposon Activation during Global DNA Demethylation in Embryonic Stem Cells. Cell Stem Cell *21*, 694–703.e7.

Bhaya, D., Davison, M., and Barrangou, R. (2011). CRISPR-Cas systems in bacteria and archaea: versatile small RNAs for adaptive defense and regulation. Annu. Rev. Genet. *45*, 273–297.

Bian, C., and Yu, X. (2014). PGC7 suppresses TET3 for protecting DNA methylation. Nucleic Acids Res. *42*, 2893–2905.

Bickle, T.A., and Krüger, D.H. (1993). Biology of DNA restriction. Microbiol. Rev. 57, 434-450. .

Bierhoff, H., Dammert, M.A., Brocks, D., Dambacher, S., Schotta, G., and Grummt, I. (2014). Quiescence-induced LncRNAs trigger H4K20 trimethylation and transcriptional silencing. Mol. Cell *54*, 675–682.

Bilodeau, S., Kagey, M.H., Frampton, G.M., Rahl, P.B., and Young, R.A. (2009). SetDB1 contributes to repression of genes encoding developmental regulators and maintenance of ES cell state. Genes Dev. 23, 2484–2489.

Black, J.B., Adler, A.F., Wang, H.-G., D'Ippolito, A.M., Hutchinson, H.A., Reddy, T.E., Pitt, G.S., Leong, K.W., and Gersbach, C.A. (2016). Targeted Epigenetic Remodeling of Endogenous Loci by CRISPR/Cas9-Based Transcriptional Activators Directly Converts Fibroblasts to Neuronal Cells. Cell Stem Cell *19*, 406–414.

Bleichert, F., Botchan, M.R., and Berger, J.M. (2015). Crystal structure of the eukaryotic origin recognition complex. https://doi.org/10.2210/pdb4xgc/pdb.

Bleichert, F., Botchan, M.R., and Berger, J.M. (2017). Mechanisms for initiating cellular DNA replication. Science *355*. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aah6317.

Blow, M.J., Clark, T.A., Daum, C.G., Deutschbauer, A.M., Fomenkov, A., Fries, R., Froula, J., Kang, D.D., Malmstrom, R.R., Morgan, R.D., et al. (2016). The Epigenomic Landscape of Prokaryotes. PLoS Genet. *12*, e1005854.

Boccaletto, P., Stefaniak, F., Ray, A., Cappannini, A., Mukherjee, S., Purta, E., Kurkowska, M., Shirvanizadeh, N., Destefanis, E., Groza, P., et al. (2022). MODOMICS: a database of RNA modification pathways. 2021 update. Nucleic Acids Research *50*, D231–D235. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkab1083.

Boch, J., Scholze, H., Schornack, S., Landgraf, A., Hahn, S., Kay, S., Lahaye, T., Nickstadt, A., and Bonas, U. (2009). Breaking the code of DNA binding specificity of TAL-type III effectors. Science *326*, 1509–1512. .

Bogdanović, O., Smits, A.H., de la Calle Mustienes, E., Tena, J.J., Ford, E., Williams, R., Senanayake, U., Schultz, M.D., Hontelez, S., van Kruijsbergen, I., et al. (2016). Active DNA demethylation at enhancers during the vertebrate phylotypic period. Nat. Genet. *48*, 417–426.

Borgel, J., Guibert, S., Li, Y., Chiba, H., Schübeler, D., Sasaki, H., Forné, T., and Weber, M. (2010). Targets and dynamics of promoter DNA methylation during early mouse development. Nat. Genet. *42*, 1093–1100.

Bostick, M., Kim, J.K., Estève, P.-O., Clark, A., Pradhan, S., and Jacobsen, S.E. (2007). UHRF1 Plays a Role in Maintaining DNA Methylation in Mammalian Cells. Science *317*, 1760–1764. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1147939.

Bourc'his, D., and Bestor, T.H. (2004). Meiotic catastrophe and retrotransposon reactivation in male germ cells lacking Dnmt3L. Nature *431*, 96–99.

Bourc'his, D., Xu, G.L., Lin, C.S., Bollman, B., and Bestor, T.H. (2001a). Dnmt3L and the establishment of maternal genomic imprints. Science *294*, 2536–2539.

Bourc'his, D., Xu, G.L., Lin, C.S., Bollman, B., and Bestor, T.H. (2001b). Dnmt3L and the establishment of maternal genomic imprints. Science 294, 2536–2539.

Bourque, G., Leong, B., Vega, V.B., Chen, X., Lee, Y.L., Srinivasan, K.G., Chew, J.-L., Ruan, Y., Wei, C.-L., Ng, H.H., et al. (2008). Evolution of the mammalian transcription factor binding repertoire via transposable elements. Genome Res. *18*, 1752–1762.

Brockers, K., and Schneider, R. (2019). Histone H1, the forgotten histone. Epigenomics 11, 363–366.

Buenrostro, J.D., Wu, B., Litzenburger, U.M., Ruff, D., Gonzales, M.L., Snyder, M.P., Chang, H.Y., and Greenleaf, W.J. (2015). Single-cell chromatin accessibility reveals principles of regulatory variation. Nature *5*23, 486–490.

.

Bulut-Karslioglu, A., De La Rosa-Velázquez, I.A., Ramirez, F., Barenboim, M., Onishi-Seebacher, M., Arand, J., Galán, C., Winter, G.E., Engist, B., Gerle, B., et al. (2014). Suv39h-dependent H3K9me3 marks intact retrotransposons and silences LINE elements in mouse embryonic stem cells. Mol. Cell *55*, 277–290.

Caldwell, B.A., Liu, M.Y., Prasasya, R.D., Wang, T., DeNizio, J.E., Leu, N.A., Amoh, N.Y.A., Krapp, C., Lan, Y., Shields, E.J., et al. (2021). Functionally distinct roles for TET-oxidized 5-methylcytosine bases in somatic reprogramming to pluripotency. Mol. Cell *81*, 859–869.e8.

Cantara, W.A., Crain, P.F., Rozenski, J., McCloskey, J.A., Harris, K.A., Zhang, X., Vendeix, F.A.P., Fabris, D., and Agris, P.F. (2011). The RNA Modification Database, RNAMDB: 2011 update. Nucleic Acids Res. *39*, D195–D201. .

Capecchi, M.R. (1989). Altering the genome by homologous recombination. Science 244, 1288–1292.

Chaisson, M.J.P., Sanders, A.D., Zhao, X., Malhotra, A., Porubsky, D., Rausch, T., Gardner, E.J., Rodriguez, O.L., Guo, L., Collins, R.L., et al. (2019). Multi-platform discovery of haplotype-resolved structural variation in human genomes. Nat. Commun. *10*, 1784.

Chandru, A., Bate, N., Vuister, G.W., and Cowley, S.M. (2018). Sin3A recruits Tet1 to the PAH1 domain via a highly conserved Sin3-Interaction Domain. Sci. Rep. *8*, 14689.

Chelmicki, T., Roger, E., Teissandier, A., Dura, M., Bonneville, L., Rucli, S., Dossin, F., Fouassier, C., Lameiras, S., and Bourc'his, D. (2021). mA RNA methylation regulates the fate of endogenous retroviruses. Nature *591*, 312–316.

Chen, Q., Chen, Y., Bian, C., Fujiki, R., and Yu, X. (2013). TET2 promotes histone O-GlcNAcylation during gene transcription. Nature *493*, 561–564.

Chiappinelli, K.B., Strissel, P.L., Desrichard, A., Li, H., Henke, C., Akman, B., Hein, A., Rote, N.S., Cope, L.M., Snyder, A., et al. (2017). Inhibiting DNA Methylation Causes an Interferon Response in Cancer via dsRNA Including Endogenous Retroviruses. Cell *169*, 361.

Cho, S.W., Kim, S., Kim, J.M., and Kim, J.-S. (2013). Targeted genome engineering in human cells with the Cas9 RNA-guided endonuclease. Nature Biotechnology *31*, 230–232. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.2507.

Chou, H.-J., Donnard, E., Gustafsson, H.T., Garber, M., and Rando, O.J. (2017). Transcriptome-wide Analysis of Roles for tRNA Modifications in Translational Regulation. Mol. Cell *68*, 978–992.e4.

Choudhury, S.R., Cui, Y., Lubecka, K., Stefanska, B., and Irudayaraj, J. (2016). CRISPR-dCas9 mediated TET1 targeting for selective DNA demethylation at BRCA1 promoter. Oncotarget 7, 46545–46556.

Christian, M., Cermak, T., Doyle, E.L., Schmidt, C., Zhang, F., Hummel, A., Bogdanove, A.J., and Voytas, D.F. (2010). Targeting DNA double-strand breaks with TAL effector nucleases. Genetics *186*, 757–761.

Chrysanthou, S., Tang, Q., Lee, J., Taylor, S.J., Zhao, Y., Steidl, U., Zheng, D., and Dawlaty, M.M. (2022a). The DNA dioxygenase Tet1 regulates H3K27 modification and embryonic stem cell biology independent of its catalytic activity. Nucleic Acids Res. *50*, 3169–3189.

Chrysanthou, S., Flores, J.C., and Dawlaty, M.M. (2022b). Tet1 Suppresses p21 to Ensure Proper Cell Cycle Progression in Embryonic Stem Cells. Cells *11*. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells11081366.

Chuong, E.B., Rumi, M.A.K., Soares, M.J., and Baker, J.C. (2013). Endogenous retroviruses function as species-specific enhancer elements in the placenta. Nat. Genet. *45*, 325–329.

Clancy, M.J. (2002). Induction of sporulation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae leads to the formation of N6-methyladenosine in mRNA: a potential mechanism for the activity of the IME4 gene. Nucleic Acids Research *30*, 4509–4518. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkf573.

Cohn, W.E. (1960). Pseudouridine, a carbon-carbon linked ribonucleoside in ribonucleic acids: isolation, structure, and chemical characteristics. J. Biol. Chem. 235, 1488–1498.

Cong, L., Ran, F.A., Cox, D., Lin, S., Barretto, R., Habib, N., Hsu, P.D., Wu, X., Jiang, W., Marraffini, L.A., et al. (2013). Multiplex genome engineering using CRISPR/Cas systems. Science *339*, 819–823.

Consortium, M.G.S., and Mouse Genome Sequencing Consortium (2002). Initial sequencing and comparative analysis of the mouse genome. Nature *420*, 520–562. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01262.

Cordaux, R., and Batzer, M.A. (2009). The impact of retrotransposons on human genome evolution. Nature Reviews Genetics *10*, 691–703. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2640.

Dai, H.-Q., Wang, B.-A., Yang, L., Chen, J.-J., Zhu, G.-C., Sun, M.-L., Ge, H., Wang, R., Chapman, D.L., Tang, F., et al. (2016). TET-mediated DNA demethylation controls gastrulation by regulating Lefty-Nodal signalling. Nature *538*, 528–532.

Daiger, S.P., Sullivan, L.S., and Bowne, S.J. (2013). Genes and mutations causing retinitis pigmentosa. Clinical Genetics *84*, 132–141. https://doi.org/10.1111/cge.12203.

Damelin, M., and Bestor, T.H. (2007). Biological functions of DNA methyltransferase 1 require its methyltransferase activity. Mol. Cell. Biol. *27*, 3891–3899.

DaRosa, P.A., Harrison, J.S., Zelter, A., Davis, T.N., Brzovic, P., Kuhlman, B., and Klevit, R.E. (2018). A Bifunctional Role for the UHRF1 UBL Domain in the Control of Hemi-methylated DNA-Dependent Histone Ubiquitylation. Mol. Cell *72*, 753–765.e6.

Dawlaty, M.M., Ganz, K., Powell, B.E., Hu, Y.-C., Markoulaki, S., Cheng, A.W., Gao, Q., Kim, J., Choi, S.-W., Page, D.C., et al. (2011). Tet1 is dispensable for maintaining pluripotency and its loss is compatible with embryonic and postnatal development. Cell Stem Cell *9*, 166–175.

Dawlaty, M.M., Breiling, A., Le, T., Raddatz, G., Barrasa, M.I., Cheng, A.W., Gao, Q., Powell, B.E., Li, Z., Xu, M., et al. (2013). Combined deficiency of Tet1 and Tet2 causes epigenetic abnormalities but is compatible with postnatal development. Dev. Cell *24*, 310–323.

Dawlaty, M.M., Breiling, A., Le, T., Inmaculada Barrasa, M., Raddatz, G., Gao, Q., Powell, B.E., Cheng, A.W., Faull, K.F., Lyko, F., et al. (2014). Loss of Tet Enzymes Compromises Proper Differentiation of Embryonic Stem Cells. Developmental Cell *29*, 102–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2014.03.003.

Decatur, W.A., and Fournier, M.J. (2002). rRNA modifications and ribosome function. Trends
Biochem. Sci. 27, 344-351. .

Delaunay, S., and Frye, M. (2019). RNA modifications regulating cell fate in cancer. Nat. Cell Biol. 21, 552–559.

Deltcheva, E., Chylinski, K., Sharma, C.M., Gonzales, K., Chao, Y., Pirzada, Z.A., Eckert, M.R., Vogel, J., and Charpentier, E. (2011). CRISPR RNA maturation by trans-encoded small RNA and host factor RNase III. Nature *471*, 602–607.

Deniz, Ö., Frost, J.M., and Branco, M.R. (2019). Regulation of transposable elements by DNA modifications. Nat. Rev. Genet. *20*, 417–431.

Deplus, R., Delatte, B., Schwinn, M.K., Defrance, M., Méndez, J., Murphy, N., Dawson, M.A., Volkmar, M., Putmans, P., Calonne, E., et al. (2013). TET2 and TET3 regulate GlcNAcylation and H3K4 methylation through OGT and SET1/COMPASS. EMBO J. *3*2, 645–655.

Dever, D.P., Bak, R.O., Reinisch, A., Camarena, J., Washington, G., Nicolas, C.E., Pavel-Dinu, M., Saxena, N., Wilkens, A.B., Mantri, S., et al. (2016). CRISPR/Cas9  $\beta$ -globin gene targeting in human haematopoietic stem cells. Nature *539*, 384–389.

Dewannieux, M., Dupressoir, A., Harper, F., Pierron, G., and Heidmann, T. (2004). Identification of autonomous IAP LTR retrotransposons mobile in mammalian cells. Nat. Genet. *36*, 534–539.

Dixon, G., Pan, H., Yang, D., Rosen, B.P., Jashari, T., Verma, N., Pulecio, J., Caspi, I., Lee, K., Stransky, S., et al. (2021). QSER1 protects DNA methylation valleys from de novo methylation. Science *372*. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abd0875.

Dodge, J.E., Kang, Y.-K., Beppu, H., Lei, H., and Li, E. (2004). Histone H3-K9 methyltransferase ESET is essential for early development. Mol. Cell. Biol. 24, 2478–2486.

Dominissini, D., Moshitch-Moshkovitz, S., Schwartz, S., Salmon-Divon, M., Ungar, L., Osenberg, S., Cesarkas, K., Jacob-Hirsch, J., Amariglio, N., Kupiec, M., et al. (2012). Topology of the human and mouse m6A RNA methylomes revealed by m6A-seq. Nature *485*, 201–206.

Draker, R., and Cheung, P. (2009). Transcriptional and epigenetic functions of histone variant H2A.Z. Biochem. Cell Biol. *87*, 19–25.

Du, Z., Song, J., Wang, Y., Zhao, Y., Guda, K., Yang, S., Kao, H.-Y., Xu, Y., Willis, J., Markowitz, S.D., et al. (2010). DNMT1 stability is regulated by proteins coordinating deubiquitination and acetylation-driven ubiquitination. Sci. Signal. *3*, ra80. .

Dupressoir, A., Lavialle, C., and Heidmann, T. (2012). From ancestral infectious retroviruses to bona fide cellular genes: role of the captured syncytins in placentation. Placenta *33*, 663–671.

Easwaran, H.P., Schermelleh, L., Leonhardt, H., and Cristina Cardoso, M. (2004). Replicationindependent chromatin loading of Dnmt1 during G2 and M phases. EMBO Reports *5*, 1181–1186. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.embor.7400295.

Eckersley-Maslin, M.A., Alda-Catalinas, C., and Reik, W. (2018). Dynamics of the epigenetic landscape during the maternal-to-zygotic transition. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. *19*, 436–450.

Edraki, A., Mir, A., Ibraheim, R., Gainetdinov, I., Yoon, Y., Song, C.-Q., Cao, Y., Gallant, J., Xue, W., Rivera-Pérez, J.A., et al. (2019). A Compact, High-Accuracy Cas9 with a Dinucleotide PAM for In Vivo Genome Editing. Mol. Cell *73*, 714–726.e4.

Escobar, T.M., Oksuz, O., Saldaña-Meyer, R., Descostes, N., Bonasio, R., and Reinberg, D. (2019). Active and Repressed Chromatin Domains Exhibit Distinct Nucleosome Segregation during DNA Replication. Cell *179*, 953–963.e11.

Escobar, T.M., Loyola, A., and Reinberg, D. (2021). Parental nucleosome segregation and the inheritance of cellular identity. Nat. Rev. Genet. *22*, 379–392.

Escobar, T.M., Yu, J.-R., Liu, S., Lucero, K., Vasilyev, N., Nudler, E., and Reinberg, D. (2022). Inheritance of repressed chromatin domains during S phase requires the histone chaperone NPM1. Science Advances *8*. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abm3945.

Estève, P.-O., Chin, H.G., Benner, J., Feehery, G.R., Samaranayake, M., Horwitz, G.A., Jacobsen, S.E., and Pradhan, S. (2009). Regulation of DNMT1 stability through SET7-mediated lysine methylation in mammalian cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *106*, 5076–5081.

Estève, P.-O., Chang, Y., Samaranayake, M., Upadhyay, A.K., Horton, J.R., Feehery, G.R., Cheng, X., and Pradhan, S. (2011). A methylation and phosphorylation switch between an adjacent lysine and serine determines human DNMT1 stability. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. *18*, 42–48.

Esvelt, K.M., Mali, P., Braff, J.L., Moosburner, M., Yaung, S.J., and Church, G.M. (2013). Orthogonal Cas9 proteins for RNA-guided gene regulation and editing. Nat. Methods *10*, 1116–1121.

Fadloun, A., Le Gras, S., Jost, B., Ziegler-Birling, C., Takahashi, H., Gorab, E., Carninci, P., and Torres-Padilla, M.-E. (2013). Chromatin signatures and retrotransposon profiling in mouse embryos reveal regulation of LINE-1 by RNA. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. *20*, 332–338.

Fahrner, J.A., Eguchi, S., Herman, J.G., and Baylin, S.B. (2002). Dependence of histone modifications and gene expression on DNA hypermethylation in cancer. Cancer Res. *62*, 7213–7218.

Fan, Y., Nikitina, T., Zhao, J., Fleury, T.J., Bhattacharyya, R., Bouhassira, E.E., Stein, A., Woodcock, C.L., and Skoultchi, A.I. (2005). Histone H1 depletion in mammals alters global chromatin structure but causes specific changes in gene regulation. Cell *123*, 1199–1212.

Farrelly, L.A., Thompson, R.E., Zhao, S., Lepack, A.E., Lyu, Y., Bhanu, N.V., Zhang, B., Loh, Y.-H.E., Ramakrishnan, A., Vadodaria, K.C., et al. (2019). Histone serotonylation is a permissive modification that enhances TFIID binding to H3K4me3. Nature *567*, 535–539.

Faulkner, G.J., Kimura, Y., Daub, C.O., Wani, S., Plessy, C., Irvine, K.M., Schroder, K., Cloonan, N., Steptoe, A.L., Lassmann, T., et al. (2009). The regulated retrotransposon transcriptome of mammalian cells. Nat. Genet. *41*, 563–571.

Feng, Z., Fang, G., Korlach, J., Clark, T., Luong, K., Zhang, X., Wong, W., and Schadt, E. (2013). Detecting DNA modifications from SMRT sequencing data by modeling sequence context dependence of polymerase kinetic. PLoS Comput. Biol. *9*, e1002935.

Ferry, L., Fournier, A., Tsusaka, T., Adelmant, G., Shimazu, T., Matano, S., Kirsh, O., Amouroux, R., Dohmae, N., Suzuki, T., et al. (2017). Methylation of DNA Ligase 1 by G9a/GLP Recruits UHRF1 to Replicating DNA and Regulates DNA Methylation. Mol. Cell *67*, 550–565.e5.

Ficz, G., Branco, M.R., Seisenberger, S., Santos, F., Krueger, F., Hore, T.A., Marques, C.J., Andrews, S., and Reik, W. (2011). Dynamic regulation of 5-hydroxymethylcytosine in mouse ES cells and during differentiation. Nature *473*, 398–402.

Fischle, W., Tseng, B.S., Dormann, H.L., Ueberheide, B.M., Garcia, B.A., Shabanowitz, J., Hunt, D.F., Funabiki, H., and David Allis, C. (2005). Regulation of HP1–chromatin binding by histone H3

methylation and phosphorylation. Nature 438, 1116–1122. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04219.

Flemming, W. (1882). Zellsubstanz, Kern und Zelltheilung /. https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.168645.

Flusberg, B.A., Webster, D.R., Lee, J.H., Travers, K.J., Olivares, E.C., Clark, T.A., Korlach, J., and Turner, S.W. (2010). Direct detection of DNA methylation during single-molecule, real-time sequencing. Nat. Methods *7*, 461–465.

Fort, A., Hashimoto, K., Yamada, D., Salimullah, M., Keya, C.A., Saxena, A., Bonetti, A., Voineagu, I., Bertin, N., Kratz, A., et al. (2014). Deep transcriptome profiling of mammalian stem cells supports a regulatory role for retrotransposons in pluripotency maintenance. Nat. Genet. *46*, 558–566.

Fraga, M.F., Ballestar, E., Villar-Garea, A., Boix-Chornet, M., Espada, J., Schotta, G., Bonaldi, T., Haydon, C., Ropero, S., Petrie, K., et al. (2005). Loss of acetylation at Lys16 and trimethylation at Lys20 of histone H4 is a common hallmark of human cancer. Nat. Genet. *37*, 391–400.

Friedman, J.R., Fredericks, W.J., Jensen, D.E., Speicher, D.W., Huang, X.P., Neilson, E.G., and Rauscher, F.J., 3rd (1996). KAP-1, a novel corepressor for the highly conserved KRAB repression domain. Genes Dev. *10*, 2067–2078.

Frye, M., Harada, B.T., Behm, M., and He, C. (2018). RNA modifications modulate gene expression during development. Science *361*, 1346–1349.

Fu, L., Guerrero, C.R., Zhong, N., Amato, N.J., Liu, Y., Liu, S., Cai, Q., Ji, D., Jin, S.-G., Niedernhofer, L.J., et al. (2014). Tet-mediated formation of 5-hydroxymethylcytosine in RNA. J. Am. Chem. Soc. *136*, 11582–11585.

Gao, J., Ma, Y., Fu, H.-L., Luo, Q., Wang, Z., Xiao, Y.-H., Yang, H., Cui, D.-X., and Jin, W.-L. (2016). Non-catalytic roles for TET1 protein negatively regulating neuronal differentiation through srGAP3 in neuroblastoma cells. Protein Cell *7*, 351–361.

Gao, L., Tan, X.-F., Zhang, S., Wu, T., Zhang, Z.-M., Ai, H.-W., and Song, J. (2018). An Intramolecular Interaction of UHRF1 Reveals Dual Control for Its Histone Association. Structure 26, 304–311.e3.

Garneau, J.E., Dupuis, M.-È., Villion, M., Romero, D.A., Barrangou, R., Boyaval, P., Fremaux, C., Horvath, P., Magadán, A.H., and Moineau, S. (2010). The CRISPR/Cas bacterial immune system cleaves bacteriophage and plasmid DNA. Nature *468*, 67–71.

Geeven, G., Zhu, Y., Kim, B.J., Bartholdy, B.A., Yang, S.-M., Macfarlan, T.S., Gifford, W.D., Pfaff, S.L., Verstegen, M.J.A.M., Pinto, H., et al. (2015). Local compartment changes and regulatory landscape alterations in histone H1-depleted cells. Genome Biol. *16*, 289. .

Geula, S., Moshitch-Moshkovitz, S., Dominissini, D., Mansour, A.A., Kol, N., Salmon-Divon, M., Hershkovitz, V., Peer, E., Mor, N., Manor, Y.S., et al. (2015). Stem cells. m6A mRNA methylation facilitates resolution of naïve pluripotency toward differentiation. Science *347*, 1002–1006.

Gifford, R., and Tristem, M. (2003). The evolution, distribution and diversity of endogenous retroviruses. Virus Genes *26*, 291–315. .

Gifford, W.D., Pfaff, S.L., and Macfarlan, T.S. (2013). Transposable elements as genetic regulatory substrates in early development. Trends Cell Biol. 23, 218–226.

Gilbert, L.A., Larson, M.H., Morsut, L., Liu, Z., Brar, G.A., Torres, S.E., Stern-Ginossar, N., Brandman, O., Whitehead, E.H., Doudna, J.A., et al. (2013). CRISPR-mediated modular RNA-guided regulation of transcription in eukaryotes. Cell *154*, 442–451.

Gillmore, J.D., Gane, E., Taubel, J., Kao, J., Fontana, M., Maitland, M.L., Seitzer, J., O'Connell, D., Walsh, K.R., Wood, K., et al. (2021). CRISPR-Cas9 In Vivo Gene Editing for Transthyretin Amyloidosis. N. Engl. J. Med. *385*, 493–502. .

Ginno, P.A., Gaidatzis, D., Feldmann, A., Hoerner, L., Imanci, D., Burger, L., Zilbermann, F., Peters, A.H.F.M., Edenhofer, F., Smallwood, S.A., et al. (2020). A genome-scale map of DNA methylation turnover identifies site-specific dependencies of DNMT and TET activity. Nat. Commun. *11*, 2680.

Globisch, D., Münzel, M., Müller, M., Michalakis, S., Wagner, M., Koch, S., Brückl, T., Biel, M., and Carell, T. (2010). Tissue distribution of 5-hydroxymethylcytosine and search for active demethylation intermediates. PLoS One *5*, e15367.

Göke, J., Lu, X., Chan, Y.-S., Ng, H.-H., Ly, L.-H., Sachs, F., and Szczerbinska, I. (2015). Dynamic Transcription of Distinct Classes of Endogenous Retroviral Elements Marks Specific Populations of Early Human Embryonic Cells. Cell Stem Cell *16*, 135–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2015.01.005.

Goll, M.G., and Bestor, T.H. (2005a). Eukaryotic cytosine methyltransferases. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 74, 481–514.

Goll, M.G., and Bestor, T.H. (2005b). EUKARYOTIC CYTOSINE METHYLTRANSFERASES. Annual Review of Biochemistry *74*, 481–514. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.biochem.74.010904.153721.

Goller, T., Vauti, F., Ramasamy, S., and Arnold, H.-H. (2008). Transcriptional regulator BPTF/FAC1 is essential for trophoblast differentiation during early mouse development. Mol. Cell. Biol. 28, 6819–6827.

Goodwin, S., McPherson, J.D., and McCombie, W.R. (2016). Coming of age: ten years of next-generation sequencing technologies. Nat. Rev. Genet. *17*, 333–351.

Gootenberg, J.S., Abudayyeh, O.O., Lee, J.W., Essletzbichler, P., Dy, A.J., Joung, J., Verdine, V., Donghia, N., Daringer, N.M., Freije, C.A., et al. (2017). Nucleic acid detection with CRISPR-Cas13a/C2c2. Science *356*, 438–442.

Graf, U., Casanova, E.A., Wyck, S., Dalcher, D., Gatti, M., Vollenweider, E., Okoniewski, M.J., Weber, F.A., Patel, S.S., Schmid, M.W., et al. (2017). Pramel7 mediates ground-state pluripotency through proteasomal-epigenetic combined pathways. Nat. Cell Biol. *19*, 763–773.

Greenberg, M.V.C., and Bourc'his, D. (2019). The diverse roles of DNA methylation in mammalian development and disease. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. *20*, 590–607.

Greer, E.L., Blanco, M.A., Gu, L., Sendinc, E., Liu, J., Aristizábal-Corrales, D., Hsu, C.-H., Aravind, L., He, C., and Shi, Y. (2015). DNA Methylation on N6-Adenine in C. elegans. Cell *161*, 868–878. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.04.005.

Grewal, S.I.S., and Jia, S. (2007). Heterochromatin revisited. Nat. Rev. Genet. 8, 35-46. .

Groh, S., and Schotta, G. (2017). Silencing of endogenous retroviruses by heterochromatin. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 74, 2055–2065.

Grosswendt, S., Kretzmer, H., Smith, Z.D., Kumar, A.S., Hetzel, S., Wittler, L., Klages, S., Timmermann, B., Mukherji, S., and Meissner, A. (2020). Epigenetic regulator function through mouse gastrulation. Nature *584*, 102–108.

Gu, H., Do, D.V., Liu, X., Xu, L., Su, Y., Nah, J.M., Wong, Y., Li, Y., Sheng, N., Tilaye, G.A., et al. (2018a). The STAT3 Target Mettl8 Regulates Mouse ESC Differentiation via Inhibiting the JNK

Pathway. Stem Cell Reports 10, 1807-1820. .

Gu, T., Lin, X., Cullen, S.M., Luo, M., Jeong, M., Estecio, M., Shen, J., Hardikar, S., Sun, D., Su, J., et al. (2018b). DNMT3A and TET1 cooperate to regulate promoter epigenetic landscapes in mouse embryonic stem cells. Genome Biol. *19*, 88.

Gu, T.-P., Guo, F., Yang, H., Wu, H.-P., Xu, G.-F., Liu, W., Xie, Z.-G., Shi, L., He, X., Jin, S.-G., et al. (2011). The role of Tet3 DNA dioxygenase in epigenetic reprogramming by oocytes. Nature *477*, 606–610.

Guo, X., Wang, L., Li, J., Ding, Z., Xiao, J., Yin, X., He, S., Shi, P., Dong, L., Li, G., et al. (2015). Structural insight into autoinhibition and histone H3-induced activation of DNMT3A. Nature *517*, 640–644.

Haggerty, C., Kretzmer, H., Riemenschneider, C., Kumar, A.S., Mattei, A.L., Bailly, N., Gottfreund, J., Giesselmann, P., Weigert, R., Brändl, B., et al. (2021). Dnmt1 has de novo activity targeted to transposable elements. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. *28*, 594–603.

Hakim, C.H., Wasala, N.B., Nelson, C.E., Wasala, L.P., Yue, Y., Louderman, J.A., Lessa, T.B., Dai, A., Zhang, K., Jenkins, G.J., et al. (2018). AAV CRISPR editing rescues cardiac and muscle function for 18 months in dystrophic mice. JCI Insight 3. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.124297.

Halabelian, L., Ravichandran, M., Li, Y., Zeng, H., Rao, A., Aravind, L., and Arrowsmith, C.H. (2019). Structural basis of HMCES interactions with abasic DNA and multivalent substrate recognition. Nature Structural & Molecular Biology *26*, 607–612. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41594-019-0246-6.

Hashimoto, H., Olanrewaju, Y.O., Zheng, Y., Wilson, G.G., Zhang, X., and Cheng, X. (2014). Wilms tumor protein recognizes 5-carboxylcytosine within a specific DNA sequence. Genes Dev. *28*, 2304–2313.

Hata, K., Okano, M., Lei, H., and Li, E. (2002). Dnmt3L cooperates with the Dnmt3 family of de novo DNA methyltransferases to establish maternal imprints in mice. Development *129*, 1983–1993.

He, C. (2010). Grand challenge commentary: RNA epigenetics? Nat. Chem. Biol. 6, 863-865. .

He, P.C., and He, C. (2021). m A RNA methylation: from mechanisms to therapeutic potential. EMBO J. 40, e105977. .

He, B., Zhang, C., Zhang, X., Fan, Y., Zeng, H., Liu, J. 'e, Meng, H., Bai, D., Peng, J., Zhang, Q., et al. (2021). Tissue-specific 5-hydroxymethylcytosine landscape of the human genome. Nat. Commun. *12*, 4249.

He, Y.-F., Li, B.-Z., Li, Z., Liu, P., Wang, Y., Tang, Q., Ding, J., Jia, Y., Chen, Z., Li, L., et al. (2011). Tet-mediated formation of 5-carboxylcytosine and its excision by TDG in mammalian DNA. Science 333, 1303–1307.

Hilton, I.B., D'Ippolito, A.M., Vockley, C.M., Thakore, P.I., Crawford, G.E., Reddy, T.E., and Gersbach, C.A. (2015). Epigenome editing by a CRISPR-Cas9-based acetyltransferase activates genes from promoters and enhancers. Nat. Biotechnol. *33*, 510–517.

Hirota, T., Lipp, J.J., Toh, B.-H., and Peters, J.-M. (2005). Histone H3 serine 10 phosphorylation by Aurora B causes HP1 dissociation from heterochromatin. Nature *438*, 1176–1180. .

Höfer, K., and Jäschke, A. (2018). Epitranscriptomics: RNA Modifications in Bacteria and Archaea. Microbiol Spectr 6. https://doi.org/10.1128/microbiolspec.RWR-0015-2017.

Hoffman, E.P., Brown, R.H., and Kunkel, L.M. (1987). Dystrophin: The protein product of the duchenne muscular dystrophy locus. Cell *51*, 919–928. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(87)90579-4.

Holliday, R., and Pugh, J.E. (1975). DNA modification mechanisms and gene activity during development. Science *187*, 226–232.

Hon, G.C., Song, C.-X., Du, T., Jin, F., Selvaraj, S., Lee, A.Y., Yen, C.-A., Ye, Z., Mao, S.-Q., Wang, B.-A., et al. (2014). 5mC oxidation by Tet2 modulates enhancer activity and timing of transcriptome reprogramming during differentiation. Mol. Cell *56*, 286–297.

Hongay, C.F., and Orr-Weaver, T.L. (2011). Drosophila Inducer of MEiosis 4 (IME4) is required for Notch signaling during oogenesis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *108*, 14855–14860.

Hotchkiss, R.D. (1948). The quantitative separation of purines, pyrimidines, and nucleosides by paper chromatography. J. Biol. Chem. *175*, 315–332.

Hou, Z., Zhang, Y., Propson, N.E., Howden, S.E., Chu, L.-F., Sontheimer, E.J., and Thomson, J.A. (2013). Efficient genome engineering in human pluripotent stem cells using Cas9 from Neisseria meningitidis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *110*, 15644–15649.

Hsieh, T.-F., Ibarra, C.A., Silva, P., Zemach, A., Eshed-Williams, L., Fischer, R.L., and Zilberman, D. (2009). Genome-wide demethylation of Arabidopsis endosperm. Science *324*, 1451–1454.

Huang, Y., Chavez, L., Chang, X., Wang, X., Pastor, W.A., Kang, J., Zepeda-Martínez, J.A., Pape, U.J., Jacobsen, S.E., Peters, B., et al. (2014). Distinct roles of the methylcytosine oxidases Tet1 and Tet2 in mouse embryonic stem cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *111*, 1361–1366.

Hutnick, L.K., Huang, X., Loo, T.-C., Ma, Z., and Fan, G. (2010). Repression of retrotransposal elements in mouse embryonic stem cells is primarily mediated by a DNA methylation-independent mechanism. J. Biol. Chem. *285*, 21082–21091.

Inoue, A., and Zhang, Y. (2011). Replication-dependent loss of 5-hydroxymethylcytosine in mouse preimplantation embryos. Science *334*, 194.

Inoue, A., Shen, L., Dai, Q., He, C., and Zhang, Y. (2011). Generation and replication-dependent dilution of 5fC and 5caC during mouse preimplantation development. Cell Res. *21*, 1670–1676.

Inoue, A., Shen, L., Matoba, S., and Zhang, Y. (2015). Haploinsufficiency, but Not Defective Paternal 5mC Oxidation, Accounts for the Developmental Defects of Maternal Tet3 Knockouts. Cell Reports *10*, 463–470. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2014.12.049.

Iqbal, K., Jin, S.-G., Pfeifer, G.P., and Szabó, P.E. (2011). Reprogramming of the paternal genome upon fertilization involves genome-wide oxidation of 5-methylcytosine. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *108*, 3642–3647.

Ishiyama, S., Nishiyama, A., Saeki, Y., Moritsugu, K., Morimoto, D., Yamaguchi, L., Arai, N., Matsumura, R., Kawakami, T., Mishima, Y., et al. (2017). Structure of the Dnmt1 Reader Module Complexed with a Unique Two-Mono-Ubiquitin Mark on Histone H3 Reveals the Basis for DNA Methylation Maintenance. Mol. Cell *68*, 350–360.e7.

Ito, S., and Kuraoka, I. (2015). Epigenetic modifications in DNA could mimic oxidative DNA damage: A double-edged sword. DNA Repair *32*, 52–57. .

Ito, S., D'Alessio, A.C., Taranova, O.V., Hong, K., Sowers, L.C., and Zhang, Y. (2010). Role of Tet proteins in 5mC to 5hmC conversion, ES-cell self-renewal and inner cell mass specification. Nature

466, 1129–1133. .

Ito, S., Shen, L., Dai, Q., Wu, S.C., Collins, L.B., Swenberg, J.A., He, C., and Zhang, Y. (2011). Tet proteins can convert 5-methylcytosine to 5-formylcytosine and 5-carboxylcytosine. Science *333*, 1300–1303.

Jackman, J.E., and Alfonzo, J.D. (2013). Transfer RNA modifications: nature's combinatorial chemistry playground. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. RNA *4*, 35–48.

Jacobs, S.A., and Khorasanizadeh, S. (2002). Structure of HP1 chromodomain bound to a lysine 9-methylated histone H3 tail. Science *295*, 2080–2083.

Jacobs, F.M.J., Greenberg, D., Nguyen, N., Haeussler, M., Ewing, A.D., Katzman, S., Paten, B., Salama, S.R., and Haussler, D. (2014). An evolutionary arms race between KRAB zinc-finger genes ZNF91/93 and SVA/L1 retrotransposons. Nature *516*, 242–245.

Jacobs, S.A., Taverna, S.D., Zhang, Y., Briggs, S.D., Li, J., Eissenberg, J.C., Allis, C.D., and Khorasanizadeh, S. (2001). Specificity of the HP1 chromo domain for the methylated N-terminus of histone H3. EMBO J. *20*, 5232–5241.

Janssen, S.M., and Lorincz, M.C. (2022). Interplay between chromatin marks in development and disease. Nature Reviews Genetics 23, 137–153. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41576-021-00416-x.

Jeltsch, A., and Jurkowska, R.Z. (2016). Allosteric control of mammalian DNA methyltransferases - a new regulatory paradigm. Nucleic Acids Res. *44*, 8556–8575.

Jenuwein, T., and Allis, C.D. (2001). Translating the histone code. Science 293, 1074–1080. .

Jia, G., Fu, Y., Zhao, X., Dai, Q., Zheng, G., Yang, Y., Yi, C., Lindahl, T., Pan, T., Yang, Y.-G., et al. (2011). N6-methyladenosine in nuclear RNA is a major substrate of the obesity-associated FTO. Nat. Chem. Biol. *7*, 885–887.

Jin, S.-G., Zhang, Z.-M., Dunwell, T.L., Harter, M.R., Wu, X., Johnson, J., Li, Z., Liu, J., Szabó, P.E., Lu, Q., et al. (2016). Tet3 Reads 5-Carboxylcytosine through Its CXXC Domain and Is a Potential Guardian against Neurodegeneration. Cell Rep. *14*, 493–505.

Jinek, M., Chylinski, K., Fonfara, I., Hauer, M., Doudna, J.A., and Charpentier, E. (2012). A programmable dual-RNA-guided DNA endonuclease in adaptive bacterial immunity. Science *337*, 816–821.

Johnson, W.E. (2015). Endogenous Retroviruses in the Genomics Era. Annu Rev Virol 2, 135–159.

Jonkhout, N., Tran, J., Smith, M.A., Schonrock, N., Mattick, J.S., and Novoa, E.M. (2017). The RNA modification landscape in human disease. RNA 23, 1754–1769.

Kaas, G.A., Zhong, C., Eason, D.E., Ross, D.L., Vachhani, R.V., Ming, G.-L., King, J.R., Song, H., and Sweatt, J.D. (2013). TET1 controls CNS 5-methylcytosine hydroxylation, active DNA demethylation, gene transcription, and memory formation. Neuron *79*, 1086–1093.

Kafri, T., Ariel, M., Brandeis, M., Shemer, R., Urven, L., McCarrey, J., Cedar, H., and Razin, A. (1992). Developmental pattern of gene-specific DNA methylation in the mouse embryo and germ line. Genes Dev. *6*, 705–714.

Kamiya, H., Tsuchiya, H., Karino, N., Ueno, Y., Matsuda, A., and Harashima, H. (2002). Mutagenicity of 5-formylcytosine, an oxidation product of 5-methylcytosine, in DNA in mammalian cells. J. Biochem.

132, 551–555. .

Kan, R.L., Chen, J., and Sallam, T. (2022). Crosstalk between epitranscriptomic and epigenetic mechanisms in gene regulation. Trends Genet. *38*, 182–193.

Karimi, M.M., Goyal, P., Maksakova, I.A., Bilenky, M., Leung, D., Tang, J.X., Shinkai, Y., Mager, D.L., Jones, S., Hirst, M., et al. (2011). DNA methylation and SETDB1/H3K9me3 regulate predominantly distinct sets of genes, retroelements, and chimeric transcripts in mESCs. Cell Stem Cell *8*, 676–687.

Kellner, M.J., Koob, J.G., Gootenberg, J.S., Abudayyeh, O.O., and Zhang, F. (2019). SHERLOCK: nucleic acid detection with CRISPR nucleases. Nat. Protoc. *14*, 2986–3012.

Kernstock, S., Davydova, E., Jakobsson, M., Moen, A., Pettersen, S., Mælandsmo, G.M., Egge-Jacobsen, W., and Falnes, P.Ø. (2012). Lysine methylation of VCP by a member of a novel human protein methyltransferase family. Nat. Commun. *3*, 1038.

Khan, M.A., Rafiq, M.A., Noor, A., Hussain, S., Flores, J.V., Rupp, V., Vincent, A.K., Malli, R., Ali, G., Khan, F.S., et al. (2012). Mutation in NSUN2, which encodes an RNA methyltransferase, causes autosomal-recessive intellectual disability. Am. J. Hum. Genet. *90*, 856–863.

Khoueiry, R., Sohni, A., Thienpont, B., Luo, X., Velde, J.V., Bartoccetti, M., Boeckx, B., Zwijsen, A., Rao, A., Lambrechts, D., et al. (2017). Lineage-specific functions of TET1 in the postimplantation mouse embryo. Nat. Genet. *49*, 1061–1072.

Kigami, D., Minami, N., Takayama, H., and Imai, H. (2003). MuERV-L is one of the earliest transcribed genes in mouse one-cell embryos. Biol. Reprod. *68*, 651–654.

Ko, M., An, J., Bandukwala, H.S., Chavez, L., Aijö, T., Pastor, W.A., Segal, M.F., Li, H., Koh, K.P., Lähdesmäki, H., et al. (2013). Modulation of TET2 expression and 5-methylcytosine oxidation by the CXXC domain protein IDAX. Nature *497*, 122–126.

Kong, X., Chen, J., Xie, W., Brown, S.M., Cai, Y., Wu, K., Fan, D., Nie, Y., Yegnasubramanian, S., Tiedemann, R.L., et al. (2019). Defining UHRF1 Domains that Support Maintenance of Human Colon Cancer DNA Methylation and Oncogenic Properties. Cancer Cell *35*, 633–648.e7.

Kori, S., Jimenji, T., Ekimoto, T., Sato, M., Kusano, F., Oda, T., Unoki, M., Ikeguchi, M., and Arita, K. (2020). Serine 298 Phosphorylation in Linker 2 of UHRF1 Regulates Ligand-Binding Property of Its Tandem Tudor Domain. J. Mol. Biol. *432*, 4061–4075.

Kornberg, R.D., and Lorch, Y. (1999). Twenty-five years of the nucleosome, fundamental particle of the eukaryote chromosome. Cell *98*, 285–294.

Kossel, A. (1884). Ueber einen peptonartigen Bestandtheil des Zellkerns. Bchm *8*, 511–515. https://doi.org/10.1515/bchm1.1884.8.6.511.

Kriaucionis, S., and Heintz, N. (2009). The nuclear DNA base 5-hydroxymethylcytosine is present in Purkinje neurons and the brain. Science *324*, 929–930.

Kuhn, C.-D. (2016). RNA versatility governs tRNA function: Why tRNA flexibility is essential beyond the translation cycle. Bioessays *38*, 465–473.

Kuramochi-Miyagawa, S., Watanabe, T., Gotoh, K., Totoki, Y., Toyoda, A., Ikawa, M., Asada, N., Kojima, K., Yamaguchi, Y., Ijiri, T.W., et al. (2008). DNA methylation of retrotransposon genes is regulated by Piwi family members MILI and MIWI2 in murine fetal testes. Genes & Development *22*, 908–917. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1640708.

Lachner, M., O'Carroll, D., Rea, S., Mechtler, K., and Jenuwein, T. (2001). Methylation of histone H3 lysine 9 creates a binding site for HP1 proteins. Nature *410*, 116–120.

Lan, J., Rajan, N., Bizet, M., Penning, A., Singh, N.K., Guallar, D., Calonne, E., Li Greci, A., Bonvin, E., Deplus, R., et al. (2020). Functional role of Tet-mediated RNA hydroxymethylcytosine in mouse ES cells and during differentiation. Nat. Commun. *11*, 4956.

Lander, E.S., Linton, L.M., Birren, B., Nusbaum, C., Zody, M.C., Baldwin, J., Devon, K., Dewar, K., Doyle, M., FitzHugh, W., et al. (2001). Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome. Nature *409*, 860–921.

Landry, J., Sharov, A.A., Piao, Y., Sharova, L.V., Xiao, H., Southon, E., Matta, J., Tessarollo, L., Zhang, Y.E., Ko, M.S.H., et al. (2008). Essential Role of Chromatin Remodeling Protein Bptf in Early Mouse Embryos and Embryonic Stem Cells. PLoS Genetics *4*, e1000241. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1000241.

Laszlo, A.H., Derrington, I.M., Brinkerhoff, H., Langford, K.W., Nova, I.C., Samson, J.M., Bartlett, J.J., Pavlenok, M., and Gundlach, J.H. (2013). Detection and mapping of 5-methylcytosine and 5hydroxymethylcytosine with nanopore MspA. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *110*, 18904–18909.

Leger, A., Amaral, P.P., Pandolfini, L., Capitanchik, C., Capraro, F., Miano, V., Migliori, V., Toolan-Kerr, P., Sideri, T., Enright, A.J., et al. (2021). RNA modifications detection by comparative Nanopore direct RNA sequencing. Nat. Commun. *12*, 7198.

Lehnertz, B., Ueda, Y., Derijck, A.A.H.A., Braunschweig, U., Perez-Burgos, L., Kubicek, S., Chen, T., Li, E., Jenuwein, T., and Peters, A.H.F.M. (2003). Suv39h-mediated histone H3 lysine 9 methylation directs DNA methylation to major satellite repeats at pericentric heterochromatin. Curr. Biol. *13*, 1192–1200.

Lei, H., Oh, S.P., Okano, M., Jüttermann, R., Goss, K.A., Jaenisch, R., and Li, E. (1996). De novo DNA cytosine methyltransferase activities in mouse embryonic stem cells. Development *122*, 3195–3205.

Leng, F., Yu, J., Zhang, C., Alejo, S., Hoang, N., Sun, H., Lu, F., and Zhang, H. (2018). Methylated DNMT1 and E2F1 are targeted for proteolysis by L3MBTL3 and CRL4DCAF5 ubiquitin ligase. Nature Communications *9*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-04019-9.

Leonhardt, H., Page, A.W., Weier, H.-U., and Bestor, T.H. (1992a). A targeting sequence directs DNA methyltransferase to sites of DNA replication in mammalian nuclei. Cell *71*, 865–873. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(92)90561-p.

Leonhardt, H., Page, A.W., Weier, H.U., and Bestor, T.H. (1992b). A targeting sequence directs DNA methyltransferase to sites of DNA replication in mammalian nuclei. Cell *71*, 865–873.

Lepack, A.E., Werner, C.T., Stewart, A.F., Fulton, S.L., Zhong, P., Farrelly, L.A., Smith, A.C.W., Ramakrishnan, A., Lyu, Y., Bastle, R.M., et al. (2020). Dopaminylation of histone H3 in ventral tegmental area regulates cocaine seeking. Science *368*, 197–201.

Levis, R., and Penman, S. (1978). 5'-terminal structures of poly(A)+ cytoplasmic messenger RNA and of poly(A)+ and poly(A)- heterogeneous nuclear RNA of cells of the dipteran Drosophila melanogaster. J. Mol. Biol. *120*, 487–515.

Li, E., Bestor, T.H., and Jaenisch, R. (1992). Targeted mutation of the DNA methyltransferase gene results in embryonic lethality. Cell *69*, 915–926.

Li, F., Zhao, D., Wu, J., and Shi, Y. (2014a). Structure of the YTH domain of human YTHDF2 in

complex with an m6A mononucleotide reveals an aromatic cage for m6A recognition. Cell Research 24, 1490–1492. https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2014.153.

Li, J., Kannan, M., Trivett, A.L., Liao, H., Wu, X., Akagi, K., and Symer, D.E. (2014b). An antisense promoter in mouse L1 retrotransposon open reading frame-1 initiates expression of diverse fusion transcripts and limits retrotransposition. Nucleic Acids Res. *42*, 4546–4562.

Li, W., Karwacki-Neisius, V., Ma, C., Tan, L., Shi, Y., Wu, F., and Shi, Y.G. (2020). Nono deficiency compromises TET1 chromatin association and impedes neuronal differentiation of mouse embryonic stem cells. Nucleic Acids Res. *48*, 4827–4838.

Li, Y., Zhang, Z., Chen, J., Liu, W., Lai, W., Liu, B., Li, X., Liu, L., Xu, S., Dong, Q., et al. (2018). Stella safeguards the oocyte methylome by preventing de novo methylation mediated by DNMT1. Nature *564*, 136–140. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0751-5.

Li, Z., Cai, X., Cai, C.-L., Wang, J., Zhang, W., Petersen, B.E., Yang, F.-C., and Xu, M. (2011). Deletion of Tet2 in mice leads to dysregulated hematopoietic stem cells and subsequent development of myeloid malignancies. Blood *118*, 4509–4518.

Li, Z., Weng, H., Su, R., Weng, X., Zuo, Z., Li, C., Huang, H., Nachtergaele, S., Dong, L., Hu, C., et al. (2017). FTO Plays an Oncogenic Role in Acute Myeloid Leukemia as a N-Methyladenosine RNA Demethylase. Cancer Cell *31*, 127–141.

Lin, S., Choe, J., Du, P., Triboulet, R., and Gregory, R.I. (2016). The m 6 A Methyltransferase METTL3 Promotes Translation in Human Cancer Cells. Molecular Cell *62*, 335–345. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2016.03.021.

Lin, S., Liu, Q., Lelyveld, V.S., Choe, J., Szostak, J.W., and Gregory, R.I. (2018). Mettl1/Wdr4-Mediated mG tRNA Methylome Is Required for Normal mRNA Translation and Embryonic Stem Cell Self-Renewal and Differentiation. Mol. Cell *71*, 244–255.e5.

Lindahl, T. (1993). Instability and decay of the primary structure of DNA. Nature 362, 709-715. .

Liu, H., Begik, O., Lucas, M.C., Ramirez, J.M., Mason, C.E., Wiener, D., Schwartz, S., Mattick, J.S., Smith, M.A., and Novoa, E.M. (2019). Accurate detection of mA RNA modifications in native RNA sequences. Nat. Commun. *10*, 4079. .

Liu, J., Yue, Y., Han, D., Wang, X., Fu, Y., Zhang, L., Jia, G., Yu, M., Lu, Z., Deng, X., et al. (2014a). A METTL3-METTL14 complex mediates mammalian nuclear RNA N6-adenosine methylation. Nat. Chem. Biol. *10*, 93–95.

Liu, J., Gao, M., He, J., Wu, K., Lin, S., Jin, L., Chen, Y., Liu, H., Shi, J., Wang, X., et al. (2021a). The RNA mA reader YTHDC1 silences retrotransposons and guards ES cell identity. Nature *591*, 322–326.

Liu, P., Chen, M., Liu, Y., Qi, L.S., and Ding, S. (2018). CRISPR-Based Chromatin Remodeling of the Endogenous Oct4 or Sox2 Locus Enables Reprogramming to Pluripotency. Cell Stem Cell *22*, 252–261.e4.

Liu, S., Brind'Amour, J., Karimi, M.M., Shirane, K., Bogutz, A., Lefebvre, L., Sasaki, H., Shinkai, Y., and Lorincz, M.C. (2014b). Setdb1 is required for germline development and silencing of H3K9me3-marked endogenous retroviruses in primordial germ cells. Genes Dev. *28*, 2041–2055.

Liu, X., Gao, Q., Li, P., Zhao, Q., Zhang, J., Li, J., Koseki, H., and Wong, J. (2013). UHRF1 targets DNMT1 for DNA methylation through cooperative binding of hemi-methylated DNA and methylated H3K9. Nat. Commun. *4*, 1563.

Liu, X., Tan, J.P., Schröder, J., Aberkane, A., Ouyang, J.F., Mohenska, M., Lim, S.M., Sun, Y.B.Y., Chen, J., Sun, G., et al. (2021b). Modelling human blastocysts by reprogramming fibroblasts into iBlastoids. Nature *591*, 627–632.

Liu, Y., Perez, L., Gill, A.D., Mettry, M., Li, L., Wang, Y., Hooley, R.J., and Zhong, W. (2017). Site-Selective Sensing of Histone Methylation Enzyme Activity via an Arrayed Supramolecular Tandem Assay. J. Am. Chem. Soc. *139*, 10964–10967.

Liu, Y., Liang, G., Xu, H., Dong, W., Dong, Z., Qiu, Z., Zhang, Z., Li, F., Huang, Y., Li, Y., et al. (2021c). Tumors exploit FTO-mediated regulation of glycolytic metabolism to evade immune surveillance. Cell Metab. *33*, 1221–1233.e11. .

Loenarz, C., and Schofield, C.J. (2011). Physiological and biochemical aspects of hydroxylations and demethylations catalyzed by human 2-oxoglutarate oxygenases. Trends Biochem. Sci. *36*, 7–18.

Logsdon, G.A., Vollger, M.R., and Eichler, E.E. (2020). Long-read human genome sequencing and its applications. Nature Reviews Genetics *21*, 597–614. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41576-020-0236-x.

Long, C., Amoasii, L., Mireault, A.A., McAnally, J.R., Li, H., Sanchez-Ortiz, E., Bhattacharyya, S., Shelton, J.M., Bassel-Duby, R., and Olson, E.N. (2016). Postnatal genome editing partially restores dystrophin expression in a mouse model of muscular dystrophy. Science *351*, 400–403. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aad5725.

Lorsbach, R.B., Moore, J., Mathew, S., Raimondi, S.C., Mukatira, S.T., and Downing, J.R. (2003). TET1, a member of a novel protein family, is fused to MLL in acute myeloid leukemia containing the t(10;11)(q22;q23). Leukemia *17*, 637–641.

Lu, F., Liu, Y., Jiang, L., Yamaguchi, S., and Zhang, Y. (2014). Role of Tet proteins in enhancer activity and telomere elongation. Genes Dev. 28, 2103–2119.

Lu, X., Han, D., Zhao, B.S., Song, C.-X., Zhang, L.-S., Doré, L.C., and He, C. (2015). Base-resolution maps of 5-formylcytosine and 5-carboxylcytosine reveal genome-wide DNA demethylation dynamics. Cell Res. *25*, 386–389.

Lucarelli, M., Fuso, A., Strom, R., and Scarpa, S. (2001). The Dynamics of Myogenin Site-specific Demethylation Is Strongly Correlated with Its Expression and with Muscle Differentiation. Journal of Biological Chemistry *276*, 7500–7506. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.m008234200.

Luger, K., and Hansen, J.C. (2005). Nucleosome and chromatin fiber dynamics. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. *15*, 188–196.

Luger, K., Mäder, A.W., Richmond, R.K., Sargent, D.F., and Richmond, T.J. (1997). Crystal structure of the nucleosome core particle at 2.8 A resolution. Nature *389*, 251–260.

Lynch, V.J., Leclerc, R.D., May, G., and Wagner, G.P. (2011). Transposon-mediated rewiring of gene regulatory networks contributed to the evolution of pregnancy in mammals. Nature Genetics *43*, 1154–1159. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.917.

Ma, H., Chen, H., Guo, X., Wang, Z., Sowa, M.E., Zheng, L., Hu, S., Zeng, P., Guo, R., Diao, J., et al. (2012). M phase phosphorylation of the epigenetic regulator UHRF1 regulates its physical association with the deubiquitylase USP7 and stability. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *109*, 4828–4833.

Ma, H., Wang, X., Cai, J., Dai, Q., Natchiar, S.K., Lv, R., Chen, K., Lu, Z., Chen, H., Shi, Y.G., et al. (2019). NMethyladenosine methyltransferase ZCCHC4 mediates ribosomal RNA methylation. Nat. Chem. Biol. *15*, 88–94.

Macfarlan, T.S., Gifford, W.D., Driscoll, S., Lettieri, K., Rowe, H.M., Bonanomi, D., Firth, A., Singer, O., Trono, D., and Pfaff, S.L. (2012). Embryonic stem cell potency fluctuates with endogenous retrovirus activity. Nature *487*, 57–63.

Machnicka, M.A., Milanowska, K., Osman Oglou, O., Purta, E., Kurkowska, M., Olchowik, A., Januszewski, W., Kalinowski, S., Dunin-Horkawicz, S., Rother, K.M., et al. (2013). MODOMICS: a database of RNA modification pathways--2013 update. Nucleic Acids Res. *41*, D262–D267.

Macleod, D., Clark, V.H., and Bird, A. (1999). Absence of genome-wide changes in DNA methylation during development of the zebrafish. Nat. Genet. 23, 139–140.

Maden, B.E. (1986). Identification of the locations of the methyl groups in 18 S ribosomal RNA from Xenopus laevis and man. J. Mol. Biol. *189*, 681–699.

Maden, B.E. (1988). Locations of methyl groups in 28 S rRNA of Xenopus laevis and man. Clustering in the conserved core of molecule. J. Mol. Biol. *201*, 289–314.

Madine, M.A., Khoo, C.Y., Mills, A.D., and Laskey, R.A. (1995). MCM3 complex required for cell cycle regulation of DNA replication in vertebrate cells. Nature *375*, 421–424.

Maeder, M.L., Linder, S.J., Cascio, V.M., Fu, Y., Ho, Q.H., and Joung, J.K. (2013). CRISPR RNAguided activation of endogenous human genes. Nat. Methods *10*, 977–979.

Maenohara, S., Unoki, M., Toh, H., Ohishi, H., Sharif, J., Koseki, H., and Sasaki, H. (2017). Role of UHRF1 in de novo DNA methylation in oocytes and maintenance methylation in preimplantation embryos. PLoS Genet. *13*, e1007042.

Mahfoudhi, E., Talhaoui, I., Cabagnols, X., Della Valle, V., Secardin, L., Rameau, P., Bernard, O.A., Ishchenko, A.A., Abbes, S., Vainchenker, W., et al. (2016). TET2-mediated 5-hydroxymethylcytosine induces genetic instability and mutagenesis. DNA Repair *43*, 78–88.

Maiti, A., and Drohat, A.C. (2011). Thymine DNA glycosylase can rapidly excise 5-formylcytosine and 5-carboxylcytosine: potential implications for active demethylation of CpG sites. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 35334–35338.

Mali, P., Yang, L., Esvelt, K.M., Aach, J., Guell, M., DiCarlo, J.E., Norville, J.E., and Church, G.M. (2013). RNA-Guided Human Genome Engineering via Cas9. Science *339*, 823–826. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1232033.

Manzo, M., Wirz, J., Ambrosi, C., Villaseñor, R., Roschitzki, B., and Baubec, T. (2017). Isoformspecific localization of DNMT3A regulates DNA methylation fidelity at bivalent CpG islands. EMBO J. *36*, 3421–3434.

Matsui, T., Leung, D., Miyashita, H., Maksakova, I.A., Miyachi, H., Kimura, H., Tachibana, M., Lorincz, M.C., and Shinkai, Y. (2010). Proviral silencing in embryonic stem cells requires the histone methyltransferase ESET. Nature *464*, 927–931.

McCLINTOCK, B. (1951). Chromosome organization and genic expression. Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol. *16*, 13–47.

McIntyre, A.B.R., Alexander, N., Grigorev, K., Bezdan, D., Sichtig, H., Chiu, C.Y., and Mason, C.E. (2019). Single-molecule sequencing detection of N6-methyladenine in microbial reference materials. Nat. Commun. *10*, 579.

Mellén, M., Ayata, P., Dewell, S., Kriaucionis, S., and Heintz, N. (2012). MeCP2 binds to 5hmC enriched within active genes and accessible chromatin in the nervous system. Cell *151*, 1417–1430.

Mendel, M., Chen, K.-M., Homolka, D., Gos, P., Pandey, R.R., McCarthy, A.A., and Pillai, R.S. (2018). Methylation of Structured RNA by the m6A Writer METTL16 Is Essential for Mouse Embryonic Development. Molecular Cell *71*, 986–1000.e11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2018.08.004.

von Meyenn, F., Iurlaro, M., Habibi, E., Liu, N.Q., Salehzadeh-Yazdi, A., Santos, F., Petrini, E., Milagre, I., Yu, M., Xie, Z., et al. (2016). Impairment of DNA methylation maintenance is the main cause of global demethylation in naive embryonic stem cells. Mol. Cell *6*2, 848–861.

Meyer, K.D., and Jaffrey, S.R. (2014). The dynamic epitranscriptome: N6-methyladenosine and gene expression control. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. *15*, 313–326.

Mi, S., Lee, X., Li, X., Veldman, G.M., Finnerty, H., Racie, L., LaVallie, E., Tang, X.Y., Edouard, P., Howes, S., et al. (2000). Syncytin is a captive retroviral envelope protein involved in human placental morphogenesis. Nature *403*, 785–789.

Mikkelsen, T.S., Ku, M., Jaffe, D.B., Issac, B., Lieberman, E., Giannoukos, G., Alvarez, P., Brockman, W., Kim, T.-K., Koche, R.P., et al. (2007). Genome-wide maps of chromatin state in pluripotent and lineage-committed cells. Nature *448*, 553–560. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06008.

Millán-Zambrano, G., Burton, A., Bannister, A.J., and Schneider, R. (2022). Histone post-translational modifications — cause and consequence of genome function. Nature Reviews Genetics https://doi.org/10.1038/s41576-022-00468-7.

Miller, J.C., Holmes, M.C., Wang, J., Guschin, D.Y., Lee, Y.-L., Rupniewski, I., Beausejour, C.M., Waite, A.J., Wang, N.S., Kim, K.A., et al. (2007). An improved zinc-finger nuclease architecture for highly specific genome editing. Nat. Biotechnol. *25*, 778–785.

Miller, S.M., Wang, T., Randolph, P.B., Arbab, M., Shen, M.W., Huang, T.P., Matuszek, Z., Newby, G.A., Rees, H.A., and Liu, D.R. (2020). Continuous evolution of SpCas9 variants compatible with non-G PAMs. Nat. Biotechnol. *38*, 471–481.

Min, Y.-L., Li, H., Rodriguez-Caycedo, C., Mireault, A.A., Huang, J., Shelton, J.M., McAnally, J.R., Amoasii, L., Mammen, P.P.A., Bassel-Duby, R., et al. (2019). CRISPR-Cas9 corrects Duchenne muscular dystrophy exon 44 deletion mutations in mice and human cells. Sci Adv *5*, eaav4324.

Montagner, S., Leoni, C., Emming, S., Della Chiara, G., Balestrieri, C., Barozzi, I., Piccolo, V., Togher, S., Ko, M., Rao, A., et al. (2017). TET2 Regulates Mast Cell Differentiation and Proliferation through Catalytic and Non-catalytic Activities. Cell Rep. *20*, 1744.

Montalbán-Loro, R., Lozano-Ureña, A., Ito, M., Krueger, C., Reik, W., Ferguson-Smith, A.C., and Ferrón, S.R. (2019). TET3 prevents terminal differentiation of adult NSCs by a non-catalytic action at Snrpn. Nat. Commun. *10*, 1726.

Moran-Crusio, K., Reavie, L., Shih, A., Abdel-Wahab, O., Ndiaye-Lobry, D., Lobry, C., Figueroa, M.E., Vasanthakumar, A., Patel, J., Zhao, X., et al. (2011). Tet2 loss leads to increased hematopoietic stem cell self-renewal and myeloid transformation. Cancer Cell *20*, 11–24.

Morgan, T.H. (1911). An attempt to analyze the constitution of the chromosomes on the basis of sexlimited inheritance in Drosophila. Journal of Experimental Zoology *11*, 365–413. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.1400110404.

Morrison, A.J., and Shen, X. (2005). DNA repair in the context of chromatin. Cell Cycle 4, 568-571. .

Muller, H.J., and Altenburg, E. (1930). The Frequency of Translocations Produced by X-Rays in Drosophila. Genetics *15*, 283–311.

Müller, M., Lee, C.M., Gasiunas, G., Davis, T.H., Cradick, T.J., Siksnys, V., Bao, G., Cathomen, T., and Mussolino, C. (2016). Streptococcus thermophilus CRISPR-Cas9 Systems Enable Specific Editing of the Human Genome. Mol. Ther. *24*, 636–644.

Münzel, M., Globisch, D., Brückl, T., Wagner, M., Welzmiller, V., Michalakis, S., Müller, M., Biel, M., and Carell, T. (2010). Quantification of the sixth DNA base hydroxymethylcytosine in the brain. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed Engl. *49*, 5375–5377.

Nabet, B., Roberts, J.M., Buckley, D.L., Paulk, J., Dastjerdi, S., Yang, A., Leggett, A.L., Erb, M.A., Lawlor, M.A., Souza, A., et al. (2018). The dTAG system for immediate and target-specific protein degradation. Nat. Chem. Biol. *14*, 431–441.

Nagano, T., Lubling, Y., Stevens, T.J., Schoenfelder, S., Yaffe, E., Dean, W., Laue, E.D., Tanay, A., and Fraser, P. (2013). Single-cell Hi-C reveals cell-to-cell variability in chromosome structure. Nature *502*, 59–64.

Nakamura, T., Liu, Y.-J., Nakashima, H., Umehara, H., Inoue, K., Matoba, S., Tachibana, M., Ogura, A., Shinkai, Y., and Nakano, T. (2012). PGC7 binds histone H3K9me2 to protect against conversion of 5mC to 5hmC in early embryos. Nature *486*, 415–419.

Natchiar, S.K., Myasnikov, A.G., Kratzat, H., Hazemann, I., and Klaholz, B.P. (2017). Visualization of chemical modifications in the human 80S ribosome structure. Nature *551*, 472–477.

Neagu, A., van Genderen, E., Escudero, I., Verwegen, L., Kurek, D., Lehmann, J., Stel, J., Dirks, R.A.M., van Mierlo, G., Maas, A., et al. (2020). In vitro capture and characterization of embryonic rosette-stage pluripotency between naive and primed states. Nat. Cell Biol. *22*, 534–545.

Nellåker, C., Keane, T.M., Yalcin, B., Wong, K., Agam, A., Belgard, T.G., Flint, J., Adams, D.J., Frankel, W.N., and Ponting, C.P. (2012). The genomic landscape shaped by selection on transposable elements across 18 mouse strains. Genome Biol. *13*, R45.

Nelles, D.A., Fang, M.Y., O'Connell, M.R., Xu, J.L., Markmiller, S.J., Doudna, J.A., and Yeo, G.W. (2016). Programmable RNA Tracking in Live Cells with CRISPR/Cas9. Cell *165*, 488–496.

Nelson, C.E., Hakim, C.H., Ousterout, D.G., Thakore, P.I., Moreb, E.A., Castellanos Rivera, R.M., Madhavan, S., Pan, X., Ann Ran, F., Yan, W.X., et al. (2016). In vivo genome editing improves muscle function in a mouse model of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Science *351*, 403–407. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aad5143.

Nelson, C.E., Wu, Y., Gemberling, M.P., Oliver, M.L., Waller, M.A., Bohning, J.D., Robinson-Hamm, J.N., Bulaklak, K., Castellanos Rivera, R.M., Collier, J.H., et al. (2019). Long-term evaluation of AAV-CRISPR genome editing for Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Nat. Med. *25*, 427–432.

Neri, F., Incarnato, D., Krepelova, A., Rapelli, S., Pagnani, A., Zecchina, R., Parlato, C., and Oliviero, S. (2013). Genome-wide analysis identifies a functional association of Tet1 and Polycomb repressive complex 2 in mouse embryonic stem cells. Genome Biol. *14*, R91.

Nguyen, C.T., Weisenberger, D.J., Velicescu, M., Gonzales, F.A., Lin, J.C.Y., Liang, G., and Jones, P.A. (2002). Histone H3-lysine 9 methylation is associated with aberrant gene silencing in cancer cells and is rapidly reversed by 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine. Cancer Res. *62*, 6456–6461.

Nichols, J.L. (1979). "Cap" structures in maize poly(A)-containing RNA. Biochim. Biophys. Acta *563*, 490–495.

Nishimura, K., Fukagawa, T., Takisawa, H., Kakimoto, T., and Kanemaki, M. (2009). An auxin-based degron system for the rapid depletion of proteins in nonplant cells. Nat. Methods *6*, 917–922.

Nishiyama, A., and Nakanishi, M. (2021). Navigating the DNA methylation landscape of cancer. Trends Genet. *37*, 1012–1027. .

Nishiyama, A., Yamaguchi, L., Sharif, J., Johmura, Y., Kawamura, T., Nakanishi, K., Shimamura, S., Arita, K., Kodama, T., Ishikawa, F., et al. (2013). Uhrf1-dependent H3K23 ubiquitylation couples maintenance DNA methylation and replication. Nature *502*, 249–253.

Nishiyama, A., Mulholland, C.B., Bultmann, S., Kori, S., Endo, A., Saeki, Y., Qin, W., Trummer, C., Chiba, Y., Yokoyama, H., et al. (2020). Two distinct modes of DNMT1 recruitment ensure stable maintenance DNA methylation. Nat. Commun. *11*, 1222.

O'Carroll, D., Erhardt, S., Pagani, M., Barton, S.C., Surani, M.A., and Jenuwein, T. (2001). The polycomb-group gene Ezh2 is required for early mouse development. Mol. Cell. Biol. *21*, 4330–4336.

O'Connell, M.R., Oakes, B.L., Sternberg, S.H., East-Seletsky, A., Kaplan, M., and Doudna, J.A. (2014). Programmable RNA recognition and cleavage by CRISPR/Cas9. Nature *516*, 263–266.

Ohno, R., Nakayama, M., Naruse, C., Okashita, N., Takano, O., Tachibana, M., Asano, M., Saitou, M., and Seki, Y. (2013). A replication-dependent passive mechanism modulates DNA demethylation in mouse primordial germ cells. Development *140*, 2892–2903.

Okano, M., Xie, S., and Li, E. (1998). Cloning and characterization of a family of novel mammalian DNA (cytosine-5) methyltransferases. Nat. Genet. *19*, 219–220.

Okano, M., Bell, D.W., Haber, D.A., and Li, E. (1999). DNA Methyltransferases Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b Are Essential for De Novo Methylation and Mammalian Development. Cell *99*, 247–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81656-6.

Olins, A.L., and Olins, D.E. (1974). Spheroid chromatin units (v bodies). Science 183, 330-332. .

Ono, R., Taki, T., Taketani, T., Taniwaki, M., Kobayashi, H., and Hayashi, Y. (2002). LCX, leukemiaassociated protein with a CXXC domain, is fused to MLL in acute myeloid leukemia with trilineage dysplasia having t(10;11)(q22;q23). Cancer Res. *62*, 4075–4080.

Ooi, S.K.T., Qiu, C., Bernstein, E., Li, K., Jia, D., Yang, Z., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Tempst, P., Lin, S.-P., Allis, C.D., et al. (2007). DNMT3L connects unmethylated lysine 4 of histone H3 to de novo methylation of DNA. Nature *448*, 714–717.

Otani, J., Nankumo, T., Arita, K., Inamoto, S., Ariyoshi, M., and Shirakawa, M. (2009). Structural basis for recognition of H3K4 methylation status by the DNA methyltransferase 3A ATRX-DNMT3-DNMT3L domain. EMBO Rep. *10*, 1235–1241.

Oudet, P., Gross-Bellard, M., and Chambon, P. (1975). Electron microscopic and biochemical evidence that chromatin structure is a repeating unit. Cell *4*, 281–300.

Pal-Bhadra, M., Leibovitch, B.A., Gandhi, S.G., Chikka, M.R., Bhadra, U., Birchler, J.A., and Elgin, S.C.R. (2004). Heterochromatic silencing and HP1 localization in Drosophila are dependent on the RNAi machinery. Science *303*, 669–672.

Palmer, D.K., O'Day, K., Trong, H.L., Charbonneau, H., and Margolis, R.L. (1991). Purification of the centromere-specific protein CENP-A and demonstration that it is a distinctive histone. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *88*, 3734–3738.

Pan, T. (2018). Modifications and functional genomics of human transfer RNA. Cell Res. 28, 395–404.

Pasini, D., Bracken, A.P., Jensen, M.R., Lazzerini Denchi, E., and Helin, K. (2004). Suz12 is essential for mouse development and for EZH2 histone methyltransferase activity. EMBO J. 23, 4061–4071.

Pasquarella, A., Ebert, A., Pereira de Almeida, G., Hinterberger, M., Kazerani, M., Nuber, A., Ellwart, J., Klein, L., Busslinger, M., and Schotta, G. (2016). Retrotransposon derepression leads to activation of the unfolded protein response and apoptosis in pro-B cells. Development *143*, 1788–1799.

Pastor, W.A., Pape, U.J., Huang, Y., Henderson, H.R., Lister, R., Ko, M., McLoughlin, E.M., Brudno, Y., Mahapatra, S., Kapranov, P., et al. (2011). Genome-wide mapping of 5-hydroxymethylcytosine in embryonic stem cells. Nature *473*, 394–397.

Patel, A.P., Tirosh, I., Trombetta, J.J., Shalek, A.K., Gillespie, S.M., Wakimoto, H., Cahill, D.P., Nahed, B.V., Curry, W.T., Martuza, R.L., et al. (2014). Single-cell RNA-seq highlights intratumoral heterogeneity in primary glioblastoma. Science *344*, 1396–1401.

Peaston, A.E., Evsikov, A.V., Graber, J.H., de Vries, W.N., Holbrook, A.E., Solter, D., and Knowles, B.B. (2004). Retrotransposons regulate host genes in mouse oocytes and preimplantation embryos. Dev. Cell *7*, 597–606.

Pendleton, K.E., Chen, B., Liu, K., Hunter, O.V., Xie, Y., Tu, B.P., and Conrad, N.K. (2017). The U6 snRNA m 6 A Methyltransferase METTL16 Regulates SAM Synthetase Intron Retention. Cell *169*, 824–835.e14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.05.003.

Perez-Pinera, P., Kocak, D.D., Vockley, C.M., Adler, A.F., Kabadi, A.M., Polstein, L.R., Thakore, P.I., Glass, K.A., Ousterout, D.G., Leong, K.W., et al. (2013). RNA-guided gene activation by CRISPR-Cas9-based transcription factors. Nat. Methods *10*, 973–976.

Petryk, N., Bultmann, S., Bartke, T., and Defossez, P.-A. (2021). Staying true to yourself: mechanisms of DNA methylation maintenance in mammals. Nucleic Acids Res. *49*, 3020–3032.

Pfaffeneder, T., Hackner, B., Truss, M., Münzel, M., Müller, M., Deiml, C.A., Hagemeier, C., and Carell, T. (2011). The discovery of 5-formylcytosine in embryonic stem cell DNA. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed Engl. *50*, 7008–7012.

Pickar-Oliver, A., and Gersbach, C.A. (2019). The next generation of CRISPR-Cas technologies and applications. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 20, 490–507.

Ping, X.-L., Sun, B.-F., Wang, L., Xiao, W., Yang, X., Wang, W.-J., Adhikari, S., Shi, Y., Lv, Y., Chen, Y.-S., et al. (2014). Mammalian WTAP is a regulatory subunit of the RNA N6-methyladenosine methyltransferase. Cell Res. *24*, 177–189.

Polikanov, Y.S., Melnikov, S.V., Söll, D., and Steitz, T.A. (2015). Structural insights into the role of rRNA modifications in protein synthesis and ribosome assembly. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 22, 342–344.

Qi, L.S., Larson, M.H., Gilbert, L.A., Doudna, J.A., Weissman, J.S., Arkin, A.P., and Lim, W.A. (2013). Repurposing CRISPR as an RNA-guided platform for sequence-specific control of gene expression. Cell *152*, 1173–1183.

Qin, W., Wolf, P., Liu, N., Link, S., Smets, M., La Mastra, F., Forné, I., Pichler, G., Hörl, D., Fellinger, K., et al. (2015). DNA methylation requires a DNMT1 ubiquitin interacting motif (UIM) and histone ubiquitination. Cell Res. *25*, 911–929.

Rae, P.M., and Steele, R.E. (1979). Absence of cytosine methylation at C-C-G-G and G-C-G-C sites in the rDNA coding regions and intervening sequences of Drosophila and the rDNA of other insects. Nucleic Acids Res. *6*, 2987–2995.

Raiber, E.-A., Beraldi, D., Ficz, G., Burgess, H.E., Branco, M.R., Murat, P., Oxley, D., Booth, M.J., Reik, W., and Balasubramanian, S. (2012). Genome-wide distribution of 5-formylcytosine in embryonic stem cells is associated with transcription and depends on thymine DNA glycosylase. Genome Biol. *13*, R69.

Raiber, E.-A., Murat, P., Chirgadze, D.Y., Beraldi, D., Luisi, B.F., and Balasubramanian, S. (2015). 5-Formylcytosine alters the structure of the DNA double helix. Nature Structural & Molecular Biology 22, 44–49. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb.2936.

Ran, F.A., Ann Ran, F., Cong, L., Yan, W.X., Scott, D.A., Gootenberg, J.S., Kriz, A.J., Zetsche, B., Shalem, O., Wu, X., et al. (2015). In vivo genome editing using Staphylococcus aureus Cas9. Nature *520*, 186–191. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14299.

Rand, A.C., Jain, M., Eizenga, J.M., Musselman-Brown, A., Olsen, H.E., Akeson, M., and Paten, B. (2017). Mapping DNA methylation with high-throughput nanopore sequencing. Nat. Methods *14*, 411–413.

Rapino, F., Delaunay, S., Rambow, F., Zhou, Z., Tharun, L., De Tullio, P., Sin, O., Shostak, K., Schmitz, S., Piepers, J., et al. (2021). Author Correction: Codon-specific translation reprogramming promotes resistance to targeted therapy. Nature *599*, E14.

Ren, W., Fan, H., Grimm, S.A., Guo, Y., Kim, J.J., Yin, J., Li, L., Petell, C.J., Tan, X.-F., Zhang, Z.-M., et al. (2020). Direct readout of heterochromatic H3K9me3 regulates DNMT1-mediated maintenance DNA methylation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *117*, 18439–18447.

Ren, W., Fan, H., Grimm, S.A., Kim, J.J., Li, L., Guo, Y., Petell, C.J., Tan, X.-F., Zhang, Z.-M., Coan, J.P., et al. (2021). DNMT1 reads heterochromatic H4K20me3 to reinforce LINE-1 DNA methylation. Nat. Commun. *12*, 2490. .

de la Rica, L., Deniz, Ö., Cheng, K.C.L., Todd, C.D., Cruz, C., Houseley, J., and Branco, M.R. (2016). TET-dependent regulation of retrotransposable elements in mouse embryonic stem cells. Genome Biol. *17*, 234.

Rice, J.C., and Allis, C.D. (2001). Histone methylation versus histone acetylation: new insights into epigenetic regulation. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. *13*, 263–273.

Richmond, T.J., and Davey, C.A. (2003). The structure of DNA in the nucleosome core. Nature 423, 145–150. .

Roberts, H.E., Lopopolo, M., Pagnamenta, A.T., Sharma, E., Parkes, D., Lonie, L., Freeman, C., Knight, S.J.L., Lunter, G., Dreau, H., et al. Short and long-read genome sequencing methodologies for somatic variant detection; genomic analysis of a patient with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.03.24.999870.

Robertson, K.D. (2005). DNA methylation and human disease. Nat. Rev. Genet. 6, 597-610.

Ronaghi, M., Uhlén, M., and Nyrén, P. (1998). A Sequencing Method Based on Real-Time Pyrophosphate. Science *281*, 363–365. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.281.5375.363.

Rotem, A., Ram, O., Shoresh, N., Sperling, R.A., Goren, A., Weitz, D.A., and Bernstein, B.E. (2015). Single-cell ChIP-seq reveals cell subpopulations defined by chromatin state. Nat. Biotechnol. *33*, 1165–1172.

Rothbart, S.B., Krajewski, K., Nady, N., Tempel, W., Xue, S., Badeaux, A.I., Barsyte-Lovejoy, D., Martinez, J.Y., Bedford, M.T., Fuchs, S.M., et al. (2012). Association of UHRF1 with methylated H3K9 directs the maintenance of DNA methylation. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. *19*, 1155–1160.

Rothbart, S.B., Dickson, B.M., Ong, M.S., Krajewski, K., Houliston, S., Kireev, D.B., Arrowsmith, C.H., and Strahl, B.D. (2013). Multivalent histone engagement by the linked tandem Tudor and PHD domains of UHRF1 is required for the epigenetic inheritance of DNA methylation. Genes Dev. *27*, 1288–1298.

Roulois, D., Loo Yau, H., Singhania, R., Wang, Y., Danesh, A., Shen, S.Y., Han, H., Liang, G., Jones, P.A., Pugh, T.J., et al. (2015). DNA-Demethylating Agents Target Colorectal Cancer Cells by Inducing Viral Mimicry by Endogenous Transcripts. Cell *162*, 961–973.

Roundtree, I.A., Evans, M.E., Pan, T., and He, C. (2017). Dynamic RNA Modifications in Gene Expression Regulation. Cell *169*, 1187–1200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.05.045.

Rowe, H.M., Jakobsson, J., Mesnard, D., Rougemont, J., Reynard, S., Aktas, T., Maillard, P.V., Layard-Liesching, H., Verp, S., Marquis, J., et al. (2010). KAP1 controls endogenous retroviruses in embryonic stem cells. Nature *463*, 237–240.

Rudenko, A., Dawlaty, M.M., Seo, J., Cheng, A.W., Meng, J., Le, T., Faull, K.F., Jaenisch, R., and Tsai, L.-H. (2013). Tet1 is critical for neuronal activity-regulated gene expression and memory extinction. Neuron *79*, 1109–1122.

Ruthenburg, A.J., Li, H., Milne, T.A., Dewell, S., McGinty, R.K., Yuen, M., Ueberheide, B., Dou, Y., Muir, T.W., Patel, D.J., et al. (2011). Recognition of a mononucleosomal histone modification pattern by BPTF via multivalent interactions. Cell *145*, 692–706.

Ryan, J. (2020). Imaging the binding and diffusive behaviours of epigenetic modifiers Tet1 and Tet2 in live embryonic stem cells. Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München.

Sakaue, M., Ohta, H., Kumaki, Y., Oda, M., Sakaide, Y., Matsuoka, C., Yamagiwa, A., Niwa, H., Wakayama, T., and Okano, M. (2010). DNA methylation is dispensable for the growth and survival of the extraembryonic lineages. Curr. Biol. *20*, 1452–1457.

Santos, F., Hendrich, B., Reik, W., and Dean, W. (2002). Dynamic reprogramming of DNA methylation in the early mouse embryo. Dev. Biol. *241*, 172–182.

Schermelleh, L., Haemmer, A., Spada, F., Rösing, N., Meilinger, D., Rothbauer, U., Cardoso, M.C., and Leonhardt, H. (2007). Dynamics of Dnmt1 interaction with the replication machinery and its role in postreplicative maintenance of DNA methylation. Nucleic Acids Res. *35*, 4301–4312.

Schneider, M., Trummer, C., Stengl, A., Zhang, P., Szwagierczak, A., Cardoso, M.C., Leonhardt, H., Bauer, C., and Antes, I. (2020). Systematic analysis of the binding behaviour of UHRF1 towards different methyl- and carboxylcytosine modification patterns at CpG dyads. PLoS One *15*, e0229144.

Schorn, A.J., Gutbrod, M.J., LeBlanc, C., and Martienssen, R. (2017). LTR-Retrotransposon Control by tRNA-Derived Small RNAs. Cell *170*, 61–71.e11.

Schotta, G., Lachner, M., Sarma, K., Ebert, A., Sengupta, R., Reuter, G., Reinberg, D., and Jenuwein, T. (2004). A silencing pathway to induce H3-K9 and H4-K20 trimethylation at constitutive heterochromatin. Genes Dev. *18*, 1251–1262.

Schübeler, D. (2015). Function and information content of DNA methylation. Nature 517, 321-326. .

Schultz, D.C., Ayyanathan, K., Negorev, D., Maul, G.G., and Rauscher, F.J., 3rd (2002). SETDB1: a novel KAP-1-associated histone H3, lysine 9-specific methyltransferase that contributes to HP1-mediated silencing of euchromatic genes by KRAB zinc-finger proteins. Genes Dev. *16*, 919–932.

Schutsky, E.K., DeNizio, J.E., Hu, P., Liu, M.Y., Nabel, C.S., Fabyanic, E.B., Hwang, Y., Bushman,

F.D., Wu, H., and Kohli, R.M. (2018). Nondestructive, base-resolution sequencing of 5hydroxymethylcytosine using a DNA deaminase. Nat. Biotechnol. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.4204.

Schwartz, S. (2016). Cracking the epitranscriptome. RNA 22, 169-174. .

Seisenberger, S., Andrews, S., Krueger, F., Arand, J., Walter, J., Santos, F., Popp, C., Thienpont, B., Dean, W., and Reik, W. (2012). The dynamics of genome-wide DNA methylation reprogramming in mouse primordial germ cells. Mol. Cell *48*, 849–862.

Shan, Q., Wang, Y., Li, J., and Gao, C. (2014). Genome editing in rice and wheat using the CRISPR/Cas system. Nat. Protoc. *9*, 2395–2410.

Sharif, J., Muto, M., Takebayashi, S.-I., Suetake, I., Iwamatsu, A., Endo, T.A., Shinga, J., Mizutani-Koseki, Y., Toyoda, T., Okamura, K., et al. (2007). The SRA protein Np95 mediates epigenetic inheritance by recruiting Dnmt1 to methylated DNA. Nature *450*, 908–912.

Sharif, J., Endo, T.A., Nakayama, M., Karimi, M.M., Shimada, M., Katsuyama, K., Goyal, P., Brind'Amour, J., Sun, M.-A., Sun, Z., et al. (2016). Activation of Endogenous Retroviruses in Dnmt1(-/-) ESCs Involves Disruption of SETDB1-Mediated Repression by NP95 Binding to Hemimethylated DNA. Cell Stem Cell *19*, 81–94.

Shen, X., Liu, Y., Hsu, Y.-J., Fujiwara, Y., Kim, J., Mao, X., Yuan, G.-C., and Orkin, S.H. (2008). EZH1 mediates methylation on histone H3 lysine 27 and complements EZH2 in maintaining stem cell identity and executing pluripotency. Mol. Cell *32*, 491–502.

Shimatani, Z., Kashojiya, S., Takayama, M., Terada, R., Arazoe, T., Ishii, H., Teramura, H., Yamamoto, T., Komatsu, H., Miura, K., et al. (2017). Targeted base editing in rice and tomato using a CRISPR-Cas9 cytidine deaminase fusion. Nat. Biotechnol. *35*, 441–443.

Silverstein, R.A., and Ekwall, K. (2005). Sin3: a flexible regulator of global gene expression and genome stability. Curr. Genet. *47*, 1–17. .

Simpson, V.J., Johnson, T.E., and Hammen, R.F. (1986a). Caenorhabditis elegansDNA does not contain 5-methylcytosine at any time during development or aging. Nucleic Acids Research *14*, 6711–6719. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/14.16.6711.

Simpson, V.J., Johnson, T.E., and Hammen, R.F. (1986b). *Caenorhabditis elegans*DNA does not contain 5-methylcytosine at any time during development or aging. Nucleic Acids Research *14*, 6711–6719. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/14.16.6711.

Skvortsova, K., Iovino, N., and Bogdanović, O. (2018). Functions and mechanisms of epigenetic inheritance in animals. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. *19*, 774–790.

Sloan, K.E., Warda, A.S., Sharma, S., Entian, K.-D., Lafontaine, D.L.J., and Bohnsack, M.T. (2017). Tuning the ribosome: The influence of rRNA modification on eukaryotic ribosome biogenesis and function. RNA Biol. *14*, 1138–1152.

Smallwood, S.A., Tomizawa, S.-I., Krueger, F., Ruf, N., Carli, N., Segonds-Pichon, A., Sato, S., Hata, K., Andrews, S.R., and Kelsey, G. (2011). Dynamic CpG island methylation landscape in oocytes and preimplantation embryos. Nat. Genet. *43*, 811–814.

Smallwood, S.A., Lee, H.J., Angermueller, C., Krueger, F., Saadeh, H., Peat, J., Andrews, S.R., Stegle, O., Reik, W., and Kelsey, G. (2014). Single-cell genome-wide bisulfite sequencing for assessing epigenetic heterogeneity. Nat. Methods *11*, 817–820. .

Smith, J., Grizot, S., Arnould, S., Duclert, A., Epinat, J.-C., Chames, P., Prieto, J., Redondo, P.,

Blanco, F.J., Bravo, J., et al. (2006). A combinatorial approach to create artificial homing endonucleases cleaving chosen sequences. Nucleic Acids Res. *34*, e149. .

Smith, Z.D., Chan, M.M., Mikkelsen, T.S., Gu, H., Gnirke, A., Regev, A., and Meissner, A. (2012). A unique regulatory phase of DNA methylation in the early mammalian embryo. Nature *484*, 339–344.

Song, C.-X., Szulwach, K.E., Fu, Y., Dai, Q., Yi, C., Li, X., Li, Y., Chen, C.-H., Zhang, W., Jian, X., et al. (2011). Selective chemical labeling reveals the genome-wide distribution of 5-hydroxymethylcytosine. Nat. Biotechnol. *29*, 68–72.

Sood, A.J., Viner, C., and Hoffman, M.M. (2019). DNAmod: the DNA modification database. J. Cheminform. *11*, 30. .

Spada, F., Haemmer, A., Kuch, D., Rothbauer, U., Schermelleh, L., Kremmer, E., Carell, T., Längst, G., and Leonhardt, H. (2007). DNMT1 but not its interaction with the replication machinery is required for maintenance of DNA methylation in human cells. Journal of Cell Biology *176*, 565–571. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200610062.

Spruijt, C.G., Gnerlich, F., Smits, A.H., Pfaffeneder, T., Jansen, P.W.T.C., Bauer, C., Münzel, M., Wagner, M., Müller, M., Khan, F., et al. (2013). Dynamic readers for 5-(hydroxy)methylcytosine and its oxidized derivatives. Cell *152*, 1146–1159.

Strahl, B.D., and Allis, C.D. (2000). The language of covalent histone modifications. Nature 403, 41–45. .

Stuart, T., and Satija, R. (2019). Integrative single-cell analysis. Nat. Rev. Genet. 20, 257-272. .

Sturtevant, A.H. (1913). The linear arrangement of six sex-linked factors in Drosophila, as shown by their mode of association. Journal of Experimental Zoology *14*, 43–59. https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.1400140104.

Su, R., Dong, L., Li, C., Nachtergaele, S., Wunderlich, M., Qing, Y., Deng, X., Wang, Y., Weng, X., Hu, C., et al. (2018). R-2HG Exhibits Anti-tumor Activity by Targeting FTO/mA/MYC/CEBPA Signaling. Cell *17*2, 90–105.e23.

Sun, S., Chen, L., Wang, Y., Wang, J., Li, N., and Wang, X. (2020). Further delineation of autosomal recessive intellectual disability syndrome caused by homozygous variant of the NSUN2 gene in a chinese pedigree. Mol Genet Genomic Med *8*, e1518.

Sun, Z., Dai, N., Borgaro, J.G., Quimby, A., Sun, D., Corrêa, I.R., Jr, Zheng, Y., Zhu, Z., and Guan, S. (2015). A sensitive approach to map genome-wide 5-hydroxymethylcytosine and 5-formylcytosine at single-base resolution. Mol. Cell *57*, 750–761.

Supek, F., Lehner, B., Hajkova, P., and Warnecke, T. (2014). Hydroxymethylated Cytosines Are Associated with Elevated C to G Transversion Rates. PLoS Genetics *10*, e1004585. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1004585.

Suzuki, M.M., and Bird, A. (2008). DNA methylation landscapes: provocative insights from epigenomics. Nat. Rev. Genet. *9*, 465–476. .

Svoboda, P., Stein, P., Anger, M., Bernstein, E., Hannon, G.J., and Schultz, R.M. (2004). RNAi and expression of retrotransposons MuERV-L and IAP in preimplantation mouse embryos. Dev. Biol. *269*, 276–285.

Szulwach, K.E., Li, X., Li, Y., Song, C.-X., Wu, H., Dai, Q., Irier, H., Upadhyay, A.K., Gearing, M., Levey, A.I., et al. (2011). 5-hmC-mediated epigenetic dynamics during postnatal neurodevelopment

and aging. Nat. Neurosci. 14, 1607-1616. .

Szwagierczak, A., Bultmann, S., Schmidt, C.S., Spada, F., and Leonhardt, H. (2010). Sensitive enzymatic quantification of 5-hydroxymethylcytosine in genomic DNA. Nucleic Acids Res. *38*, e181–e181. .

Tabebordbar, M., Zhu, K., Cheng, J.K.W., Chew, W.L., Widrick, J.J., Yan, W.X., Maesner, C., Wu, E.Y., Xiao, R., Ran, F.A., et al. (2016). In vivo gene editing in dystrophic mouse muscle and muscle stem cells. Science *351*, 407–411.

Tachibana, M. (2002). G9a histone methyltransferase plays a dominant role in euchromatic histone H3 lysine 9 methylation and is essential for early embryogenesis. Genes & Development *16*, 1779–1791. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.989402.

Tachibana, M., Ueda, J., Fukuda, M., Takeda, N., Ohta, T., Iwanari, H., Sakihama, T., Kodama, T., Hamakubo, T., and Shinkai, Y. (2005). Histone methyltransferases G9a and GLP form heteromeric complexes and are both crucial for methylation of euchromatin at H3-K9. Genes Dev. *19*, 815–826.

Tahiliani, M., Koh, K.P., Shen, Y., Pastor, W.A., Bandukwala, H., Brudno, Y., Agarwal, S., Iyer, L.M., Liu, D.R., Aravind, L., et al. (2009). Conversion of 5-methylcytosine to 5-hydroxymethylcytosine in mammalian DNA by MLL partner TET1. Science *324*, 930–935.

Takebayashi, S.-I., Tamura, T., Matsuoka, C., and Okano, M. (2007). Major and Essential Role for the DNA Methylation Mark in Mouse Embryogenesis and Stable Association of DNMT1 with Newly Replicated Regions. Molecular and Cellular Biology *27*, 8243–8258. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.00899-07.

Tan, X., Xu, X., Elkenani, M., Smorag, L., Zechner, U., Nolte, J., Engel, W., and Pantakani, D.V.K. (2013). Zfp819, a novel KRAB-zinc finger protein, interacts with KAP1 and functions in genomic integrity maintenance of mouse embryonic stem cells. Stem Cell Res. *11*, 1045–1059.

Terns, M.P., and Terns, R.M. (2011). CRISPR-based adaptive immune systems. Curr. Opin. Microbiol. *14*, 321–327. .

Thakore, P.I., D'Ippolito, A.M., Song, L., Safi, A., Shivakumar, N.K., Kabadi, A.M., Reddy, T.E., Crawford, G.E., and Gersbach, C.A. (2015). Highly specific epigenome editing by CRISPR-Cas9 repressors for silencing of distal regulatory elements. Nat. Methods *12*, 1143–1149.

Thiele, W., Novac, N., Mink, S., Schreiber, C., Plaumann, D., Fritzmann, J., Cremers, N., Rothley, M., Schwager, C., Regiert, T., et al. (2011). Discovery of a novel tumour metastasis-promoting gene, NVM-1. J. Pathol. *225*, 96–105.

Thompson, M.K., Rojas-Duran, M.F., Gangaramani, P., and Gilbert, W.V. (2016). The ribosomal protein Asc1/RACK1 is required for efficient translation of short mRNAs. Elife *5*. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.11154.

Tirosh, I., Izar, B., Prakadan, S.M., Wadsworth, M.H., 2nd, Treacy, D., Trombetta, J.J., Rotem, A., Rodman, C., Lian, C., Murphy, G., et al. (2016). Dissecting the multicellular ecosystem of metastatic melanoma by single-cell RNA-seq. Science *352*, 189–196.

Tomkova, M., and Schuster-Böckler, B. (2018). DNA Modifications: Naturally More Error Prone? Trends Genet. *34*, 627–638.

Tran, R.K., Henikoff, J.G., Zilberman, D., Ditt, R.F., Jacobsen, S.E., and Henikoff, S. (2005). DNA Methylation Profiling Identifies CG Methylation Clusters in Arabidopsis Genes. Current Biology *15*, 154–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2005.01.008.

van Tran, N., Ernst, F.G.M., Hawley, B.R., Zorbas, C., Ulryck, N., Hackert, P., Bohnsack, K.E., Bohnsack, M.T., Jaffrey, S.R., Graille, M., et al. (2019). The human 18S rRNA m6A methyltransferase METTL5 is stabilized by TRMT112. Nucleic Acids Res. *47*, 7719–7733.

Tsagaratou, A., Äijö, T., Lio, C.-W.J., Yue, X., Huang, Y., Jacobsen, S.E., Lähdesmäki, H., and Rao, A. (2014). Dissecting the dynamic changes of 5-hydroxymethylcytosine in T-cell development and differentiation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *111*, E3306–E3315.

Tsai, Y.-P., Chen, H.-F., Chen, S.-Y., Cheng, W.-C., Wang, H.-W., Shen, Z.-J., Song, C., Teng, S.-C., He, C., and Wu, K.-J. (2014). TET1 regulates hypoxia-induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition by acting as a co-activator. Genome Biol. *15*, 513.

Tsukada, Y.-I., Akiyama, T., and Nakayama, K.I. (2015). Maternal TET3 is dispensable for embryonic development but is required for neonatal growth. Sci. Rep. *5*, 15876.

Tubbs, A., and Nussenzweig, A. (2017). Endogenous DNA Damage as a Source of Genomic Instability in Cancer. Cell *168*, 644–656. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.01.002.

Urieli-Shoval, S., Gruenbaum, Y., Sedat, J., and Razin, A. (1982). The absence of detectable methylated bases in Drosophila melanogaster DNA. FEBS Lett. *146*, 148–152. .

Urnov, F.D., Miller, J.C., Lee, Y.-L., Beausejour, C.M., Rock, J.M., Augustus, S., Jamieson, A.C., Porteus, M.H., Gregory, P.D., and Holmes, M.C. (2005). Highly efficient endogenous human gene correction using designed zinc-finger nucleases. Nature *435*, 646–651.

Vella, P., Scelfo, A., Jammula, S., Chiacchiera, F., Williams, K., Cuomo, A., Roberto, A., Christensen, J., Bonaldi, T., Helin, K., et al. (2013). Tet proteins connect the O-linked N-acetylglucosamine transferase Ogt to chromatin in embryonic stem cells. Mol. Cell *49*, 645–656.

Venteicher, A.S., Tirosh, I., Hebert, C., Yizhak, K., Neftel, C., Filbin, M.G., Hovestadt, V., Escalante, L.E., Shaw, M.L., Rodman, C., et al. (2017). Decoupling genetics, lineages, and microenvironment in IDH-mutant gliomas by single-cell RNA-seq. Science *355*. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aai8478.

Villivalam, S.D., You, D., Kim, J., Lim, H.W., Xiao, H., Zushin, P.-J.H., Oguri, Y., Amin, P., and Kang, S. (2020). TET1 is a beige adipocyte-selective epigenetic suppressor of thermogenesis. Nature Communications *11*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-18054-y.

von Meyenn, F., von Meyenn, F., Iurlaro, M., Habibi, E., Liu, N.Q., Salehzadeh-Yazdi, A., Santos, F., Petrini, E., Milagre, I., Yu, M., et al. (2016). Impairment of DNA Methylation Maintenance Is the Main Cause of Global Demethylation in Naive Embryonic Stem Cells. Molecular Cell *6*2, 983. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2016.06.005.

Waddington, C.H. (1957). The Strategy of the Genes, a Discussion of Some Aspects of Theoretical Biology, by C. H. Waddington,... With an Appendix [Some Physico-chemical Aspects of Biological Organisation] by H. Kacser,..

Waddington, C.H. (2012). The epigenotype. 1942. Int. J. Epidemiol. 41, 10-13. .

Walsh, C.P., Chaillet, J.R., and Bestor, T.H. (1998). Transcription of IAP endogenous retroviruses is constrained by cytosine methylation. Nat. Genet. *20*, 116–117. .

Wang, L., Zhang, J., Duan, J., Gao, X., Zhu, W., Lu, X., Yang, L., Zhang, J., Li, G., Ci, W., et al. (2014a). Programming and inheritance of parental DNA methylomes in mammals. Cell *157*, 979–991.

Wang, T., Pan, Q., Lin, L., Szulwach, K.E., Song, C.-X., He, C., Wu, H., Warren, S.T., Jin, P., Duan,

R., et al. (2012). Genome-wide DNA hydroxymethylation changes are associated with neurodevelopmental genes in the developing human cerebellum. Hum. Mol. Genet. *21*, 5500–5510. .

Wang, X., Lu, Z., Gomez, A., Hon, G.C., Yue, Y., Han, D., Fu, Y., Parisien, M., Dai, Q., Jia, G., et al. (2014b). N6-methyladenosine-dependent regulation of messenger RNA stability. Nature *505*, 117–120.

Wang, X., Zhao, B.S., Roundtree, I.A., Lu, Z., Han, D., Ma, H., Weng, X., Chen, K., Shi, H., and He, C. (2015). N(6)-methyladenosine Modulates Messenger RNA Translation Efficiency. Cell *161*, 1388–1399.

Wang, Y., Li, Y., Toth, J.I., Petroski, M.D., Zhang, Z., and Zhao, J.C. (2014c). N6-methyladenosine modification destabilizes developmental regulators in embryonic stem cells. Nat. Cell Biol. *16*, 191–198.

Watanabe, T., Totoki, Y., Toyoda, A., Kaneda, M., Kuramochi-Miyagawa, S., Obata, Y., Chiba, H., Kohara, Y., Kono, T., Nakano, T., et al. (2008). Endogenous siRNAs from naturally formed dsRNAs regulate transcripts in mouse oocytes. Nature *453*, 539–543.

Waterborg, J.H. (2002). Dynamics of histone acetylation in vivo. A function for acetylation turnover? Biochem. Cell Biol. *80*, 363–378.

Wei, C.M., Gershowitz, A., and Moss, B. (1975). Methylated nucleotides block 5' terminus of HeLa cell messenger RNA. Cell *4*, 379–386.

Wei, J., Yu, X., Yang, L., Liu, X., Gao, B., Huang, B., Dou, X., Liu, J., Zou, Z., Cui, X.-L., et al. (2022). FTO mediates LINE1 mA demethylation and chromatin regulation in mESCs and mouse development. Science *376*, 968–973.

Wei, T., Chen, W., Wang, X., Zhang, M., Chen, J., Zhu, S., Chen, L., Yang, D., Wang, G., Jia, W., et al. (2015). An HDAC2-TET1 switch at distinct chromatin regions significantly promotes the maturation of pre-iPS to iPS cells. Nucleic Acids Res. *43*, 5409–5422.

Werner, A. (2013). Biological functions of natural antisense transcripts. BMC Biology *11*. https://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7007-11-31.

Wescoe, Z.L., Schreiber, J., and Akeson, M. (2014). Nanopores discriminate among five C5-cytosine variants in DNA. J. Am. Chem. Soc. *136*, 16582–16587.

Wiedenheft, B., Sternberg, S.H., and Doudna, J.A. (2012). RNA-guided genetic silencing systems in bacteria and archaea. Nature *48*2, 331–338.

Wiener, D., and Schwartz, S. (2021). The epitranscriptome beyond m6A. Nature Reviews Genetics 22, 119–131. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41576-020-00295-8.

Williams, K., Christensen, J., Pedersen, M.T., Johansen, J.V., Cloos, P.A.C., Rappsilber, J., and Helin, K. (2011). TET1 and hydroxymethylcytosine in transcription and DNA methylation fidelity. Nature *473*, 343–348.

Wolf, D., and Goff, S.P. (2009). Embryonic stem cells use ZFP809 to silence retroviral DNAs. Nature 458, 1201–1204.

Wolf, G., Yang, P., Füchtbauer, A.C., Füchtbauer, E.-M., Silva, A.M., Park, C., Wu, W., Nielsen, A.L., Pedersen, F.S., and Macfarlan, T.S. (2015). The KRAB zinc finger protein ZFP809 is required to initiate epigenetic silencing of endogenous retroviruses. Genes & Development *29*, 538–554. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.252767.114. Wolf, G., de Iaco, A., Sun, M.-A., Bruno, M., Tinkham, M., Hoang, D., Mitra, A., Ralls, S., Trono, D., and Macfarlan, T.S. (2020). KRAB-zinc finger protein gene expansion in response to active retrotransposons in the murine lineage. Elife *9*. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.56337.

Wong, J.M., and Eirin-Lopez, J.M. (2021). Evolution of Methyltransferase-Like (METTL) Proteins in Metazoa: A Complex Gene Family Involved in Epitranscriptomic Regulation and Other Epigenetic Processes. Mol. Biol. Evol. *38*, 5309–5327.

Woodcock, C.L.F., Safer, J.P., and Stanchfield, J.E. (1976). Structural repeating units in chromatin. Experimental Cell Research *97*, 101–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-4827(76)90659-5.

Wossidlo, M., Nakamura, T., Lepikhov, K., Marques, C.J., Zakhartchenko, V., Boiani, M., Arand, J., Nakano, T., Reik, W., and Walter, J. (2011). 5-Hydroxymethylcytosine in the mammalian zygote is linked with epigenetic reprogramming. Nat. Commun. 2, 241.

Wu, H., and Zhang, Y. (2014). Reversing DNA methylation: mechanisms, genomics, and biological functions. Cell *156*, 45–68.

Wu, H., and Zhang, Y. (2015). Charting oxidized methylcytosines at base resolution. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 22, 656–661.

Wu, X., and Zhang, Y. (2017). TET-mediated active DNA demethylation: mechanism, function and beyond. Nat. Rev. Genet. *18*, 517–534.

Wu, H., D'Alessio, A.C., Ito, S., Xia, K., Wang, Z., Cui, K., Zhao, K., Sun, Y.E., and Zhang, Y. (2011). Dual functions of Tet1 in transcriptional regulation in mouse embryonic stem cells. Nature *473*, 389–393.

Wu, H., Wu, X., Shen, L., and Zhang, Y. (2014). Single-base resolution analysis of active DNA demethylation using methylase-assisted bisulfite sequencing. Nat. Biotechnol. *32*, 1231–1240.

Wu, H., Wu, X., and Zhang, Y. (2016). Base-resolution profiling of active DNA demethylation using MAB-seq and caMAB-seq. Nat. Protoc. *11*, 1081–1100. .

Wu, X., Zhang, H., Zhang, B., Zhang, Y., Wang, Q., Shen, W., Wu, X., Li, L., Xia, W., Nakamura, R., et al. Methylome inheritance and enhancer dememorization reset an epigenetic gate safeguarding embryonic programs. https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.10.10.463758.

Xing, M., Liu, Q., Mao, C., Zeng, H., Zhang, X., Zhao, S., Chen, L., Liu, M., Shen, B., Guo, X., et al. (2020). The 18S rRNA m A methyltransferase METTL5 promotes mouse embryonic stem cell differentiation. EMBO Rep. *21*, e49863.

Xing, X.-W., Liu, Y.-L., Vargas, M., Wang, Y., Feng, Y.-Q., Zhou, X., and Yuan, B.-F. (2013). Mutagenic and cytotoxic properties of oxidation products of 5-methylcytosine revealed by next-generation sequencing. PLoS One *8*, e72993.

Xiong, J., Zhang, Z., Chen, J., Huang, H., Xu, Y., Ding, X., Zheng, Y., Nishinakamura, R., Xu, G.-L., Wang, H., et al. (2016). Cooperative Action between SALL4A and TET Proteins in Stepwise Oxidation of 5-Methylcytosine. Mol. Cell *64*, 913–925.

Xu, L., Liu, X., Sheng, N., Oo, K.S., Liang, J., Chionh, Y.H., Xu, J., Ye, F., Gao, Y.-G., Dedon, P.C., et al. (2017). Three distinct 3-methylcytidine (m3C) methyltransferases modify tRNA and mRNA in mice and humans. Journal of Biological Chemistry *292*, 14695–14703. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.m117.798298.

Xu, W., Li, J., He, C., Wen, J., Ma, H., Rong, B., Diao, J., Wang, L., Wang, J., Wu, F., et al. (2021).

METTL3 regulates heterochromatin in mouse embryonic stem cells. Nature 591, 317-321. .

Xu, Y., Xu, C., Kato, A., Tempel, W., Abreu, J.G., Bian, C., Hu, Y., Hu, D., Zhao, B., Cerovina, T., et al. (2012). Tet3 CXXC domain and dioxygenase activity cooperatively regulate key genes for Xenopus eye and neural development. Cell *151*, 1200–1213.

Yamagata, Y., Szabó, P., Szüts, D., Bacquet, C., Arànyi, T., and Páldi, A. (2012). Rapid turnover of DNA methylation in human cells. Epigenetics 7, 141–145.

Yamaguchi, S., Hong, K., Liu, R., Shen, L., Inoue, A., Diep, D., Zhang, K., and Zhang, Y. (2012). Tet1 controls meiosis by regulating meiotic gene expression. Nature *492*, 443–447.

Yang, N., and Kazazian, H.H., Jr (2006). L1 retrotransposition is suppressed by endogenously encoded small interfering RNAs in human cultured cells. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. *13*, 763–771.

Yang, J., Liu, K., Yang, J., Jin, B., Chen, H., Zhan, X., Li, Z., Wang, L., Shen, X., Li, M., et al. (2017). PIM1 induces cellular senescence through phosphorylation of UHRF1 at Ser311. Oncogene *36*, 4828–4842.

Yoder, J.A., Walsh, C.P., and Bestor, T.H. (1997). Cytosine methylation and the ecology of intragenomic parasites. Trends Genet. *13*, 335–340.

Young, C.S., Hicks, M.R., Ermolova, N.V., Nakano, H., Jan, M., Younesi, S., Karumbayaram, S., Kumagai-Cresse, C., Wang, D., Zack, J.A., et al. (2016). A Single CRISPR-Cas9 Deletion Strategy that Targets the Majority of DMD Patients Restores Dystrophin Function in hiPSC-Derived Muscle Cells. Cell Stem Cell *18*, 533–540.

Yu, H., Su, Y., Shin, J., Zhong, C., Guo, J.U., Weng, Y.-L., Gao, F., Geschwind, D.H., Coppola, G., Ming, G.-L., et al. (2015). Tet3 regulates synaptic transmission and homeostatic plasticity via DNA oxidation and repair. Nat. Neurosci. *18*, 836–843.

Yu, W., Mookherjee, S., Chaitankar, V., Hiriyanna, S., Kim, J.-W., Brooks, M., Ataeijannati, Y., Sun, X., Dong, L., Li, T., et al. (2017). Nrl knockdown by AAV-delivered CRISPR/Cas9 prevents retinal degeneration in mice. Nat. Commun. *8*, 14716.

Zemach, A., McDaniel, I.E., Silva, P., and Zilberman, D. (2010). Genome-wide evolutionary analysis of eukaryotic DNA methylation. Science *328*, 916–919.

Zeng, H., He, B., and Yi, C. (2019). Compilation of Modern Technologies To Map Genome-Wide Cytosine Modifications in DNA. Chembiochem *20*, 1898–1905.

Zhang, H., Liu, H., Chen, Y., Yang, X., Wang, P., Liu, T., Deng, M., Qin, B., Correia, C., Lee, S., et al. (2016a). A cell cycle-dependent BRCA1-UHRF1 cascade regulates DNA double-strand break repair pathway choice. Nat. Commun. *7*, 10201.

Zhang, H., Gao, Q., Tan, S., You, J., Lyu, C., Zhang, Y., Han, M., Chen, Z., Li, J., Wang, H., et al. (2019). SET8 prevents excessive DNA methylation by methylation-mediated degradation of UHRF1 and DNMT1. Nucleic Acids Res. *47*, 9053–9068.

Zhang, P., Rausch, C., Hastert, F.D., Boneva, B., Filatova, A., Patil, S.J., Nuber, U.A., Gao, Y., Zhao, X., and Cardoso, M.C. (2017). Methyl-CpG binding domain protein 1 regulates localization and activity of Tet1 in a CXXC3 domain-dependent manner. Nucleic Acids Res. *45*, 7118–7136.

Zhang, Q., Zhao, K., Shen, Q., Han, Y., Gu, Y., Li, X., Zhao, D., Liu, Y., Wang, C., Zhang, X., et al. (2015). Tet2 is required to resolve inflammation by recruiting Hdac2 to specifically repress IL-6. Nature *525*, 389–393.

Zhang, R.-R., Cui, Q.-Y., Murai, K., Lim, Y.C., Smith, Z.D., Jin, S., Ye, P., Rosa, L., Lee, Y.K., Wu, H.-P., et al. (2013). Tet1 regulates adult hippocampal neurogenesis and cognition. Cell Stem Cell *13*, 237–245.

Zhang, W., Xia, W., Wang, Q., Towers, A.J., Chen, J., Gao, R., Zhang, Y., Yen, C.-A., Lee, A.Y., Li, Y., et al. (2016b). Isoform Switch of TET1 Regulates DNA Demethylation and Mouse Development. Mol. Cell *64*, 1062–1073.

Zhang, Y., Jurkowska, R., Soeroes, S., Rajavelu, A., Dhayalan, A., Bock, I., Rathert, P., Brandt, O., Reinhardt, R., Fischle, W., et al. (2010). Chromatin methylation activity of Dnmt3a and Dnmt3a/3L is guided by interaction of the ADD domain with the histone H3 tail. Nucleic Acids Research *38*, 4246–4253. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkq147.

Zheng, C., Zheng, L., Yoo, J.-K., Guo, H., Zhang, Y., Guo, X., Kang, B., Hu, R., Huang, J.Y., Zhang, Q., et al. (2017). Landscape of Infiltrating T Cells in Liver Cancer Revealed by Single-Cell Sequencing. Cell *169*, 1342–1356.e16.

Zheng, G., Dahl, J.A., Niu, Y., Fedorcsak, P., Huang, C.-M., Li, C.J., Vågbø, C.B., Shi, Y., Wang, W.-L., Song, S.-H., et al. (2013). ALKBH5 is a mammalian RNA demethylase that impacts RNA metabolism and mouse fertility. Mol. Cell *49*, 18–29.

Zhong, J., Li, X., Cai, W., Wang, Y., Dong, S., Yang, J., Zhang, J. 'an, Wu, N., Li, Y., Mao, F., et al. (2017). TET1 modulates H4K16 acetylation by controlling auto-acetylation of hMOF to affect gene regulation and DNA repair function. Nucleic Acids Res. *45*, 672–684.

Zhong, S., Li, H., Bodi, Z., Button, J., Vespa, L., Herzog, M., and Fray, R.G. (2008). MTA is an Arabidopsis messenger RNA adenosine methylase and interacts with a homolog of a sex-specific splicing factor. Plant Cell *20*, 1278–1288.

Zhu, J.-K. (2009). Active DNA demethylation mediated by DNA glycosylases. Annu. Rev. Genet. 43, 143–166.

Zhu, C., Gao, Y., Guo, H., Xia, B., Song, J., Wu, X., Zeng, H., Kee, K., Tang, F., and Yi, C. (2017). Single-Cell 5-Formylcytosine Landscapes of Mammalian Early Embryos and ESCs at Single-Base Resolution. Cell Stem Cell *20*, 720–731.e5.

Zhu, F., Zhu, Q., Ye, D., Zhang, Q., Yang, Y., Guo, X., Liu, Z., Jiapaer, Z., Wan, X., Wang, G., et al. (2018a). Sin3a-Tet1 interaction activates gene transcription and is required for embryonic stem cell pluripotency. Nucleic Acids Res. *46*, 6026–6040.

Zhu, Q., Stöger, R., and Alberio, R. (2018b). A Lexicon of DNA Modifications: Their Roles in Embryo Development and the Germline. Front Cell Dev Biol *6*, 24.

Zhu, T., Roundtree, I.A., Wang, P., Wang, X., Wang, L., Sun, C., Tian, Y., Li, J., He, C., and Xu, Y. (2014). Crystal structure of the YTH domain of YTHDF2 reveals mechanism for recognition of N6-methyladenosine. Cell Res. *24*, 1493–1496.

Zhu, X., Girardo, D., Govek, E.-E., John, K., Mellén, M., Tamayo, P., Mesirov, J.P., and Hatten, M.E. (2016). Role of Tet1/3 Genes and Chromatin Remodeling Genes in Cerebellar Circuit Formation. Neuron *89*, 100–112.

(2017). CRISPR-Based Technologies for the Manipulation of Eukaryotic Genomes. Cell 168, 20-36. .